



University of Groningen

Local neighbourhood tree species composition effects in young forest stands

Dillen, Mathias

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Publication date: 2017

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA):

Dillen, M. (2017). Local neighbourhood tree species composition effects in young forest stands: Impact of stress, species identity and multitrophic interactions. University of Groningen.

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

The publication may also be distributed here under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license. More information can be found on the University of Groningen website: https://www.rug.nl/library/open-access/self-archiving-pure/taverneamendment.

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.





Local neighbourhood tree species composition effects in young forest stands

Impact of stress, species identity and multitrophic interactions

PhD thesis

to obtain the degree of PhD at the University of Groningen on the authority of the Rector Magnificus Prof. E. Sterken and in accordance with the decision by the College of Deans.

and

to obtain the degree of PhD at Ghent University on the authority of the Rector Prof. A. De Paepe and in accordance with the decision by the Faculty Board.

Double PhD degree

This thesis will be defended in public on

Friday 29 September 2017 at 12.45 hours

by

Mathias Dillen

born on 16 June 1989 in Lier, België

Supervisors

Prof. C. Smit Prof. K. Verheyen

Assessment Committee

Prof. M.P. Berg Prof. B. Muys Prof. P. De Frenne Prof. M. Scherer-Lorenzen Dutch translation of the title: *Effecten van naburige boomsoortensamenstelling in jonge bosopstanden: impact van stress, soortidentiteit en multitrofe interacties*

Cover images:

Front, top: Side view of a phytometer plot in the FORBIO site of Zedelgem;

Front, bottom: Markings of larval ladybird mycophagy on a leaf of *Quercus robur* severely infected by oak powery mildew.

Back, top: On the left, mating *Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata* on an infected oak leaf. On the right, hatching ladybird eggs under microscope (picture Martijn Buyse).

Back, bottom: Side view of a mixed clone plot in the Short Rotation Coppice plantation in Zedelgem, containing the Swedish willow clones Klara and Gudrun.

Dillen, M. (2017) Local neighbourhood tree species composition effects in young forest stands: Impact of stress, species identity and multitrophic interactions. PhD Thesis. Ghent University, Belgium and University of Groningen, the Netherlands

ISBN 978-94-6357-023-7

The research was conducted through GELIFES, University of Groningen and ForNaLab, University of Ghent, and was funded by an Ubbo Emmius and an FWO grant. The author and the promotors give the authorization to consult and to copy parts of this work for personal use only. Every other use is subject to the copyright laws. Permission to reproduce any material contained in this work should be obtained from the author.

Acknowledgments

One does not simply finish a PhD. It is four years of fieldwork under the blistering race of the sun. It is four years of fieldwork growing accustomed to the pleas of mosquitoes and horseflies, unless fate finds you an unexpected, radar-stealthy torrent of rain. Four years of embracing the punctuality of the Belgian rail services. Four years of staring at computer screens, making sense out of excel guirks, R errors and organically grown Matlab script cities, while wishing pain and misfortune to many a software developer. Four years of trying to keep tabs on an inevitable caffeine addiction, from uplifting milestone to manic panic as the deadlines byte past. Four years of scrounging the scientific literature for thousands of interesting and (less) interesting papers from Abrahamson to Zvereva, et al. Four years of seemingly never-ending chaos and drama and tremendous amounts of fun. Four years of meeting talking working and, above all, having fun with awesome people from all over the biosphere (or should I already say anthroposphere?). Four years of unforgettable stories that will last a lifetime. Four years of stress and panic and suffering, yet still all so amusing in retrospect. One does not simply finish a PhD. One lives through it, a quest for knowledge and experience, while aided by wizards and rangers and rogues from all sorts of backgrounds. So many people who played a role.

Serieus nu. Zo veel mensen. De vraag is waar te beginnen. Natuurlijk zijn er twee personen zonder wie deze thesis nooit zou hebben of kunnen hebben bestaan. Professors Kris en Chris, die het concept hebben bedacht. Die me gidsten terwijl ik het ontwikkelde, onderzocht en uitvoerde. Die altijd openstonden voor vragen en problemen en raad, ook al was communicatie niet altijd mijn sterkste kant. Altijd bakens van constructief optimisme, terwijl alles naar de bodem getrokken leek te worden in een draaikolk van weer-eens-niet-volgens-plan-gegaan. Kris en Chris, ik kan me geen betere promotoren voor deze reis inbeelden.

Maar er is zelfs nog meer Kris. Kris en Filip, de beroemde *Ceunen Brothers*, die mee hebben gezweet en gebrand om een goede vier ton potten met eik in de zo lichte, steenarme en diepe bodems van Zedelgem, Gribelle en Gouverneurs te krijgen. Meer dan vijfduizend vijzen vast en losdraaien, meer dan tweeduizend bomen opmeten. In weer en wind, de woede van de zon en duizenden muggen, kruiwagentochten helling op en af, put in en uit. In de Gedinnerigheid met haar lorkendoolhoven, platte batterijen en varenslotgrachten gewapend met braam. Allemaal zo'n goeie herinneringen, want eender welke trip naar het veld was iets om naar uit te kijken wanneer jullie erbij waren.

En Elyn. Drie jaar in datzelfde kantoor, zeveren niet alleen over de laatste probleempjes met papers, materiaal, veldwerk en R, maar ook de laatste nieuwtjes van Game of Thrones, je paarden of de laatste D&D sessies. En natuurlijk ook uitvechten wie welke plek kreeg in misschien wel het dunstbevolkte maar ook dichtstbestaalde kantoortje van de hele blok. Ik mag ook handige Luc niet vergeten, die mee het prototype van de gootjes uitwerkte en jarenlang de drijvende kracht was achter het wiezen om drie uur. Lander en Evy die steeds klaarstonden voor raad bij statistische verwikkelingen. Greet, Margot, Christel, Pallieter, Sannes, Pieters en gewoon nog teveel namen om op te noemen. Zoveel verschillende mensen die daar in Gontrode samen werken, liters cafeïne verstokend, doch terwijl nog genoeg kunnen zeveren en plezier beleven. Ik wil ook nog zeker mijn thesisstudent Martijn bedanken voor zijn gedreven aanpak en doorzettingsvermogen zowel in het veld als in het labo.

A special shout-out to the international visitors I met in Gontrode over the years. It was a pleasure meeting, chatting and working with you, Mercedes, Sumitra, Shiyu, Francesco, Renato and Mike but above all Nuri, who went through the Gedinne experience just like me.

En natuurlijk mag ik mijn collega's in Groningen niet vergeten. Annelies, Georgette, Qingqing, Hacen, Ruth, Jelmer, Jeroen, Rienk, Ingeborg, Corine... jullie hebben me minder vaak gezien, maar dat betekent niet dat ik geen goede herinneringen over houd aan de tijden in de titanische Linnaeusborg. Altijd de warme sfeer aan de koffietafel, intense maar interessante discussies tijdens de lunchmeetings en natuurlijk het onvergetelijke labuitje met de volksspelen in Bourtange. Ook de mensen van het oud biologisch centrum in Haren wil ik bedanken voor de twee heel aangename weken dat ik daar mocht blijven.

Ten slotte en wellicht het belangrijkst nog zijn mijn vrienden en familie, zonder wiens steun dit nooit vol te houden was. Bovenal Wai Kit, voor legendarische tijden in Outpost Gent en tijdens de Gentse, Praagse en Parijse feesten. En Tom, die het doctoraatsfenomeen evenzeer van nabij meemaakte in goede en minder goede tijden, maar altijd zijn gevoel voor humor wist te behouden. Ook de andere mensen in Gent: Sacha, Sam, Jan en de mannen van Magic Club Gent, Tom, Loïc, Tist, Felix... Altijd goed om een uitlaatklep te hebben op donderdagavond en onvergetelijke tijden in Praag en Parijs. Daarbovenop Kristof, Frederik, Ronan, Irvin, Johan en alle anderen van de Antwerpse legacy scene voor jaren Magic plezier. Atan, Shone, Cedric en Arno voor de epische D&D campagne die nu bijna zijn zevende verjaardag mag vieren. Bedankt zeker ook Greet en Jan dat ik mijn laatste maanden in Gent bij jullie te gast mocht zijn.

En natuurlijk mijn ouders Benni en Monique, mijn broer Jens en zus Sarah, mijn schoonzus Sophie, Karl, bomma, moeke... Alles was toch een stuk aangenamer en draaglijker, omdat ik wist dat ik op mijn fantastische familie kon terugvallen. Zo ook tante Connie, bij wie ik altijd eens even in Lier refuge kon zoeken en die me het bridge leerde kennen (bedankt ook Marc om me het zo fantastisch aan te leren). En nonkel Danny, door wiens reislust ik Londen, Riga, Vilnius en Berlijn kon bezoeken.

Ongetwijfeld zijn er nog talloze fantastische mensen die ik vergeet te noemen. Dat is het ondankbare van een dankwoord: bij het schrijven ervan kan je niet anders dan je geheugen proberen uit te persen. Herbeleven van talloze momenten met talloze mensen. Maar wie weet hoeveel er in de grijze massa onbenoemd achterblijven. Al is dat natuurlijk niet waar het om gaat. Tijdens een doctoraat overvalt je het gevoel wel eens dat je er alleen voor lijkt te staan. Het is jouw project en je promotoren en begeleiders kunnen niet ten allen tijde ten volste klaar staan want ze hebben nog andere verplichtingen aan zichzelf en aan andere studenten. Het uitschrijven van een dankwoord zet dan in de verf hoe kort door de bocht dat wel niet is. One does not simply finish a Phd. Not alone, at least.

Samenvatting

In de laatste twee decennia werd in verscheidene ecosystemen een positieve relatie tussen biodiversiteit en het functioneren van ecosystemen geobserveerd. Aangezien verlies van biodiversiteit nu optreedt op globale schaal, zou dit kunnen impliceren dat dergelijke ecosysteemfuncties als productie van biomassa, nutriëntenretentie en fixeren van koolstof hierdoor negatief beïnvloed kunnen worden. Deze ecosysteemfuncties zijn vaak belangrijk voor de mens, aangezien ze gelieerd zijn aan ecosysteemdiensten waar afhankeliik van zijn. In het geval van soortenarme, beheerde mensen productiesystemen zoals in landbouw of plantagebosbouw, kan het bijmengen van verschillende soorten resulteren in grotere productiviteit of sterkere resiliëntie jegens extreme weerfenomenen of uitbraken van plagen en ziektes. Bossen zijn opmerkelijke ecosystemen in deze context, vanwege hun lange levensduur en complexiteit. Dit maakt hen moeilijker te bestuderen, maar ook potentieel gevoeliger voor enige interactie tussen verhoogde stress en verminderde diversiteit: in hun lange levens is het risico op het voorkomen van ernstige stressfenomenen groter en de capaciteit zich hieraan aan te passen kleiner. Positieve effecten van het mengen van boomsoorten zijn geobserveerd in verscheidene bosecosystemen en sterkere diversiteitseffecten werden bevonden onder strengere abiotische condities. Tegelijkertijd benadrukte de lagere densiteit van individu's en diversiteit van boomsoorten in gematigde bossen het belang van de identiteit van welke soorten aanwezig waren.

De interactie tussen compositie-effecten en stress is in het bijzonder belangrijk met oog op andere globale veranderingen die de biosfeer aantasten tegelijkertijd met biodiversiteitsverlies, zoals koolstofverrijking van de atmosfeer en de oceanen. Van deze veranderingen wordt verwacht dat ze het risico op extreme abiotische gebeurtenissen zoals droogtes verhogen alsook het optreden van biotische uitbraken, vaak door uitheemse soorten. Positieve interacties tussen verschillende soorten worden geacht frequenter of belangrijker te worden onder dergelijke stressvollere condities, een idee dat vaak de Stress Gradiënt Hypothese wordt genoemd (SGH) en deels door onderzoek ondersteund wordt. Dit suggereert dat de positieve relatie tussen biodiversiteit en het functioneren van ecosystemen nog belangrijker zou kunnen worden in de toekomst, wanneer het optreden en de intensiteit van stress in ecosystemen verwacht worden te zullen toenemen.

Op verschillende manieren heeft men reeds de studie aangepakt van de impact van verschillende boomsoortensamenstellingen en stress op het functioneren van bosecosystemen. Anders dan bij metingen in bestaande bossen hebben nieuw aangelegde experimentele plantages het voordeel dat ze vaag of niet gekende variabelen zoals vroeger landgebruik of –beheer vermijden en toelaten specifieke, interessante soortensamenstellingen na te gaan en te vergelijken. Ze zullen echter

enkel representatief zijn voor bestanden van gelijkaardige leeftijd, waardoor het decennia zal duren om zo informatie te verzamelen over de impact van verschillende samenstellingen op volwassen bos. Toch blijven ze representatief op korte termijn voor jongere bestanden en het is bekend dat vooral bij jongere bomen plagen en ziektes aanzienlijke schade kunnen veroorzaken door groeivermindering en sterfte. Dit maakt hen tot ideale svstemen om na te daan hoe het aanpassen van boomsoortensamenstelling biotische schade zou kunnen mitigeren.

Verschillende hypotheses trachten te verklaren hoe soortensamenstelling de impact van plagen en ziektes zou kunnen beïnvloeden. Verschillen in vatbaarheid voor sommige plagen tussen verschillende boomsoorten kan hun vermogen de gevoelige soorten te beschadigen verminderen, een mechanisme dat bekend staat als associationele weerstand onder de Grondstof Concentratie Hypothese. Ook kan een hogere boomsoortenrijkdom de activiteit van predators en parasitoïden beïnvloeden, door het aanbieden van alternatieve voedselbronnen en beschutting volgens de Natuurlijke Vijanden Hypothese. Jonge bomen zullen eveneens waarschijnlijker positieve effecten van beschaduwing door sneller groeiende buren ondervinden, een vaak bestudeerd geval van facilitatie in SGH onderzoek. De mechanismen die achter deze interacties tussen boomsoortencompositie, abiotische stress en multitrofe interacties met plagen en ziektes liggen blijven echter weinig bekend.

In deze thesis is het voornaamste onderzoeksdoel de effecten op groei van verschillende boomsoortensamenstellingen in jonge bosbestanden na te gaan, alsook of deze samenstellingseffecten gemoduleerd worden door stress zoals voorspeld door de Stress Gradiënt Hypothese. Ik wilde ook meer duidelijkheid scheppen over de mechanismen die achter deze effecten schuilen, specifiek de impact van plagen en/of ziektes en de rol van hun natuurlijke vijanden, maar ook het belang van beschaduwing, verschillen in biomassa allocatie en andere bestandskarakteristieken. Om deze doelen te halen, volgde ik drie jonge bosbestanden in België op: een Korte Omloophout plantage bestaande uit drie verschillende wilgenklonen en twee sites van het FORBIO project. Beide FORBIO sites bevatten vijf verschillende boomsoorten in plots bestaande uit één tot en met vier verschillende soorten. Om de Stress Gradiënt Hypothese te evalueren werden zaailingen van eik (Quercus robur en petraea) in potten geplant binnen de FORBIO sites en blootgesteld aan een gradiënt van verminderde regenval gedurende drie groeiseizoenen. Ten slotte werd een labo-experiment opgezet met eikenzaailingen, eikenmeeldauw (PM, veroorzaakt door Erysiphe sp.) en een obligaat mycofaag lieveheersbeestje (Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata) om meer inzicht te verkrijgen in deze weinig bekende multitrofe interactie en hoe ze beïnvloed werd door watercondities van de plant.

In de Korte Omloophoutplantage was de biomassaproductiviteit algemeen hoger in genetisch meer diverse plots, maar dit diversiteitseffect was statistisch niet significant.

Dit was deels te wijten aan een hoge, onverklaarde variabiliteit van de productiviteit, die niet duidelijk verbonden was aan klonale samenstelling, bodemkarakteristieken of bladoppervlaktetemperaturen. Desondanks waren voor die gemengde plots die wel meer opbrengst vertoonden, effecten van complementariteit algemeen sterker dan deze van selectie vanwege de aanwezigheid van een productievere kloon. Bestandskarakteristieken zoals de verdeling van biomassa tussen de stoven werden ook beïnvloed door de klonale samenstelling, met een minder gelijke verdeling in monoculturen van een minder productieve kloon. Ook al zou men dergelijk verschillen verwachten op basis van de verschillen in vitaliteit, kunnen deze nog steeds gevolgen hebben voor hoe deze systemen verder zullen functioneren, aangezien ze meer open plekken veroorzaken en mogelijk de kwaliteit van de te oogsten biomassa doen dalen.

In de FORBIO sites was er maar weinig effect van de regenvalverminderende gradiënt op relatieve groei of infecties door meeldauw, de meest voorkomende en schadelijke ziekte in beide sites. Dit was waarschijnlijk omdat de regenvalverminderende behandeling te weinig effect had op bodemvocht of omdat de behandeling gecompenseerd werd door water dat vanuit de bodem onderin de potten stroomde. Noch was er een effect van soortenrijkdom op relatieve groei. Voor de zaailingen die het minst regenwater kregen vond ik dat mycofagie door lieveheersbeestjes positief beïnvloed werd door boomsoortenrijkdom in de nabije omgeving, in Zedelgem in September 2014 tijdens een heel droge periode. Onder labo condities was mycofagie door lieveheersbeestjes op een gelijkaardige manier heel gevoelig aan veranderingen in watervoorziening voor de plant. Op een alsnog onbekende manier werd de kwetsbaarheid van de schimmel voor mycofagie door bewatering beïnvloed. Meeldauwinfecties werden op zich niet door bewatering beïnvloed. De hoge waardes voor mycofagie in mijn experimenten suggereren een potentieel voor biologische controle door deze lieveheersbeestjes, die vrij eenvoudig te kweken zijn. Er is nog echter onderzoek nodig naar daadwerkelijke impact van deze mycofagie op vitaliteit en groei van de plant.

Meeldauwinfecties waren erger in 2013 en 2015 in monoculturen in de abiotisch minder optimale site van Gedinne, ook al was de impact van meeldauw op groei hier eveneens minder. Boomsoortensamenstelling had behalve dit weinig impact op groei of meeldauw in deze site. In de rijkere site van Zedelgem had een Janzen-Connell effect van de aanwezigheid van eik zeer negatieve effecten op groei, gelieerd met ergere meeldauwinfecties. Gelijkaardige identiteitseffecten van de aanwezigheid van beuk en linde zorgden voor een hogere relatieve groei, waarschijnlijk vanwege minder competitie voor licht bij deze soorten op deze leeftijd. Een sterkere beschaduwing had aanzienlijk negatieve gevolgen voor groei in deze site. Contrasterend had meer beschaduwing initieel positieve effecten op groei in Gedinne. Beide sites verschilden in focale boomsoort (*Q. robur* in Zedelgem vs *Q. petraea* in Gedinne), maar in Gedinne

lagen de relatieve groeicijfers ook lager terwijl allocatie van biomassa naar de wortels en mortaliteit van de nabije FORBIO bomen veel hoger was. Dit suggereert dat verschillen in abiotische condities soortsamenstellingseffecten zouden kunnen modifiëren. In dit geval zouden ze hun belang verminderen, hoewel de verschillen tussen beide sites te veelvoudig zijn om hier een sterk besluit uit te trekken. Het belang van identiteitseffecten onder optimalere condities, vooral het Janzen-Connell effect, zou kunnen suggereren dat het individueel mengen van verschillende boomsoorten in nieuwe plantages voordelig is. Desondanks moet men zien te vermijden dat competitievere soorten of klonen anderen doen verdwijnen en de negatieve effecten van competitie voor licht te minimaliseren.

Summary

In the last two decades, a positive relationship between biodiversity and the functioning of ecosystems has been observed in various ecosystems. Considering biodiversity is being lost now at a global scale, this could imply that such ecosystem functions as production of biomass, nutrient retention and carbon fixation may be negatively impacted as a result. These ecosystem functions are often important to mankind, as they are linked to ecosystem services humans rely on. In the case of species-poor managed production systems such as in agriculture or plantation forestry, admixing of different species may result in greater productivity or greater resilience against extreme weather events or outbreaks of pests or diseases. Forests are notable ecosystems in this context, due to their longevity and complexity. This makes them more difficult to study, but also potentially more sensitive to any interaction between greater stress and reduced diversity: in their long lives, the risk of great spells of stress occurring is higher and the capacity for adaptation to them lower. Positive effects of mixing tree species have been observed in multiple forest ecosystems and stronger diversity effects were noted under harsher abiotic conditions. At the same time, the lower density of individuals and diversity of tree species in temperate forests emphasized the importance of the identity of which species were present.

The interaction between composition effects and stress is particularly important in the face of other global changes affecting the biosphere concurrent with biodiversity loss, such as carbon enrichment of atmosphere and ocean. These changes are expected to increase the risk of extreme abiotic events such as droughts and the occurrence of biotic outbreaks, often by nonnative species. Positive interactions between different species are expected to become more frequent or important under such more stressful conditions, a notion often called the Stress Gradient Hypothesis (SGH) and partially supported by past scientific research. This suggests that the positive relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning may become even more important in the future, when occurrence and intensity of stress in ecosystems are expected to increase.

Different approaches have been taken to study the impact of different tree species compositions and stress on forest ecosystem functioning. Unlike measurements in extant forests, newly established experimental plantations have the advantages of avoiding poorly known confounding variables such as past land use or management and allowing the assessment and comparison of specific species compositions of interest. However, they will only be representative for stands of similar age, so that it would take decades to collect information this way on the impact of different compositions in mature forests. Still, they are representative for young stands and it is known that in particular in younger trees, pests and pathogens can cause substantial

damage through reduced growth and mortality. This renders them ideal systems to assess how modifying tree species composition might mitigate biotic damage.

Different hypotheses attempt to explain how species composition might influence the impact of pests or pathogens. Differences in susceptibility to certain pests by different tree species may reduce their ability to damage susceptible ones, a mechanism known as associational resistance under the Resource Concentration Hypothesis. Increased richness of tree species may also impact the activity of predators and parasitoids, offering alternative food sources and shelter, under the Natural Enemies Hypothesis. Young trees are also more likely to enjoy positive effects from shading by faster growing neighbours, an often-studied instance of facilitation in SGH research. However, the mechanisms underlying these interactions between tree species composition, abiotic stress and multitrophic interactions with pests and pathogens are still poorly known.

In this thesis, the main research objective was to assess the effects on growth of different tree species compositions in young forest plantations and whether these composition effects were modulated by environmental stress as predicted by the Stress Gradient Hypothesis. I also wished to shed light on the mechanisms driving these composition effects, specifically the impact of pests and/or pathogens and the role of their natural enemies, but also the role of shading, biomass allocation and other stand dynamics. To address these objectives, I monitored three young forest stands in Belgium: a Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) plantation with three different willow clones and two sites from the FORBIO project, both containing five different tree species in plots consisting of one up to four different species. To evaluate the Stress Gradient Hypothesis, saplings of oak (Quercus robur and petraea) were planted in pots within the FORBIO sites and subjected to a gradient of reduced rainfall during three growing seasons. Finally, a laboratory experiment with oak saplings, oak powdery mildew (PM, Erysiphe sp.) and obligate mycophagous ladybirds (Psvllobora caused by vigintiduopunctata) was set up to gain more insight into this poorly known multitrophic interaction and how it was influenced by plant water conditions.

In the SRC plantation, biomass productivity was generally higher in more genetically diverse plots, but this diversity effect was not statistically significant. This was partially caused by high unexplained variability in productivity, not clearly linked to clonal composition, soil characteristics or leaf surface temperatures. Nevertheless, for these plots where overyielding compared to monocultures occurred, complementarity effects were generally stronger than selection effects of the presence of highly productive clones. Also, stand characteristics such as the distribution of biomass between stools were found to be affected by clonal composition, being more uneven in monocultures of a less productive clone. While such a difference could be expected based on differences in vitality, it might still have repercussions for the functioning of these systems, causing more gaps and possibly harvestable biomass of lower quality.

In the FORBIO sites, there was little effect of the reduced rainfall gradient on relative growth rates or PM infections, the most abundant and impactful pathogen in both sites. This was probably because the rainfall interception treatment had insufficient effect on soil moisture conditions or was compensated by water flowing from the soil below into the pots. Neither was there an effect of species richness on relative growth rates. For saplings receiving the least rainfall, ladybird mycophagy was found to be positively influenced by neighbourhood tree species richness when the weather was dry in Zedelgem in September 2014. Under laboratory conditions, ladybird mycophagy was found to be similarly sensitive to changes in water conditions, somehow increasing the vulnerability of the fungus to grazing by the ladybird. PM levels did not differ between different watering rates. High rates of mycophagy in my experiments suggest a potential for biological control of these ladybirds, which can be breed relatively easily, although the impact on plant vitality and growth remains to be investigated.

PM infection rates were higher in 2013 and 2015 in monocultures in the abiotically less favorable site of Gedinne, although the impact of PM on growth was lower here as well. Otherwise, tree species composition had little effect on growth or PM levels in this site. In the more favorable site of Zedelgem, a Janzen-Connell effect of oak presence associated with greater PM infectivity had strong negative effects on growth. Similar identity effects of beech and lime were associated with greater relative growth rates, probably due to reduced competition for light at this age. Greater levels of shading had substantial negative impacts on growth rates in this site. In contrast, greater shading had initially positive effects on growth in Gedinne. Both sites differed in focal tree species (Q. robur in Zedelgem vs Q. petraea in Gedinne), but in Gedinne growth rates were also lower, while biomass allocation to roots and mortality of the neighbouring trees was higher. This suggests differences in abiotic conditions may modify composition effects, in this case decreasing their impact, although the differences between both sites were too diverse to establish any strong claim. The importance of identity effects under more optimal conditions, in particular the Janzen-Connell effect, might suggest individual mixing of different tree species in new plantations to be beneficial. Still, care should be taken to avoid displacement by more competitive species or clones and to minimize the negative effects of competition for light.

List of abbreviations

BAI _r :	Relative Basal Area Increment
BEF:	Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning
EV:	Evenness of dry biomass per stool
FORBIO:	FORest BIOdiversity and Ecosystem Functioning
HI _r :	Relative Height Increment
LOX:	Lipoxygenase
MEA:	Millennium Ecosystem Assessment
MP:	Mycophagy
N:	Number of shoots
PCA:	Principal Components Analysis
PM:	Powdery Mildew
R:	Belowground dry woody biomass
S:	Number of stools
SGH:	Stress Gradient Hypothesis
SH:	Degree of shading
SLA:	Specific Leaf Area
SMC:	Soil Moisture Content
SP:	Species Presence
SR:	Species Richness
SRC:	Short Rotation Coppice
TBM:	Total dry woody biomass
TLA:	Total Leaf Area
UAV:	Unmanned Aerial Vehicle
VOC:	Volatile Organic Compound
W:	Aboveground dry woody biomass

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	.4
Samenvatting	.7
Summary	11
List of abbreviations	14
Table of Contents	15
Chapter 1: General introduction	16
Chapter 2: Productivity, stand dynamics and the selection effect in a mixed willow clon Short Rotation Coppice plantation	ie 28
Chapter 3: Identity rather than richness drives local neighbourhood species composition of the sapling growth in a young forest	on 47
Chapter 4: Stronger diversity effects with increased environmental stress: A study of multitrophic interactions between oak, powdery mildew and ladybirds	76
Chapter 5: Biology and breeding of <i>Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata</i> , a mycophagous ladybird	93
Chapter 6: How does neighbourhood tree species composition affect growth characteristics of oak saplings?	04
Chapter 7: Synthesis and conclusion1	21
References1	30
Curriculum Vitae1	51

Chapter 1: General introduction

1. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning

1.1. Background

During the last two decades, a considerable body of research brought about evidence of a positive relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (BEF) (Cardinale et al., 2012; Tilman et al., 2014). This may have important repercussions for the global trend of biodiversity loss that is currently underway (Barnosky et al., 2011; Ceballos et al., 2015), for it means that local disappearance of species may have a negative impact on ecosystem functions and the ecosystem services to man related to those functions (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005). Such negative impacts do not seem to be insignificant when compared to other global change drivers, such as climate change or acidification (Hooper et al., 2012; Tilman et al., 2012). Multiple possible mechanisms have been proposed and studied as explanations for the BEF relationship (Srivastava and Vellend, 2005). Different species may have different affinities for niches present in a system, meaning that their coexistence leads to a more efficient exploitation of the available resources - a mechanism often called niche complementarity (Liang et al., 2015). Morin et al. (2011) provide an example of how such a mechanism could operate in forest ecosystems, based on differences in shade tolerance and growth rate. Some species may also have a positive impact on the functioning of others (facilitation), for instance by ameliorating stressful growing conditions or diminishing the pressure of herbivores and pathogens (Callaway, 2007).

On the other hand, the inclusion of more species leads to a higher probability that a species with a very strong effect on ecosystem functioning is among them - a phenomenon that is often called the selection effect (Hector et al., 2002). This was initially considered an artifact of how BEF experiments were designed and not representative of actual ecosystems, which do not consist of random species assemblages (Wardle et al., 2000). Later authors attempted to address this issue by quantifying the selection effect separately (Loreau and Hector, 2001) and still found persistent, positive BEF relationships due to other mechanisms (Cardinale et al., 2007; Fargione et al., 2007; van Ruijven and Berendse, 2009). Additionally, greater diversity leads to a higher probability that in the long term a species with a very strong effect on functioning under certain environmental conditions will be present. This can be linked to an increased stability of these ecosystem functions, due to insurance and possibly compensatory feedback effects by resistant species (Isbell et al., 2009; Srivastava and Vellend, 2005). Still, other contentions continue to be raised concerning the representativity of the methods employed to study BEF relationships (Eisenhauer et al., 2016; Wardle, 2016). Typically, experiments induce random removal of species (e.g. Flombaum and Sala, 2008) or design random species assemblages (e.g. Marquard et al., 2009), which may not be representative for real biodiversity loss scenario's (De Laender et al., 2016). In addition, the assumption behind these kind of experiments and studies is that local diversity is globally on the decline, whereas there is evidence that this might generally not be the case at all (Sax and Gaines, 2003; Vellend et al., 2016, 2013).

However, the importance of this research field stretches further than merely an attempt to understand the potential consequences of global biodiversity loss (Vellend et al., 2013; Verheyen et al., 2015). Humans have been engineering the ecosystems they live in for their own good at least since the dawn of sedentary agriculture (Ellis, 2015). Gradually and in particular during the industrial revolutions of the last two centuries, this practice has become more widespread, more intensive and in general more important, both to the humans dependent on it and in terms of how this practice influences the processes of the entire biosphere (Ellis et al., 2010; Kareiva et al., 2007; Vitousek et al., 1997). This trend is expected to continue, as demand for ecosystem services is expected to grow while the supply is considered surprisingly constant (Foley et al., 2011; Rockström et al., 2009; Running, 2012). If there is some sort of positive relationship between biodiversity and the functioning of ecosystems, introducing or maintaining diversity in these human ecosystems may be interesting or even crucial for optimal delivery of their services to man (Bommarco et al., 2013; Paquette and Messier, 2010).

On the other hand, positive effects of greater species diversity may not outweigh ecosystem services delivered by monocultures of dominant species, such as typical cash crops. Historically, production systems in the 20th century have seen a strong trend towards specialization (i.e. the Green Revolution) and this trend is considered to be still ongoing (Davies, 2003; Sanchez et al., 2009). This has allowed agriculture to strongly improve its yields per unit area, at the expense of increased management intensity and services other than productivity the systems provided (e.g. supporting biodiversity and pollination, Davari et al., 2010). For forests, a similar though less spectacular picture can be found in the form of conversion to or establishment of plantation forestry of high yielding or high value species (Fox et al., 2004; Paguette and Messier, 2010; Sheil et al., 2009). As theoretical support for this approach, Grime's 'Humped-back' model of the relationship between productivity and realized species diversity (Fraser et al., 2015; Grime, 1973) suggests that, at least for the ecosystem service of biomass production, the most optimal systems will be rather species-poor. The rarity of transgressive overyielding, where a mixture's productivity is greater than that of any monoculture of its constituent species, also seems to support specialized species-poor production systems. While the Humped-back model has recently been disputed (Adler et al., 2011; Laanisto and Hutchings, 2015), its predictions may not hold in the long term either, when environmental and ecological conditions are subject to

change. This is of particular importance for long-lived systems such as forests, where adaptation in the short term is impossible.

1.2. BEF in forests

Mixing tree species to improve productivity and other functions was considered by early forestry scientists, but was mostly dismissed as maximal yields were found for monocultures of highly productive species (Pretzsch, 2005). In the wake of the pioneering BEF experiments in grasslands, interest into mixing tree species in plantations resurfaced, partially driven too by concern for the impact of climate change and invasive diseases (Carnol et al., 2014; Thompson et al., 2009). There was also increased attention for increasing the multifunctionality of tree plantations beyond production of woody biomass, which is expected to be associated with greater positive impact of mixing species (Gamfeldt et al., 2013; Paquette and Messier, 2010; van der Plas et al., 2016a). Some early positive effects of increased tree species on productivity and stability of productivity were found in forest stands (Caspersen and Pacala, 2001; Forrester et al., 2006; Potvin and Gotelli, 2008).

However, the slow development of these systems and their enormous size render research time-consuming, expensive and subject to more potentially confounding variables (Leuschner et al., 2009). In addition, forests differ in multiple ways from systems that are faster to develop and easier to study, such as grasslands (Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2005a). The most important way in which trees differ from herbaceous plants is their life cycle, as it operates on the scale of decades and often much longer, rather than within the boundaries of one or a few years (Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2007). This increases the risk of an extreme event of abiotic or biotic pressure taking place in an individual tree's lifetime. The impact of such events is also more severe for the services delivered by these stands, as these services are often tied to functions that depend on cumulative processes such as woody biomass production and carbon fixation. Hence, events causing dieback, mortality or growth reduction can be expected to have longer lasting impact on functioning, as compensatory dynamics or adaptation through regrowth or recruitment are much slower than in grasslands (Forrester and Bauhus, 2016). Other than a higher risk and frequency of major disturbances within a tree's life cycle, forests will also be subjected more to the effects of gradual directional changes, such as rising temperatures and changing weather conditions due to Climate Change (Lindner et al., 2008). This greater stability of functioning in the face of stress or disturbance in more diverse forests may outweigh the greater maximal yields of highly productive monocultures (Knoke et al., 2005).

Mature tree ecosystems are dominated by a few individuals with large biomass (Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2005a). In this light, they are more likely to be subject to the mass ratio hypothesis (Grime, 1998), which asserts that identity effects of dominant

species will have the bulk of the impact on ecosystem functioning rather than the diversity within the entire community (Diaz et al., 2007). Diversity among tree species in the forests of temperate Europe in particular is known to be quite low (FOREST EUROPE, 2015; Leuschner et al., 2009), more so when these trees need to be adapted to a certain set of growing conditions. Other eco-regions at the same latitude such as eastern North America have more species, possibly because they faced less evolutionary bottle-necks in the recent past (Little Jr, 1983) or because of differences in climate not related to latitude (Adams and Woodward, 1989). Lower latitudes generally have much greater numbers of species, as described by the Latitudinal Diversity Gradient (Hillebrand, 2004). But it is in comparison with herbaceous systems, which can also support a number of individuals some orders of magnitude larger, where this difference in species pool is most striking (Little Jr, 1983). It can hence be expected that there will be a lower frequency of interspecific interactions between dominant individuals in these forest ecosystems. This facilitates the study of mechanisms that give rise to these interactions, already reinforced by their greater identifiability (Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2007), but also emphasizes the role of which species are present (i.e. identity effects) perhaps more so than how many.

Large (meta-)analyses in forests have shown overall positive effects of mixing tree species on productivity (Liang et al., 2016; Paquette and Messier, 2011; Vilà et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2012) and other ecosystem functions or services (Felton et al., 2016; Gamfeldt et al., 2013; van der Plas et al., 2016b). However, Nadrowski et al. (2010) reviewed 13 studies that considered identity as well as diversity effects in forests and found that identity effects were stronger in general. Other authors have also reported stronger effects of identity than richness on the functioning of forest ecosystems (Firn et al., 2007; Ratcliffe et al., 2015; Setiawan et al., 2016; Sobek et al., 2009; Tobner et al., 2016). Most studies on the influence of tree species diversity reported humped or stabilizing relationships with biomass production, suggesting considerable functional redundancy in forest ecosystems (Forrester and Bauhus, 2016; Vilà et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2012). Nevertheless, these findings of positive effects of mixing tree species on various ecosystem functions and their stability in particular, are still considered to support the implementation of greater tree diversity into managed systems, even in those plantations where productivity remains the most important service (Liang et al., 2016; Piotto, 2008).

In some cases, more diversity may turn out to have negative effects on ecosystem functioning and associated services. For instance, complementarity in resource use such as different rooting depths may lead to more efficient use of soil resources, which may exacerbate conditions of scarcity (Grossiord et al., 2014). Generalist herbivores may benefit from increased fitness if the diversity of their food is higher (Castagneyrol et al., 2012; Schuldt et al., 2015; Vehviläinen et al., 2007). The potential link between host

diversity and pathogen transmission - described by some authors as negative (Ostfeld and Keesing, 2012) – has raised much debate, with recent reviews (Civitello et al., 2015a, 2015b; Salkeld et al., 2013; Wood and Lafferty, 2013) suggesting the relationship to be much more complex. Pathogens requiring multiple hosts for their life cycle may benefit from increased diversity and more diverse systems may set the stage for streamlined bugs posing serious ecological challenges when they can invade other areas (Cheatham et al., 2009). Most of these downsides have in common that they are a result of trophic interactions. This sort of diversity disservice is unavoidable, as the MEA concepts have been defined with respect to a human standard (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005). If humans are to benefit from maintaining diversity, organisms living off of similar niches as humans will likely benefit as well. Maintaining genetic or even species diversity among the crops in production systems could benefit man, but if so this will also benefit organisms that thrive within the same niche.

2. Stress Gradient Hypothesis

2.1. Background

One hypothesis that has been evaluated in literature almost at the same time as the BEF-relationship is the Stress Gradient Hypothesis (SGH), which proposes that positive interactions between individual organisms (facilitation) become more frequent as the degree of stress or disturbance sensu Grime (1977) in the system increases (Bertness and Callaway, 1994). Under mild conditions, plants growing with rival plants nearby suffer from negative, competitive interactions. Under unfavorable conditions such as increased water stress or consumer pressure, the negative competitive effects of these neighbours, if any, are outweighed by the positive impacts they can have, such as shelter to diminish evapo-transpiration or associational unpalatability to diminish herbivore pressure. Most of SGH research has focused on abiotic stress, in particular water stress. While multiple authors found supporting evidence in a variety of plant systems (Callaway et al., 2002; Eränen and Kozlov, 2008; Forey et al., 2016; He et al., 2013; Michalet et al., 2014), conflicting results have also been published, often suggesting a breakdown of facilitation in very extreme conditions (Koyama and Tsuyuzaki, 2013; Maestre et al., 2005; Soliveres et al., 2014). This lead to calls for a more refined approach to predicting species interactions along environmental gradients, taking into account nonlinearity of the shifts, the role of species functional traits and the nature of the stress gradient (Butterfield et al., 2015; Maestre et al., 2009; Soliveres et al., 2014). Some authors described how inclusion of biotic disturbances could modify the theoretical predictions of the hypothesis (Bulleri et al., 2011; Smit et al., 2009).

Initially, Bertness and Callaway (1994) referred to the frequency of interactions between individuals within a community or an ecosystem. Yet most later studies looked at either the intensity or the importance of these interactions (López et al., 2016; Maestre et al.,

2009; Soliveres et al., 2014), two separate concepts which find their origin in a paper by Welden and Slauson (1986). Intensity refers to the relative or absolute effect an interaction (be it competition or facilitation) has on a property of the focal individual, whereas importance scales this effect to an optimal value of that property and hence puts it in context next to other drivers (Brooker et al., 2005). Both intensity and importance have typically been quantified by studying pairwise interactions between benefactors and beneficiaries of facilitation. It is not always clear how such pairwise interactions may scale up towards the community or ecosystem level. Assessments at the community level also show only partial support for the SGH (López et al., 2016; Maestre et al., 2010; Soliveres and Maestre, 2014).

2.2. BEF and SGH?



Fig. 1: Interaction between species richness and changes of productivity in space (a) and time (b) due to the occurrence of stress, as predicted from positive BEF relationships and the SGH. Figure from Jucker et al. (2015).

One thing both research into BEF and SGH have in common is facilitation, which is predicted according to the SGH to be more common, more intense and/or more important under stressful conditions. In BEF research, it is a mechanism that can explain the presence of diversity effects (Srivastava and Vellend, 2005), i.e. the added effect of a benefactor species improving a property of a beneficiary species so that its expected value is higher than found when the benefactor species is replaced with a neutral one (Callaway, 2007). Therefore, if the implications of both hypotheses hold in a given system and at least a part of the diversity effect can be attributed to facilitation, the SGH would suggest increased stress or disturbance to strengthen the impact of the diversity effect on ecosystem functioning (Fig. 1). Steudel et al. (2012) found evidence of this sort of interplay between stress and diversity for algae in microcosm experiments along two different stress gradients. The analysis by Paquette and Messier (2011) of

Canadian forest inventory data also suggested this sort of interaction along a latitudinal gradient. Other researchers have found similar results for forest ecosystems along climatic and productivity gradients (Jucker et al., 2015; Toïgo et al., 2015).

In the context of anthropogenic global change, this interplay between stress and diversity effects might become more emphasized. If, for instance, extreme weather events such as heat waves or drought spells grow more severe and/or frequent as a consequence of Climate Change (Dai et al., 2004; Meehl and Tebaldi, 2004), an increased presence of facilitating interactions between different species under such circumstances may play a more important role in maintaining the functioning of ecosystems (Pretzsch et al., 2012). Moreover, this sort of higher level interaction is not as likely to be noted in classic BEF experimental setups, where environmental fluctuations are supposed to be minimal as to not confound the experimental results (Steudel et al., 2012). In this sense, facilitation can also be considered a mechanism that explains ecosystem stability.

Changes in consumer pressure can similarly interact with diversity effects: invasive herbivores and pathogens may reinforce the importance of positive interactions hampering their invasion success (Guyot et al., 2015; Kennedy et al., 2002), like associational unpalatability (reduced consumer pressure due to the presence of unpalatable species) or more efficient exploitation of all available niches (Davis et al., 2000; Stachowicz and Byrnes, 2006). Native herbivores or pathogens too may be more active or abundant as a consequence of Climate Change (Lindner et al., 2008; Lu et al., 2015; Netherer and Schopf, 2010).

3. Research approaches

Confirmation of the validity and extent of BEF and SGH relationships can be found in multiple ways, each with their own strengths and weaknesses. Nadrowski et al. (2010) called these properties representativity (for real ecosystems), comprehensiveness (i.e. including all variables of interest) and orthogonality (i.e. controlling for confounding variables). Results can be obtained most quickly by applying ecosystem models to predict biotic interactions and their consequences for ecosystem properties (e.g. Morin et al., 2011; Yachi and Loreau, 2007). This approach may reveal the theoretical potential for positive species interactions across long time scales and under different environmental conditions, but may not be wholly representative of ecological reality (Morin et al., 2014). To this end, models may be supported by analyzing existing datasets such as national forest inventories, which tend to be quite representative of their subject ecosystems. Yet, such datasets may not include all variables of interest and their underlying methodology may not allow the elimination of certain confounding variables (Forrester and Pretzsch, 2015). To this end, new data can be collected from existing ecosystems with specifically positive species interactions in mind. To diminish

the impact of confounding variables even further, new experiments can be established where specific treatments can be evaluated (Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2005b). Such experiments may also allow the assessment of expected environmental conditions from global change scenario's or ecological conditions that are otherwise rare or suspected to be strongly confounded, such as certain species combinations (Verheyen et al., 2013). However, due to their specified design, experiments may not be very representative of ecological reality. They are also the most difficult to account for temporal effects, as they will be studied in real time, which is particularly problematic for long-lived systems such as forests.

To compensate for the various downsides of each technique, it might be best to adopt them all and integrate their different results (Scherer-Lorenzen, 2014). A European project looking into effects of tree species diversity on ecosystem functioning (FunDivEurope) did exactly that (Baeten et al., 2013), combining data from forest inventories, from an exploratory platform in multiple European forests and from multiple recent plantations with orthogonal species composition gradients (Verheyen et al., 2015). An alternative approach is to interpret results from these different approaches within their scope and limitations. The temporal constraints on newly planted forest experiments are much less severe if interactions between species at the current successional stage are of interest. Young stands differ in lots of ways from mature forests, where dominance of individuals is much higher and hence the occurrence of pairwise interactions between trees much more limited. Young trees may also differ in their susceptibility to stress, herbivory and pathogens, with less reserves to survive through extreme events or strengthen their defenses (Barton and Hanley, 2013).

4. Mechanisms

Another advantage of monitoring carefully designed experiments is that it becomes easier to determine more specifically the mechanisms that are driving composition effects. This is in particular interest in forest ecosystems, where the dominant trees tend to have lower density and species diversity than other plant systems (Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2007). In addition to increasing the importance of identity effects of certain species, this also makes it easier to investigate and even quantify species-specific pairwise interactions (Pretzsch et al., 2015). Crown interactions may already occur before crown closure as a result of different juvenile growth rates of different species, which may have negative effects of light interception but also positive effects of shelter (Castagneyrol et al., 2013; Valladares et al., 2016). Indirect effects such as mitigating herbivory and disease may additionally play a more important role, in particular because such pressures are often worse in younger trees (Barton and Hanley, 2013; Sobek et al., 2009).

4.1. Herbivores and pathogens

Two hypotheses attempt to explain why a higher diversity may reduce the impact or efficacy of herbivores and pathogens: the Resource Concentration Hypothesis and the Natural Enemies Hypothesis (Castagneyrol et al., 2013; Jactel et al., 2005; Sobek et al., 2009). Under the former, the reduced density in mixtures of hosts for specialist herbivores and pathogens increases travel time, risk and energy cost required for feeding or colonization. It also reduces the chance and frequency of attack by physically or chemically hindering herbivores from finding their preferential species and causing phenological mismatch with at least a part of the host population (Jactel et al., 2005; Peacock et al., 1999). According to the Natural Enemies Hypothesis, more diverse communities support more predators or more effective hunting behavior, either through providing shelter and necessary food supplements or allowing for (temporal) diet mixing (Jactel et al., 2005). It should be noted that the mechanism of resource concentration may also impair the behavior of predators, in particular if they have a fairly specialist diet themselves.

Pathogens typically have no natural enemies – although powdery mildew is an interesting exception (Sutherland and Parrella, 2009). They can be expected to be affected to some extent by resource concentration, but their colonization behavior is often passive, ruling out many of the mechanisms behind this hypothesis. Peacock et al. (2001) compared the phenology and severity of damage by leaf beetles (*P. vulgatissima*) and by leaf rust (*Melampsora sp.*) along gradients of willow (*Salix* sp.) clonal mixing in a Short Rotation Coppice plantation. They found less damage as genotype diversity increased, but also different colonization patterns. Leaf beetles showed more directional colonization to host plants, whereas rust spread radially from infected trees, causing high correlation between infection rates within one tree. This suggests that a physical barrier effect of resistant individuals can be an important driver of diminished infection rates of pathogens with similar dispersal mechanisms, such as powdery mildew. This way, the presence of non-host species amidst a passively spreading infectious species could reduce infection rates because a larger fraction of spores will be captured by insusceptible individuals (Hantsch et al., 2013).

4.2. Impact of stress

Louthan et al. (2013) list three hypotheses governing the effects of herbivores across abiotic stress gradients. The Compensatory Continuum Model emphasizes the ability of plants to compensate for biomass losses to herbivory. As stress will impair this ability, herbivory will be worse on plants subjected to more stress. In contrast, the Herbivore Pressure Hypothesis proposes that herbivory will have a greater impact in unstressed systems, because the abundance and diversity of herbivores will be greater there. Similarly, the Differential Growth Rate Hypothesis also predicts a greater impact with lower stress, but as a result of the higher potential growth rate of plants under these conditions. The latter two are obviously related, but they emphasize different sides of the system as causing the discrepancy along gradients of stress.

The interaction between environmental (abiotic) stress and biotic stress in respect to plant interactions has been discussed by Smit et al. (2009). They referred to earlier studies incorporating biotic stress and thus finding a humped relationship between biotic stress and positive interactions, the optimum being intermediate due to a `collapse' at the extreme end of the gradient. Using theoretical examples based on the life strategy distinction proposed by Maestre et al. (2009), they show that the interplay between biotic and abiotic stress can strongly alter an expected relationship with only one of these drivers. Based on this, they propose two hypotheses. The first is similar to the latter two in Louthan et al. (2013) in that biotic stress is expected to be most severe at lower abiotic stress levels, due to the greater abundance of food at low stress levels and a correlation between stress tolerance and unpalatability. From this they propose that the unimportance of biotic stress at high abiotic stress levels diminishes the impact of associational resistance mechanisms under these circumstances and that thus the importance of associational resistance increases with decreasing abiotic stress.

The second hypothesis they propose is related to the Exploitation Ecosystem Hypothesis (Oksanen and Oksanen, 2000), which states that herbivore control is most important at intermediate abiotic stress levels. At high levels of abiotic stress, these stressors will be the major drivers of many ecosystem processes. At low levels, herbivore populations will be sufficiently large to support top-down control by predators. Combining both hypotheses leads to a modification of the Stress Gradient Hypothesis to a humped relationship, with facilitation being most important at intermediate levels of abiotic stress.

This model assumes that the abiotic stress is of equal importance for every species and individual in the system. Patch dynamics, age differences and species traits may undermine this assumption. In the extreme, where a focal individual is stressed amidst relatively unstressed circumstances, the direct relationship between level of stress and herbivore population is irrelevant. Under such circumstances, a mechanism more akin to the Compensatory Continuum Model could be expected, with herbivory being worse in the presence of abiotic stress *ceteris paribus* and any mechanism of associational resistance subsequently more important. However, if phenotypic variation as a result of abiotic stress correlates with resistance to herbivory, the model as detailed by Smit et al. (2009) could still hold.

5. Research Questions

The main research objective of this thesis is to assess the effects of different local neighbourhood compositions on growth in young temperate forest systems and whether

these composition effects are influenced by stress as derived from the Stress Gradient Hypothesis. Furthermore, I wish to shed light on the mechanisms underlying these composition effects by looking at different tree and stand characteristics, including symptoms of damage by herbivores and pathogens on leaves and the degree of shading. To assess these composition effects, I monitor two young forest systems (Fig. 2): a multiclonal willow (*Salix* sp.) Short Rotation Coppice plantation (**Chapter 2**) and a multitrophic system of young oak (*Quercus*), oak powdery mildew and mycophagous ladybirds subjected to a local neighbourhood composition gradient and a stress gradient of reduced rainfall under field conditions (**Chapter 3-6**).

In **Chapter 2**, I test whether clonal diversity has a positive effect on productivity and other stand characteristics in a willow Short Rotation Coppice plantation in the North-West of Belgium, consisting of monocultures and mixtures of three different Swedish willow clones. Measurements were performed in 2011 and 2013, i.e. two and four years after planting. I differentiated between effects of complementarity and selection of highly productive clones. Additionally, I gathered data of leaf temperatures using an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (or 'drone') to determine a suspected abiotic gradient in soil conditions and evaluate its impact on productivity and clonal interactions.

In **Chapter 3**, I describe an experiment performed in two young forest plantations in the North-West and South of Belgium. Both forest plantations are a part of the FORBIO project, itself a part of the TreeDivNet network, and contained monocultures and mixtures of up to four different species out of a pool of five site-adapted and silviculturally relevant tree species. Within these experiments, I planted young oak (*Quercus robur* and *petraea*) saplings in pots and subjected them to a three-level stress gradient of reduced rainfall throughout 3 growing seasons (2013-2015). Linking relative annual diameter and height growth rates to neighbourhood tree species composition and to oak powdery mildew (*Erysiphe* sp., PM) infection assessments as well as the degree of shading, I investigate the role of species composition, how these biotic interactions may arise and how they interact with the reduced rainfall gradient. In particular, I separated composition effects of richness from effects of identity of the tree species in the local neighbourhood of the focal saplings.



Fig. 1: Location of the different field sites in Belgium I made use of in this thesis. Two of the FORBIO sites were used, in Zedelgem and in Gedinne. Also in Zedelgem, we monitored a Short Rotation Coppice experimental site with mixtures of Salix clones.

In **Chapter 4**, I add another trophic level to the experiment of chapter 3 by monitoring the amount of mycophagy on oak PM by a native obligate mycophagous ladybird species (*Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata*) in one of the two sites in 2014. I attempt to link mycophagy to tree species composition as well as the reduced rainfall gradient and their interaction. I also describe a lab experiment where I monitor ladybird mycophagy in function of different watering treatments in a better controlled environment. Ladybirds used for this lab experiment had to be kept in captivity and bred, a program which I describe in detail in **Chapter 5**. In this chapter, I also describe various biological and ecological characteristics I observed of this poorly known ladybird species.

Finally, in **Chapter 6** I measure different wood and leaf characteristics of the saplings from Chapter 3 and link them to species composition, the reduced rainfall gradient, oak PM and shading, in an attempt to elucidate underlying mechanisms of species richness and identity effects.

Chapter 2: Productivity, stand dynamics and the selection effect in a mixed willow clone Short Rotation Coppice plantation.

Dillen, M., Vanhellemont, M., Verdonckt, P., Maes, W.H., Steppe, K., Verheyen, K., 2016. Productivity, stand dynamics and the selection effect in a mixed willow clone short rotation coppice plantation. Biomass and Bioenergy 87, 46–54.

Abstract

Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) is a promising method of biomass production for energy purposes, but there have been concerns about the low diversity of these stands, including the risk for pest outbreaks. Mixing different clones has been advised as a way to tackle this problem and improve yields through positive diversity effects. Recent research into the relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning supports these recommendations, but also raises worries about mechanisms that may confound results, such as a selection effect due to dominant clones outcompeting weaker ones. However, the few available studies on diversity effects in SRC plantations did not allow the disentangling of the mechanisms at play.

We used data from an experimental SRC site, which incorporated three Swedish *Salix* clones in a row-based mixing design. Productivity was expected to be greater in mixtures and we attempted to elucidate whether this was due to a complementarity or a selection effect. We found that complementarity effects were generally larger than selection effects, yet the total diversity effect on yield was not significant. Leaf surface temperature measurements indicated that drought stress was unlikely to be the factor underlying this distorted diversity productivity relationship. We also found that a less-productive clone (Gudrun) had a different stem biomass distribution when in monoculture, which may have repercussions for the quality of the harvested product and points at a so far less recognized potential benefit of mixing.

1. Introduction

The use of woody biomass for energy production has been a mainstay throughout the history of human civilization and only in recent, industrial times its importance has plummeted in favor of fossil fuels (Tillman, 1978; Wrigley, 2010). Questions concerning the continuity of the supply of these fossil carbon stocks (Hubbert, 1949; Jakobsson et al., 2012) and the impact on the environment of their liberation has led to renewed interest in alternative sources of energy (Bruckner et al., 2014), including woody biomass (Mantau et al., 2010). The recent interest in developed countries for dedicated production systems of woody biomass for energy can be linked to these concerns (Wickham et al., 2010).

Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) is a silvicultural system developed for efficient production of woody biomass. Fast-growing woody species are planted in high density, harvested in short cycles of 2-5 years and replaced when productivity starts to decrease. SRC incorporates some of the agricultural developments of the 20th century, such as sciencebased breeding of varieties, mechanized field management and the (limited) use of agro-chemicals (Wickham et al., 2010). Management of SRC sites is extensive when compared to other cultivation systems for energy production, which often operate in cycles of one year or less. Fertilization is less important as relatively few nutrients are removed with the biomass, which is harvested after leaves are shed (Baum et al., 2009). The only important management intervention during growth is weeding in the first year after planting, sometimes using herbicides (Broeckx et al., 2012; Caslin et al., 2010). In addition to the relatively low intensity of management, SRC systems possess greater structural diversity than annual crops, resulting in a generally greater associated (functional) biodiversity (Dimitriou et al., 2011; Verheven et al., 2014; Volk et al., 2004). SRC can also provide other ecosystem services next to biomass production, such as phytoremediation (Volk et al., 2004).

Despite the successful trials of SRC that have been undertaken across the globe (Abrahamson et al., 2012; Dimitriou et al., 2011; Lindegaard et al., 2011), some issues still threaten its ecological and economical sustainability. One of these is the low diversity of these cultures, in particular because often genetically identical high-yielding clones are used (Wickham et al., 2010). A lack of diversity results in increased pest pressure in agricultural systems (Matson, 1997; Zhu et al., 2000), which typically operate at a temporal scale of less than one year. SRC systems have longer harvest cycles and individual plants are intended to last up to seven such cycles (Caslin et al., 2010), which increases the risk and associated costs of devastating disturbances such as pests or droughts. It is also not as easy or desirable – ecologically or financially – to treat woody (energy) crops with pesticides.

Recent research suggests that introducing mixtures of genetically distinct clones in SRC could be an effective measure to address these risks. The past two decades, evidence has been found in multiple ecosystems of a positive relationship between (genetic) diversity and ecosystem functions such as productivity (Cardinale et al., 2012; Roger et al., 2012; Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2007). This field of research is now known as *Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning* (BEF). Several mechanisms were proposed to explain these results, including facilitation, complementarity and the selection effect. Facilitation is the interaction between species where at least one species benefits and neither of them is harmed by the presence of the other (Bruno et al., 2003). Complementarity allows more diverse systems to make more efficient use of resources, as long as the niches of some of their species differ sufficiently (Srivastava and Vellend, 2005). Finally, the selection effect may occur because the probability of dominant species being present increases as the number of species present increases (Hector et al., 2007; Huston, 1997; Thompson et al., 2005; Wardle et al., 2000).

Only few studies have been undertaken on clonal mixtures in SRC plantations, mainly in the UK (Peacock et al., 2001) and in Northern Ireland (McCracken et al., 2011; McCracken and Dawson, 1998). These studies found that clonal mixtures of willow (Salix sp.) tended to be more productive (McCracken et al., 2011) and less susceptible to pests (Peacock et al., 2001) than monoculture stands of the clones the mixtures were composed of. These findings might be explained by the mechanisms described in BEF literature (Srivastava and Vellend, 2005). Facilitation could mitigate the impact of pests through associational resistance: differences in susceptibility to pests among clones reduce the overall biotic pressure in the plantation, for instance because it takes longer for pests to spread (Jactel et al., 2005). Complementarity, e.g. through differences in shade tolerance, could increase the system's efficiency of resource use (Morin et al., 2011). In the study by McCracken. et al. (McCracken et al., 2011), nested mixtures of five, ten, fifteen and twenty clones were compared with the monocultures of their constituent clones. Relatively poor yields of three out of the five clones that were present in all these mixtures could explain the positive diversity effect they found when comparing the five-way mixture with the three others as a selection effect. Comparisons with monocultures cannot be considered accurate, if some of the clones are virtually eliminated as the mixed treatments age and the high-yielding (dominant) clones quickly fill the gaps left this way – as was observed in the study.

In our study, we aimed at evaluating whether multiclonal SRC plantations had higher productivity, and whether this higher productivity was due to complementarity effects, rather than or in addition to selection effects. We set up an experimental SRC plantation in which the contributions of the different willow clones to the overall yield could be separated. Furthermore, we determined possible other effects of mixing clones by comparing the stand dynamics of mixtures and monocultures. Conventional sampling

methods to assess productivity and soil characteristics were complemented with thermal imagery obtained with an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) at the end of a long dry period. The thermal maps were used as indirect estimator of transpiration levels and drought stress severity (Maes and Steppe, 2012) of the different plots.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Study site



Fig.1: (a) Map of the experimental site. Plots and subplots are indicated. G, K and T represent the clones Gudrun, Klara and Tordis. The two plots in the most eastern part of the site (G and GT) were not sampled. To compensate for this, their replicates were sampled twice. (b) An example of the Swedish planting scheme used in the experiment for a two-clone mixture. The two rectangles show the subplots as they would be demarcated in the two different plots of the same clonal composition.

In March 2010, an experimental Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) plantation was established in Zedelgem, Belgium (51°15' N, 3°13' E). The study site has a temperate maritime climate with a mean annual rainfall of 855 mm and air temperature of 10.5°C (1981-2010, KMI Belgium). Four small former agricultural fields with a sandy soil were combined into an area of 2.28 ha. Before planting, the soil of the site was surveyed. The pH (KCl, 4.8) was below the optimal zone for willow, while the K and Mg content were at the lower end. Therefore, the site was treated with dolomitic lime (3 t ha⁻¹) and fertilized with manure (cattle, 23 t ha⁻¹). In the first year after planting, manual weed management was performed three times, based on previous research and management guidelines (Broeckx et al., 2012; Caslin et al., 2010). The site was not cut back after the first growing season, because of the high cost of harvest in the region the site was located.

The site was planted with Swedish willow clone cuttings and saplings of indigenous species. We will focus on the willow clones only, which comprised half of the site. Willow clones have been used in SRC plantations for some time now and breeding

stations in Sweden and in the UK have produced varieties with SRC as a specific focus (Wickham et al., 2010). Swedish clones gave better results than locally-adapted varieties at former SRC experiments in Belgium (Enerpedia.be, in Dutch). The three clones planted at our study site were Tordis, Klara and Gudrun. Gudrun is a clonal variety of *Salix dasyclados*, whereas Tordis is a hybrid of *Salix viminalis* and *Salix schwerinii* clones. Klara is a hybrid with a complex lineage, including clones of *S. viminalis*, *S. dasyclados* and *S. schwerinii*. Gudrun is advertised for its low susceptibility to frost, leaf rust (*Melampsora sp.*) and leaf beetles (*Phratora sp.*), Tordis for its tolerance to dry soils and Klara for its frost tolerance and high yield. More information on these clones (including their full pedigrees if known) can be found in the Willow Varietal Identification Guide from Teagasc, Ireland and AFBI, Northern Ireland (Caslin et al., 2012).

The three clones were planted in a full factorial mixing design, i.e. all seven possible combinations of the three clones were present. All the diversity treatments were replicated, which resulted in fourteen different plots distributed over two blocks (Fig. 1a). The spatial distribution of the plots was decided randomly, although each block contained seven different clone combinations. The mean plot size was 33 m x 12 m. Room was left for one access path between the two blocks and machine-turning strips around them. The Swedish planting scheme was used. This scheme consists of double rows of trees, roughly parallel to the north-south axis at our site, with planting distances of 1.5 m between the double rows and 0.75 m between the two rows of a double row. Within each row, the planting distance between the cuttings was about 60 cm (Fig. 1b). This pattern resulted in a planting density of almost 15.000 cuttings per ha and a total of 6 double rows per plot. Mixing was (double) row-based, so that the double rows in a plot contained only one clone.

2.2 Data collection

In late August – September 2011 and in December 2013, subplots of 6.75 m x 3 m were set up in twelve of the fourteen plots (Fig. 1). Every subplot contained three double rows and an estimated total of 30 planted cuttings. Because the planting distance of 60 cm inside a row varied at times, deviations from this number did not necessarily reflect mortality. A subplot always had a double row adjacent to it that was still a part of the plot it was in. Subplots were also at a distance of at least the tree height from the access paths and turning strips (Fig. 1a). In mixtures of two clones, each clone was present in one of the three rows in one subplot and in two rows in its replicate (Fig. 1b). As some trees were harvested for biomass determination, the subplots of 2013 were not at the same location as those of 2011.

The two most eastern plots (Fig. 1a) were not measured as the overall survival and vitality of the clones was low. In addition, one of the plots – a Gudrun monoculture – had

to be replanted in 2011 and the other – a mixture of Gudrun and Tordis – was too small to enable the use of buffer rows. For these two treatments, we installed two subplots in their replicates (Fig. 1a).

In every subplot, the diameter (average of two perpendicular measurements at 20 cm above ground level) of each stem taller than 170 cm or with a diameter larger than 20 mm was measured. We indicated which stems belonged to the same stool. In 2011, the height of each stem was measured using a 7 m measuring pole and the dominant height per double row was calculated as the average height of the 5 highest stems. We could not do this in 2013 as the trees had grown too high. Instead, we used a Vertex hypsometer (Vertex III and Transponder T3, Häglof) to measure the height of one canopy-forming stem per double row.

In 2011 and 2013, one stem in every double row of every subplot was harvested for a total of 42 stems each year. To ensure a minimal degree of diameter variation for the harvested stems of each clone, we randomly allocated one of three diameter classes to each double row in advance. The 42 harvested stems were weighed *in situ* (accuracy of 0.05 kg). To determine dry weight, a subset of 9 stems – one for each clone and diameter class – was dried at 70°C until constant weight.

In 2011, a mixed sample of the top 20 cm of the soil was taken in every subplot, composed of 10 subsamples taken randomly throughout the subplot. The soil samples were dried at 40°C until constant weight, sieved at mesh size 2 mm and then analysed for pH-H₂O, pH-KCl, total P, Olsen P, N percentage by weight and C percentage by weight. pH was assessed using a glass electrode (Orion, model 920A) after extraction of 14 ml soil in a 70 ml H₂O or 1 M KCl solution. Total P content was measured according to the colorimetric malachite green procedure (Lajtha et al., 1999) after wet, acidic digestion of a 0.2 g sample with an equimolar mixture of HClO₄, HNO₃ and H₂SO₄ in Teflon reservoirs for 4 hours at 150°C. Bio-available, inorganic phosphate (Olsen P) was assessed using the same procedure, after shaking a 2 g sample with 0.5 M NaHCO₃ at a pH of 8.5 for half an hour. C and N fractions were determined making use of elementary analysis (Variomax CNS, Germany). Also in 2011, the terrain height in the four corners of every plot was measured using a precision GPS (resolution up to 2 cm). Establishing the elevation within the plots was generally not possible as the closed canopy blocked the GPS signal.

On August 2nd and 23rd of 2013, flights were performed with a UAV, the AT8 octocopter of AerialTronics (Scheveningen, The Netherlands), equipped with a thermal and a visual camera. A pre-programmed waypoint flight was used to fly each block in two parallel scan lines at about 50 m altitude. The visual camera (Canon S110, Canon, Japan) was programmed with CHDK to log continuously every 0.5 seconds. The thermal camera, a Flir SC305 (FLIR Systems, Inc., Wilsonville, OR, USA) has a resolution of 320x240

pixels, a thermal accuracy of $\pm 2^{\circ}$ C and a thermal sensitivity of 0.05°C; equipped with a 10 mm lens, it has a field of view (FOV) of 45° x 34°. The camera is controlled through in-house developed Python-based software from an on-board linux computer (Olimex), logging continuously every 2 to 2.5 seconds.

For further analysis, visual images only from the August 2nd flight were used, as a hardware problem during the second flight rendered its visual images unusable. Thermal images were used from the August 23rd flight, however, as there was significantly less wind that day and hence these images were much sharper than those of August 2.

The GPX-logfile from the UAV was used to estimate the GPS position and altitude of the UAV of each visual image. AgiSoft PhotoScan Professional (AgiSoft LLC, St Petersburg, Russia) was used to mosaick the visual images and a georeferenced orthophoto was extracted. The thermal images were converted to canopy temperature images as described by Maes *et al.* (2014). Due to the relatively low resolution, low overlap and limited contrast between the images, the thermal images could not be mosaicked properly with AgiSoft. Thermal images were therefore overlaid on the visual map in ArcGIS (ESRI, Redlands, Ca, USA) using the Georeference Tool and later mosaicked to form a thermal map. The thermal map covered the entire experiment except for a small gap in a Gudrun-Klara mixture (Fig. 2).



Fig.2: Leaf surface temperature map of the experimental site. G, K and T stand for the clones Gudrun, Klara and Tordis. Using ArcGIS, the data was classified into 16 classes with an equal amount of pixels in each class ('quantile'), hence the nonlinearity of the temperature scale.

2.3 Data analysis

To estimate standing biomass and productivity, we established allometric relationships between stem diameter (D, mm) and dry biomass (DM, kg) for every clone and

separately for the two measuring years by fitting power relationships with the loglinear regression formula $DM = aD^b$ (Arevalo et al., 2007). We then estimated the dry biomass for every stem and summed these values into standing biomass per stool, per double row and per subplot. The latter two values were transformed into productivity in dry tonnes per hectare per year (t DM ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), a metric regularly used in SRC literature (Abrahamson et al., 2012; Lindegaard et al., 2011; Vande Walle et al., 2007).

To explain potential variations in productivity caused by abiotic factors, we performed a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) with the soil variables and the GPS-determined terrain height. We also included a spatial variable that indicated the relative position of the plots from west to east, as there was a visible loss of vitality along this gradient, particularly in 2011. We then used linear regression to look for relationships between subplot productivity (t DM ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and the first two principal components. We also incorporated the planted fraction of Gudrun as a second variable, because initial surveys led us to expect that this clone was considerably less productive than the other two.

To derive corresponding data from the thermal image, subplots of equal size and orientation as described in the previous section were drawn using ArcGIS (Fig. 2), with each subplot corresponding to ca. 718 pixels. These digital subplots were placed as close as possible to the location of the subplots during field measurements in 2013, except for the Gudrun-Klara mixture in the first block due to a thermal data gap (cf. 2.2). Average values and standard deviations of leaf surface temperature were determined for each subplot. Differentiation between double rows was not possible because these elements could not be consistently identified. The average values were related to the field measurements of productivity as well as to soil and spatial variables using linear regression, again including the Gudrun fraction as an additional variable.

Diversity effects were assessed for multiple characteristics other than productivity. This analysis was performed at the double row level rather than the subplot level, because clonal identity effects were expected. The number of stools (S) in a double row was used as a proxy for survival, although the deviations in planting distance may confound this relationship. As the plantation was still in its first rotation and the stools were not cut back after the first year to induce multiple stem formation (as in (McCracken et al., 2011)), we could assume that different stools originated from different cuttings. An indicator for apical dominance was estimated by calculating the ratio between the total number of stems (N) and S. Averages of S, N and N/S were calculated at the double row level. The evenness (EV) of stool biomass for each double row was calculated as:

$$EV = -\sum_{i=0}^{3} \frac{p_i \ln(p_i)}{\ln(S)}$$
with p_i the fraction of the total biomass for the *i*th stool and S the number of stools in the double row. Lower values of *EV* indicate an imbalance of stool biomass within the subplot and suggest that some stools are not doing well and/or other stools are taking advantage of the gaps.

The significance of the diversity effect was tested using two-way ANOVA with clone as the second factor. We incorporated the interaction term, as diversity effects can be clone-specific. Tukey's Honest Significant Difference test (HSD) was used if significant factors had more than two levels or interactions were significant. Because the mixtures with three clones would distort the balance of the dataset and thus undermine the applicability of Tukey's HSD, they were combined with the two-clone mixtures into one single level. Analyses were performed for productivity (Y), dominant height (H), number of stools (S), number of stems (N), N/S and the evenness of biomass (EV).

To differentiate the complementarity (CMP) and selection (SEL) effects, we calculated the diversity effect on productivity in the mixed subplots using the method of Loreau & Hector (Loreau and Hector, 2001). These effects can be calculated for each mixed subplot using the following equations:

$$\Delta RY_i = RY_{0i} - RY_{Ei} = \frac{Y_{0i}}{M_i} - \frac{Y_{Ei}}{M_i} = \frac{Y_{0i}}{M_i} - P_{Ai}$$

 $CMP = N\overline{\Delta RY}\overline{M}$

$SEL = Ncov(\Delta RY, M)$

 RY_{Oi} is the relative observed productivity for clone *i* in a mixed subplot, calculated by dividing the observed productivity of this clone in this subplot (Y_{Oi}) by M_i , the average observed productivity of clone *i* in monoculture subplots (both in t DM ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). RY_{Ei} is the relative expected productivity of clone *i* in mixture based on monoculture performance, or simply the proportion of the area planted with this clone (P_{Ai}). CMP and SEL are calculated by taking the average and the covariance of the ΔRY_i and the M_i values for all *N* clones present in the mixture.

All statistical analyses were performed using the statistical package R 3.1.0 (R Core Team, 2014).



Fig.3: The allometric relationships between stem diameter and dry biomass of the three clones in 2011 (a) and 2013 (b). The parameter estimates and adjusted R^2 values can be found in the embedded tables.



Fig. 4: Productivities in 2011 (a) and 2013 (b). The bars denote the three sampled double rows in the subplots, whereas the curve indicates the average productivity of the three double rows in each subplot.

3. Results

3.1 Productivity

The allometric relationships between diameter and dry biomass held up very well in both years (adj $R^2 > 0.985$, Fig. 3). Gudrun showed a consistently lower biomass for equal diameters than the other two clones. The relationship for Tordis was similar in both years. The other two clones showed divergent patterns between years, overestimating Klara biomass and underestimating Gudrun biomass if the relationships from 2011 would be extrapolated to 2013 (data not shown).

Gudrun had significantly lower productivity (Fig. 4; Table 1) and was lower in height (Table 1) than the other two clones. One subplot with Klara and one of the three-clone mixtures, both in the first block, were notably underproductive in both years, while the Klara row in the first Gudrun-Klara mixture was a strong and consistent over-productive outlier. The replicate of the Gudrun-Klara mixture with two Klara rows was poorly productive in 2011, but not in 2013. The productivity differences between the subplots were relatively larger in 2011 than in 2013, as can be seen in the slopes of the subplot average curve in Fig. 4.

3.2 Soil variables and leaf temperature

The first two axes of the PCA of the soil variables explained together 66% of the total variance. The first axis (40%) was strongly correlated with total P, Olsen P, terrain height, C% and N%. The second axis (26%) was correlated with pH (KCI: -0.87, H_2O : -0.76) and the spatial variable (0.64). The first axis showed no relationship with productivity. The second axis scores did show a pattern where lower pH and more eastern subplots were less productive, but they were not significantly related to subplot productivity in 2011 (p=0.25) or 2013 (p=0.07) when the fraction of planted Gudrun was included in the model.

Leaf temperatures decreased from west to east in the site (Fig. 2). This spatial relationship was significant (p=0.01, Fig. 5a) and not due to an effect of the planted Gudrun fraction (p=0.16). In 2013, productivity tended to increase with leaf temperature (Fig. 5b) rather than decrease, though this relationship was only marginally significant (p=0.08). Again, no effect of Gudrun (p=0.17) was observed. The Gudrun-Klara mixture in the most eastern part of the second block had the lowest leaf temperatures. The Gudrun monocultures had the highest variance in leaf surface temperatures.

Table 1: Averages of the descriptive statistics per double row for 2011 and 2013. **H** is dominant height in *m*, **Y** is productivity in t DM ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, **S** is the total number of stools, **N** the total number of stems and **EV** the evenness of biomass among stools. The second column indicates the diversity level, i.e. the number of clones present in the subplot where the double row is located. Two-way ANOVA tests were performed to find significant differences between clones, diversity levels and their interaction for all variables. Significant differences with Tukey's HSD (p<0.05) after two-way ANOVA are indicated.

2011		Н	Y	S	N	N/S	EV
Tordis	1	5.96 ^a	7.23 ^a	8.67	14	1.62	0.93
	2+3	5.90 ^a	8.57 ^a	8.88	18.25	2.09	0.94
Gudrun	1	3.25 ^b	3.02 ^b	7.33	17.5	2.41	0.92
	2+3	4.16 ^b	4.39 ^b	8	15.63	1.94	0.95
Klara	1	5.41 ^a	7.01 ^a	7.67	12.33	1.6	0.95
	2+3	5.80 ^a	7.97 ^a	8.38	13.88	1.66	0.93
all	1	4.87	5.75	7.89	14.61	1.87	0.93
	2+3	5.29	6.98	8.42	15.92	1.9	0.94
2013		Н	Y	S	N	N/S	EV
2013 Tordis	1	H 9.13 ^a	Y 14.54 ^a	S 8.83	N 14 ^{ab}	N/S 1.59 ^a	EV 0.95 ^a
2013 Tordis	1 2+3	H 9.13 ^a 8.65 ^a	Y 14.54 ^a 15.14 ^a	S 8.83 8.38	N 14 ^{ab} 15.25 ^{ab}	N/S 1.59 ^a 1.84 ^{ab}	EV 0.95 ^a 0.93 ^a
2013 Tordis Gudrun	1 2+3 1	H 9.13 ^a 8.65 ^a 7.25 ^b	Y 14.54 ^a 15.14 ^a 9.02 ^b	S 8.83 8.38 7.67	N 14 ^{ab} 15.25 ^{ab} 26.17 ^c	N/S 1.59 ^a 1.84 ^{ab} 3.38 ^c	EV 0.95 ^a 0.93 ^a 0.76 ^b
2013 Tordis Gudrun	1 2+3 1 2+3	H 9.13 ^a 8.65 ^a 7.25 ^b 7.23 ^b	Y 14.54 ^a 15.14 ^a 9.02 ^b 7.40 ^b	S 8.83 8.38 7.67 7.34	N 14 ^{ab} 15.25 ^{ab} 26.17 ^c 18.75 ^{ab}	N/S 1.59 ^a 1.84 ^{ab} 3.38 ^c 2.53 ^b	EV 0.95 ^a 0.93 ^a 0.76 ^b 0.92 ^a
2013 Tordis Gudrun Klara	1 2+3 1 2+3 1	H 9.13 ^a 8.65 ^a 7.25 ^b 7.23 ^b 9.03 ^a	Y 14.54 ^a 15.14 ^a 9.02 ^b 7.40 ^b 10.98 ^a	S 8.83 8.38 7.67 7.34 7.67	N 14 ^{ab} 15.25 ^{ab} 26.17 ^c 18.75 ^{ab} 11.5 ^a	N/S 1.59 ^a 1.84 ^{ab} 3.38 ^c 2.53 ^b 1.54 ^a	EV 0.95 ^a 0.93 ^a 0.76 ^b 0.92 ^a 0.87 ^a
2013 Tordis Gudrun Klara	1 2+3 1 2+3 1 2+3	H 9.13 ^a 8.65 ^a 7.25 ^b 7.23 ^b 9.03 ^a 9.04 ^a	Y 14.54 ^a 15.14 ^a 9.02 ^b 7.40 ^b 10.98 ^a 14.42 ^a	S 8.83 8.38 7.67 7.34 7.67 8.38	N 14 ^{ab} 15.25 ^{ab} 26.17 ^c 18.75 ^{ab} 11.5 ^a 13.25 ^{ab}	N/S 1.59 ^a 1.84 ^{ab} 3.38 ^c 2.53 ^b 1.54 ^a 1.58 ^a	EV 0.95 ^a 0.93 ^a 0.76 ^b 0.92 ^a 0.87 ^a 0.91 ^a
2013 Tordis Gudrun Klara all	1 2+3 1 2+3 1 2+3 1 2+3	H 9.13 ^a 8.65 ^a 7.25 ^b 7.23 ^b 9.03 ^a 9.04 ^a 8.47	Y 14.54 ^a 15.14 ^a 9.02 ^b 7.40 ^b 10.98 ^a 14.42 ^a 11.51	S 8.83 8.38 7.67 7.34 7.67 8.38 8.06	N 14 ^{ab} 15.25 ^{ab} 26.17 ^c 18.75 ^{ab} 11.5 ^a 13.25 ^{ab} 17.22	N/S 1.59 ^a 1.84 ^{ab} 3.38 ^c 2.53 ^b 1.54 ^a 1.58 ^a 2.17	EV 0.95 ^a 0.93 ^a 0.76 ^b 0.92 ^a 0.87 ^a 0.91 ^a 0.86



Fig. 5: (a) Subplot average leaf surface temperatures from west to east. An index of 1 refers to the most western plots; of 6 to the most eastern plots that were measured (cf. also Fig. 1a). (b) Subplot average leaf surface temperatures plotted against 2013 productivities.

3.3 Diversity effects

Although the difference was never significant, the productivity of any clone was generally higher in mixture than in monoculture – except for Gudrun in 2013 (Table 1). Gudrun had a greater number of stems per stool (N/S) in both years, which was also reflected in its total stem count (N) in 2013 but not in 2011. In 2013, the monocultures of Gudrun showed a significantly higher stem count and lower evenness of biomass (EV) than all the other treatments. To better understand this result, we compiled the stem biomass distribution of Gudrun for this year (Fig. 6). There were much more small stems in the monocultures (stem biomass less than 0.5 kg) and this effect was compensated in terms of standing biomass by more intermediate stems in the mixtures (biomass between 1 and 2.5-3 kg). The largest stems (>5 kg) all occurred in the monocultures again. Gudrun showed a relatively similar pattern (data not shown) in 2011, except that the largest stems were then in the mixtures.



Fig. 6: The distribution of stem biomass for Gudrun in 2013. The biomass classes on the x axis are indicated by their upper boundary. The interval size is 500 g.

The diversity effect as calculated with the method of Loreau & Hector (Loreau and Hector, 2001) was generally positive, with the notable exception of one three-clone mixture (1GKT) in both years and one Gudrun-Klara mixture (2GK) in 2011 (Table 2). As one monoculture of Klara (1K) had an unusually low productivity (cf. 3.1), the analysis of diversity effects was repeated omitting the data from this subplot. The average diversity effect diminishes for both years this way, even becoming negative in 2011 (Table A1). The selection effect tended to be negative in 2011 and positive in 2013. The complementarity effect, as can be seen in the ratio of their absolute values (Table 2). When the Klara monoculture was omitted from the dataset (Table A1), the complementarity effect was still larger than the selection effect for most subplots. However, the median of the ratio's decreased, suggesting an increase in the relative contribution of the selection effect.

Table 2: Diversity effects according to the method of Loreau & Hector (2001). ΔRY_i is the difference in relative observed and expected productivity for clone i. The first clone in each two-clone mixture is the one with two out of three double rows. K is Klara, T is Tordis and G is Gudrun. CMP is the complementarity and SEL the selection diversity effect; both are in t DM ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The ratio between the absolute values of CMP and SEL is listed to indicate their relative contribution. The sum of both CMP and SEL is also listed to indicate the total diversity effect.

				20	011				20	13	
		ΔRY _i	CMP	SEL	Ratio	Total	ΔRY _i	CMP	SEL	Ratio	Total
1KT	Κ	0.08					0.08				
	Т	0.17	1.77	0.01	174	1.78	-0.03	0.68	-0.19	3.56	0.49
2KT	Т	0.20					0.01				
	Κ	0.19	2.72	0.00	2038	2.72	-0.03	-0.24	0.09	2.78	-0.15
1GK	G	0.45					-0.17				
	Κ	0.29	3.72	-0.31	11.9	3.41	0.46	2.91	0.62	4.66	3.53
2GK	Κ	-0.24					0.24				
	G	-0.01	-1.21	-0.46	2.64	-1.67	-0.10	1.43	0.34	4.25	1.76
1GT	Т	0.09					-0.03				
	G	0.24	1.70	-0.30	5.61	1.39	0.08	0.60	-0.32	1.91	0.29
2GT	G	0.49					-0.03				
	Т	-0.06	2.21	-1.15	1.92	1.06	0.08	0.51	0.30	1.67	0.81
1GKT	G	0.00					-0.17				
	Κ	-0.11					-0.09				
	Т	-0.06	-0.95	-0.23	4.03	-1.18	0.01	-2.95	0.51	5.78	-2.44
2GKT	G	0.05					-0.08				
	Κ	0.16					0.17				
	Т	0.15	2.02	0.29	6.94	2.31	0.07	1.86	0.31	3.82	2.17
Median					6.28					3.90	
Average			1.50	-0.27		1.23		0.60	0.21		0.81

4. Discussion

4.1 Productivity variability

Gudrun has been reported to have a slow initial growth, which eventually catches up with those of other clones (Caslin et al., 2012; Lindegaard et al., 2011). We observed that Gudrun's productivity shortfall was lower in 2013, which seems to corroborate this. Tordis was less variable in its productivity than the other two clones (Fig. 4). This could be due to its genetic characteristics, as it is one of the clones promoted for drier areas by its producer. If drought conditions occur unevenly throughout the plantation, less drought-tolerant clones such as Klara and Gudrun would show greater differences in their productivity. The extreme outlier of Klara in one double row (Fig. 4) suggests that Klara has potential for very high productivity in optimal circumstances. Klara also grew taller than Tordis in the subplots where it did well.

An explanation for the low productivities in some plots could not immediately be found in soil and terrain data. The pH-KCl was 5.7 at the lowest which is still within the optimal range for willow (Tahvanainen and Rytkönen, 1999). A spatial link might explain the poor productivity of the first Klara monoculture, in particular in the face of the neighbouring plots to the east that were not sampled in part due to their poor vitality (Fig. 1) and the decreasing leaf temperature trend from west to east (Fig. 5a). However, a spatial link does not explain the consistent productivity shortfall of the three-clone mixture in block 1. The absence of any major pest (leaf beetle, *Phratora* spp.) or pathogen (rust, *Melampsora* spp.) of willow in the plantation (pers. obs.) suggests that an abiotic cause is the most likely driver of these low productivities.

Drought could be a potential explanation: whereas Tordis (promoted as a droughttolerant clone) was consistent in its productivity, Gudrun (discouraged on dry soils) showed low values. However, leaf temperatures were not negatively related to productivity, which would be expected if drought stress was the cause of lower productivities. This may be due to a lack of drought stress at the time of measuring leaf surface temperatures and does not rule out the occurrence of drought stress during drier parts of the growing season. However, August 2013 was an unusually dry month in the region where the site is located and the weather was dry in the days leading up to the UAV flight (KMI, Belgium). It is possible that greater productivity is related to greater rates of transpiration, which will deplete soil water more quickly under dry conditions and therefore result in faster stomatal closure, increasing leaf surface temperatures. However, even if this is the case, it would still imply that drought stress is not the limiting factor of productivity over the course of the plantation's four growing seasons.

Productivities for Klara and Gudrun fell within the expected range as based on previous trials if the poorly yielding plots were ignored. The Flemish research organization Inagro

sets its expected productivity for SRC in Flanders at 12 t DM ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ after three years, based on their own trials (cf. Enerpedia.be, in Dutch), which is close to the average this site attained (Table 1). Findings from Sweden, Ireland and the UK are also within this range (Caslin et al., 2010; Lindegaard et al., 2011). Yet, the age of a plantation is crucial in comparing its yield with other sites; in our experiment, growth in 2010-2011 strongly differed from growth in 2012-2013. The average annual productivity roughly doubled from the first two to the last two years, implying that three times as much biomass was produced in the last two years. Hence, it might be expected that yearly average yields would be lower for a three year period.

4.2 Clone-specific analysis

Gudrun's deviant characteristics compared to the other clones were most pronounced in 2013, with the exception of productivity (Table 1). The total stem count was not different between clones in 2011, which can possibly be explained by the criteria used for including a stem in our measurements. Very small stems were not measured in both years, but as time progresses more stems will attain the minimum diameter and height.

A lower evenness of biomass was found in the monocultures of Gudrun in 2013 (Table 1) as well as a greater amount of both small and large stems (Fig. 6). The variance in leaf surface temperature was also highest in the Gudrun monocultures (data not shown). A possible explanation for this phenomenon could be that in our plantation, Gudrun generally suffered from greater mortality or more instances of poor vitality regardless of any non-additive diversity effect in the form of facilitation or complementarity (Srivastava and Vellend, 2005). This would distort the evenness of biomass locally, as still fit stools compensate for their less fortunate neighbours and hence unevenness increases in two ways: fit stools grow larger, less fit stools stay smaller. This mechanism can be expected to be more common in monocultures even if survival/vitality was not noticeably different between monocultures and mixtures, as Gudrun double rows will be surrounded by similarly deficient rows in monocultures but not in mixtures. Willows grow fast enough for such compensation between rows to be already apparent after four years of growth (Heinsoo et al., 2009), though possibly not after two years (cf. the ΔRY_i values as discussed in section 4.3) explaining why this phenomenon could not be found in 2011.

This mechanism of unevenness through generally poor vitality also explains why the most massive Gudrun stems were found in monocultures in 2013, though this is not necessarily true for the overall greater stem number. It is possible that this latter effect is related to the poor growth of Gudrun, resulting in less inhibition of lateral growth through shading and less apical dominance in monocultures. It is unclear what implications such a diversity effect on stand dynamics could have for SRC systems. Stem diameters play a role in the choice of harvesters and harvest optimization techniques, as well as the

quality of the final product. Smaller stems may be more optimal for modified forage harvesters, as they are less likely to jam the header (Spinelli, 2007). Larger stems generally have a lower bark fraction and hence a lower ash content, which improves fuel quality and decreases nutrient losses (Tharakan et al., 2003).

4.3 Complementarity and selection effect

The selection effects were generally smaller than the complementarity effects (cf. the ratios in Table 1). This relationship persisted when the data of the Klara monoculture were omitted (Table S1). Klara edged out Gudrun in their more productive mixtures in 2013 (cf. the ΔRY_i values in Table 1), which means that Klara's generally greater productivity increases its specific productivity in mixture at the expense of Gudrun's. However, this selection effect does not seem to completely or even significantly explain the differences between observed and expected productivity (Table 1). Hence, we might conclude that the diversity effect cannot be explained by the presence of a more productive clone.

Some selection effects were negative, primarily in 2011. A negative selection effect means that a clone that is less-productive in monoculture yields relatively more in a mixture than the more productive other clones present in that mixture. Hence, in such a mixture, the clones do not behave as would be expected from their dominance hierarchies based on their monoculture performance. Competition between double rows (and thus clones) was probably less strong or even absent in 2011, when the plantation was just at the end of its second growing season. The mixture that was most extreme in terms of productivity (1GK) reflects this in its ΔRY_i values (Table 1), which were positive for both clones in 2011 but had diverged substantially in 2013.

5. Conclusion

The objective of this research was to identify diversity effects on productivity in a SRC stand and to assess the role of a selection effect. We found indications of a diversity effect on productivity that was not caused by a selection effect, but this effect was not significant due to unexplained variance in productivity. When taking a closer look at the stand characteristics of the studied systems, diversity effects were found for a less productive clone in 2013. Such effects might be expected even in the absence of a non-additive diversity effect on productivity and can still have real impacts on system qualities, such as harvest efficiency or quality of the harvested product. Future research should attempt to keep within-treatment variation as low as possible, necessitating a larger research site or data from multiple sites. Longer time series including harvest years are also recommended, as biotic pressure is expected to be highest just after this traumatic event. Finally, clonal diversity gradients should be widened to more different clones with larger differences in their lineage, as advised by the Willow Best Practice Guide (Caslin et al., 2010).

Appendix

Table A1: Diversity effects according to the method of Loreau and Hector (2001). One poorly yielding Klara monoculture was not used in this analysis. ΔRY_i is the difference in relative observed and expected productivity for clone *i*. The first clone in each two-clone mixture is the one with two out of three double rows. K is Klara, T is Tordis and G is Gudrun. CMP is the complementarity and SEL the selection diversity effect; both are in t DM ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. The ratio between the absolute values of CMP and SEL is listed to indicate their relative contribution. The sum of both CMP and SEL is also listed to indicate the total diversity effect.

				2	2011				2	2013	
		ΔRY _i	СМР	SEL	Ratio	Total	ΔRY _i	СМР	SEL	Ratio	Total
1KT	Κ	-0.21					-0.04				
	Т	0.17	-0.37	-0.79	0.47	-1.16	-0.03	-0.97	0.01	86.9	-0.96
2KT	Т	0.20					0.01				
	Κ	-0.01	1.70	-0.44	3.83	1.26	-0.08	-0.94	0.07	13.9	-0.88
1GK	G	0.45					-0.17				
	Κ	0.05	3.61	-1.67	2.16	1.94	0.33	1.76	1.05	1.68	2.81
2GK	Κ	-0.40					0.09				
	G	-0.01	-2.94	-1.66	1.77	-4.61	-0.10	-0.09	0.40	0.21	0.32
1GT	Т	0.09					-0.03				
	G	0.24	1.70	-0.30	5.61	1.39	0.08	0.60	-0.32	1.91	0.29
2GT	G	0.49					-0.03				
	Т	-0.06	2.21	-1.15	1.92	1.06	0.08	0.51	0.30	1.67	0.81
1GKT	G	0.00					-0.17				
	Κ	-0.20					-0.13				
	Т	-0.06	-1.81	-0.84	2.15	-2.65	0.01	-3.63	0.46	7.87	-3.17
2GKT	G	0.05					-0.08				
	Κ	-0.03					0.09				
	Т	0.15	1.17	-0.33	3.56	0.84	0.07	0.96	0.49	1.94	1.45
Median					2.16					1.93	
Average	е		0.66	-0.90		-0.24		-0.23	0.31		0.08

Chapter 3: Identity rather than richness drives local neighbourhood species composition effects on oak sapling growth in a young forest

Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C., 2016. Identity rather than richness drives neighbourhood species composition effects on sapling growth in a young forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 380, 274–284.

Abstract

In light of global biodiversity loss, the influence of species composition on ecosystem functioning has attracted increasing attention. However, questions remain whether neighbourhood species richness or identity is more important and what mechanisms drive these composition effects. We investigated the role of local species richness and identity on oak sapling growth in young forest stands, and attempted to link growth with two commonly expected mechanisms: oak powdery mildew (PM), a host-specific leaf pathogen, and degree of shading. Furthermore, we studied how such effects might interact with reduced rainfall.

We established a reduced rainfall gradient on oak (*Quercus*) saplings planted within two sites of a young tree diversity experiment (FORBIO). We found no effect of species richness on growth, whereas presence of particular species had a significant impact. In one site, we found an identity effect on growth through negative effects of oak (*Q. robur*) presence, which was linked to increased PM infection severity. Such link was less clear in the other site, where the impact of PM and oak (*Q. petraea*) presence was lower and there was no relation between the two. Other identity effects were related to levels of shading, which were themselves influenced by fast early growth rates of the neighbouring trees. We found no consistent effects of reduced rainfall on growth. Hostmediated effects through oak PM and functional size-mediated effects through shading were the most important composition effects in our young forest experiment, with no support for species richness effects through local environmental conditions or natural enemies.

1. Introduction

In the last two decades, more and more research was undertaken into effects of species diversity and species composition on ecosystem functioning (Cardinale et al., 2012; Hooper et al., 2005; Tilman et al., 2001, 2014). After initial experiments with synthetic species assemblages in grasslands (Hector et al., 1999; Weigelt et al., 2010), the scope was broadened to include many other types of ecosystems, including forests (Scherer-Lorenzen et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2012; Vilà et al. 2013). The original impetus to investigate these effects of biodiversity was the strong ongoing decline of biodiversity on a global scale, linked to the widespread environmental changes of the Anthropocene (Hooper et al., 2012). However, some researchers have cast doubt on the link between biodiversity loss at a local scale, as studied in the mentioned experiments, and the observed biodiversity loss at a regional or global scale (Sax and Gaines, 2003; Vellend et al., 2013). Nevertheless, in systems such as grasslands or forests, species composition can often be influenced or even controlled by the manager. Hence studies covering the impact of local scale biodiversity on ecosystem functioning will have implications for the management of these ecosystems (Tilman et al. 2006; Pretzsch and Schütze 2009; Gamfeldt et al. 2013).

Studies into composition effects in forests can take multiple approaches (Nadrowski et al., 2010). This includes looking at existing inventory data (Gamfeldt et al., 2013; Paquette and Messier, 2011; Vilà et al., 2007), gathering data from different compositions in extant forest (Baeten et al., 2013; Firn et al., 2007) and establishing new plantations designed with compositional comparisons in mind (Verheyen et al., 2015). New plantations have the advantage of a well-controlled composition gradient, with fewer (unknown) confounding variables such as differences in site history (Leuschner et al., 2009; Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2005b). However, the slow growth of trees makes the representativeness to mature forest of such experiments poor in the short term, as tree interaction mechanisms, such as root competition, will have much less of an impact initially than they are expected to have in mature forest (Domisch et al., 2015; Meinen et al., 2009a).

While some mechanisms such as root competition do not play a big role yet, it is known that young trees are much more susceptible to certain pests and diseases because they have less reserves to fall back on in severe years or to support defense mechanisms (Barton and Hanley 2013). For instance, the oak powdery mildew fungus (PM, predominantly *Erysiphe alphitoides*) is not considered a severe problem for mature trees, but can cause substantial mortality and growth reduction in young saplings (Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012). Hence, composition-based mechanisms related to mitigating the impact of pests or pathogens are expected to play a more important role in younger stands.

Examples of these mechanisms are the dilution of resources favored or required by these pests as the density of nonsusceptible species increases and an enriched topdown control by natural enemies, who may benefit from greater structural diversity or diet mixing in more species diverse neighbourhoods (Jactel and Brockerhoff, 2007; Sobek et al., 2009). In the case of oak PM, which is a specialist biotrophic leaf parasite of various Quercus species, an increased density of nonsusceptible trees may decrease the spore load for the susceptible ones. This may be particularly so for oak PM, as the most virulent species of this fungus, E. alphitoides, tends to hibernate in sexual form outside the host, which necessitates the fungus to infect its hosts anew with ascospores every year (Feau et al., 2012). The fungus also spreads on a leaf-by-leaf basis during a growing season by continuously producing asexual spores as fast as possible from newly infected leaves (Marcais et al., 2009). Hence, reducing the availability of suitable host trees at the local scale would reduce the initial spore load and therefore reduce the probability of infection as well as the proportion of initially infected leaves, whereas oak leaves are only susceptible to PM in the first two weeks of their life (Edwards and Avres. 1982). Changes in neighbourhood composition may also influence natural predators of PM, such as mycophagous ladybugs by offering them alternate food sources such as pollen or powdery mildew fungi of other plant species that may be available earlier in the growing season (Sutherland and Parrella, 2009).

Another composition mechanism is the Janzen-Connell effect (Bagchi et al., 2010), where proximity to the mother tree increases the pressure of pests and pathogens on offspring. The presence or density of conspecifics in the local neighbourhood can be expected to have a strong impact, by facilitating host-specific pest dispersal as well as increasing patch attractivity (Jactel et al., 2005). Similar effects of species identity could also be associated with other, allospecific tree species with certain high impact functional traits such as nitrogen fixation (Forrester et al., 2006). Such impacts of species identity in the local neighbourhood have been found in multiple studies (Firn et al., 2007; Hantsch et al., 2013; Nadrowski et al., 2010; Setiawan et al., 2014), related to traits such as susceptibility to specialist pathogens (Hantsch et al., 2013) or tree size and its relationship to microclimate and apparency for insects (Castagneyrol et al., 2013; Hantsch et al., 2014). Tree size is obviously related to shading, which may have negative consequences for growth, but it also influences microclimate, possibly reducing the likelihood of spore-dispersing pathogens to find a host (Bock et al., 2010).

More recently, researchers have been looking into how positive effects of neighbourhood composition are influenced by other ecosystem characteristics, such as the resource stress the species present are suffering from (Jucker et al., 2015; Paquette and Messier, 2011; Steudel et al., 2012; Toïgo et al., 2015). They considered that such diversity effects might be stronger or more important under more stressful circumstances, for instance because this opens up more opportunities for (and therefore

more expected instances of) facilitation between species (Bertness and Callaway, 1994). Evidence supporting this so-called Stress Gradient Hypothesis (SGH) was found in multiple forest studies, finding stronger composition effects under less favorable site conditions (Eränen and Kozlov, 2008; Jucker et al., 2015; Paquette and Messier, 2011; Toïgo et al., 2015). If such a relationship were to be quite generic, it could have serious implications for conservation ecology and production ecosystems as these are associated with a trend of biodiversity loss or a low imposed species diversity respectively. Both are also expected to be subjected to increasing stress and disturbance events through the various mechanisms of Global Change, including climate change, invasive (pathogenic) species and changes in land use (Rockström et al., 2009). The realized diversity of both natural and synthetic ecosystems could therefore prove to be more important than currently perceived.

Here, we attempted to elucidate the relationship between local neighbourhood composition, growth and reduced rainfall in two young forest stands, which were each incorporated with a balanced tree species diversity gradient (Verheyen et al., 2013). Potted oak saplings were planted within the plantation and subjected to a reduced rainfall gradient. We hypothesized that local neighbourhood tree species richness would have a positive effect on tree growth or that the presence of certain tree species in the local neighbourhood influenced growth as an identity effect, in particular if this species was the same as the focal species (oak), due to the Janzen-Connell effect. To assess the mechanisms by which either such relationship might come to be, we compared both indices of neighbourhood composition to the severity of powdery mildew and to the degree of shading the focal tree was subjected to, as we expected these to be the most likely to operate on our potted oak saplings. We expected a negative effect of reduced rainfall on growth and stronger positive effects of neighbourhood composition along the reduced rainfall gradient.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Sites

Our experiment was set up within two sites of the FORBIO project, Zedelgem and Gedinne. FORBIO (FORest BIOdiversity and Ecosystem Functioning) is a network of three relatively large (ca. 9 ha) experimental forest sites in Belgium, 'designed specifically to test the effects of tree species diversity on forest ecosystem functioning' (Verheyen et al., 2013). In each site, young saplings of five different tree species were planted in compositions that ranged from monocultures to up to four different species mixed together. Due to differences in juvenile growth, the trees were always planted in groups of 3 by 3, sometimes 4 by 3. This would make it possible to sustain mixtures for a longer time, by reducing strong competitive interspecific interactions. All monocultures and four-species mixtures were represented, as well as 5 randomly selected

compositions for the other two species richness levels (Table A.1). These 20 compositions were replicated once for a total of 40 plots. Planting distance was 1.5 m x 1.5 m and typical plot size was 42 m x 42 m. 13 plots in Gedinne were only 42 m x 37.5 m (Fig. 1). Each site also had a few extra plots containing different provenances of *Quercus* (Zedelgem) or *Fagus* (Gedinne). These were not included in this experiment, which was limited to plots 1 - 41 in each site, omitting plot 38.

The site of Zedelgem was planted in late 2009 and early 2010 on former agricultural field with a sandy to loamy sandy soil. The five species used here are pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur*), European beech (*Fagus sylvatica*), Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), small-leaved lime (*Tilia cordata*) and silver birch (*Betula pendula*). The site of Gedinne was divided into two parts, about 4 km from each other and all composition levels were present in each site. The part called Gribelle has a stony soil and is more exposed than Gouverneurs, which has a shallow soil. Both were planted on Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) clearcuts in early spring 2010. The species used here are European beech, sessile oak (*Quercus petraea*), sycamore maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus*), hybrid larch (*Larix x eurolepis*) and Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*). Monthly rainfall data for 2013-2014, based on weather station proxies (KMI, Belgium), can be found for the oak growing season months in Table A.2. The summer of 2013 was rather dry, in particular in August, whereas the summer of 2014 was much wetter than normal. 2015 fell somewhere in between, with July being a bit drier than average but not as severe as August 2013. More info on the FORBIO sites can be found in Verheyen et al. (2013).



Fig. 1: Experimental design of the FORBIO sites of Zedelgem and Gedinne, with their location inside Belgium depicted in the top left corner. Each site consists of at least 40 plots with composition of 1 up to 4 different tree species. Our experiment was performed only in plots 1 - 41, not including plot 38. Each plot was set up similar to the grid structure depicted in the top right corner, where the different colors represent different tree species groups. Plots with two species were planted with the 3x3 groups alternating regularly like a checkerboard. Plots with three or four species had the species groups alternating randomly as in the example grid. Our phytometer plots were planted at points where the four adjacent FORBIO trees corresponded to the plot's species composition. This was not always possible at the center, in particular because four of the center spots had been allocated there already as permanent sampling plots for long-term monitoring and were therefore not usable for our experiment.

2.2. Experimental setup

In late April and early May 2013, one-year old saplings of oak were planted in pots between the trees of the FORBIO site. The same oak species was used as present in the site, but not the same provenance as some plots in Zedelgem contained multiple *Q. robur* provenances. Three such 'phytometers' were planted in 20 liter black pots and placed together between four of the older, larger trees (1-3 m higher) in each of the 40 plots (Fig. 1). These black pots had drainage holes in the bottom and were placed in the ground to reduce solar heat absorption and ensure that the soil level was more or less equal in and outside of the pots. The four neighbouring FORBIO trees were always representative of the whole plot's composition. We set up our phytometers as far from the plot edge as possible (i.e. close to the center), but in practice this was not always

the case for mixtures of 3 or 4 species (cfr. Fig. A.1 and A.2). In those plots, the crossings were the surrounding composition matched were limited and often already claimed as permanent sampling plots for long term study of the sites. Soil from the sites themselves was used, collected from an unused patch in Zedelgem and from two separate patches for the two blocks in Gedinne for logistic reasons. No potting soil was used as a difference in nutrient status might influence the attractivity of the phytometers to herbivore pests (White, 1984).

Late May (Zedelgem) and late June (Gedinne) in the same year, a reduced rainfall treatment was installed on these phytometers. Small PVC gutters with a diameter of 3.2 cm were placed above the pot surface but below the tree canopy in two of the three phytometers of every plot. One and two pairs of gutters were used as can be seen in Fig. 2. The theoretical interception rates based on pot surface covered are 18 and 35%, mimicking average summer precipitation reduction expectations for the region according to climate model predictions (Willems et al., 2009). The interception treatments were defined as the control (0% interception), the medium treatment (18%) and the severe treatment (35%). In 5 of the 40 plots, collectors were installed at the gutter ends (Fig. 2) to obtain estimates of the rainfall removal.



Fig. 2: Example of a plot with three potted Quercus phytometers. One and two gutters on each side of the sapling correspond to the medium (-18%) and severe (-35%) rainfall reduction treatment respectively. Surrounding the three pots are four larger FORBIO trees, always in mixtures at the crossing of four different three by three planting blocks.

The pots were kept free of major understorey influence by frequent weeding and the collectors were measured and emptied regularly. A full precipitation assessment of the growing season was not possible, as the four-gutter collectors could overflow after one major rain event (max. 33 mm per collector). The rainfall reduction treatment was removed at the end of each growing season (late October, early November) and reinstated in early May, because winter precipitation reductions per climate change are unexpected for this region (Willems et al., 2009).

In July and August of 2015, volumetric soil moisture content was measured in all pots using a ML3 ThetaProbe (Delta-T Devices). For each pot, two measurements were made at the pot surface (0-6 cm) and two at a depth of 14-20 cm, using a small PVC tube to gather soil from this depth and subsequently inserting the ThetaProbe's sensor pins into the entubed soil to perform the measurement. This depth measurement was not possible in the Gribelle part of the Gedinne site due to the high number of rocks in the soil. A third measurement at the surface was made instead. The standard conversion parameters for a mineral soil type were used for both sites, as the carbon content fell within the suggested interval.

2.3. Monitoring protocol

To assess annual growth rates, stem diameters were measured using digital calipers (0.01 mm accuracy, rounded to 0.1 mm) at the start of the experiment and between growing seasons. Each time, two perpendicular measurements were made at the level of the pot surface and averaged. The level of the pot surface was chosen as a fixed point for repeated measurements. The height (cm) was assessed as the length of the main (or longest) shoot between the growing seasons, but not at the start of the experiment.

A monitoring for leaf damage symptoms was undertaken in July, August, October 2013; July, September 2014 and August 2015 in Zedelgem as well as in July and August 2013, 2014 and August 2015 in Gedinne. First order shoots, i.e. shoots on the main stem or, in unclear cases, all main stems, were scored for different leaf damage symptoms using four % classes: 0-5%, 5-30%, 30-60% and 60-100% of leaf area affected. Different symptoms were scored separately. To correct for increasingly differing sizes of the first order shoots, from October 2013 onwards relative leaf area weights were estimated for each shoot. To determine these weights, we assumed an average-sized single oak leaf from the lower canopy to have a leaf area of 1 and subsequently approximated the total leaf area of each first order shoot in multiplications of such an oak leaf unit (e.g. a single shoot might have a total leaf area of approximately 12 average-sized leaves). We used a typical lower canopy leaf as our single unit, because leaves growing alone from the main stem were mostly only found there. These

weights were later used to calculate a weighted average symptom score at the whole tree level.

Other than oak powdery mildew (PM), the following leaf damage symptoms were also assessed: chewing, skeletonization, mining and brown discoloration. Leaf galls were counted at the shoot level; no gall species differentiation was made, but a grand majority were Cynips divisa. This differentiation was based on results from previous surveys on the FORBIO trees (Setiawan et al., 2014) and a pilot survey on the phytometers. During this pilot survey, the presence of these symptoms on the older FORBIO trees was also ascertained. Symptoms were only assessed during dry weather conditions, as PM hyphae become less visible when a leaf is wet. Monitoring of all symptoms was continued for all measuring moments, but PM was the most important symptom by far. Leaf chewing overall only minimally reduced leaf area and was impossible to quantify accurately when it was significant, as this typically surmounted to whole leaf or shoot loss. Leaf mining was rare, while skeletonization was limited mostly to the end of the growing season only, when its impact on growth was expected to be minimal. Brown discoloration was more abundant, but could be linked to various different, not very easily differentiable causes, including late spring frost, drought stress, PM-induced mortality and early onset of autumn. Galls were only found in less than 20% of our trees. Hence, we opted to only take the PM data into account for further analysis. Data of all symptoms can be found in the supplemented data files for this paper.

In July and August of 2015, the degree of shading for each phytometer was estimated using a spherical densiometer (Baudry et al., 2014). A % value for East, South and West was determined separately above each sapling. Collinearity between these values was high, so an average was calculated for each phytometer and used in the further analysis.

2.4. Calculations

Class scores of leaf damage symptoms were scaled up to phytometer level by averaging the class mids (0, 17.5, 45 and 80 %), using the relative shoot size scores as weights if available. For the lowest 0-5% class, 0 was used instead of the class mid as this class was supposed to correct for the difficulty in determining very small or beginning infestations. Hence, using the class mid would distort the meaning of the 0 value in this case. The galls count data were not averaged but summed.

The diameters were transformed into (circular) basal area (mm²) and its relative increment (BAI_r) calculated for the 2013, 2014 and 2015 growing seasons as well as across all three seasons. Relative height increment (HI_r) was determined similarly, though only from winter 2013-2014 onwards:

$$BAI_r = \frac{BA_2 - BA_1}{BA_1}; HI_r = \frac{H_2 - H_1}{H_1}$$

One phytometer with the severe reduced rainfall treatment in a beech monoculture was dead in Gedinne by the 2014 growing seasons (cause unknown). Six phytometers were dead in Zedelgem by 2014, mostly because of attack by macro-herbivores (hare, rabbit, possibly wild boar). Three of these were in the same plot, a 4-species mixture without birch. The other three were in an oak monoculture (medium rainfall reduction treatment), an oak-beech mixture (medium) and a 4-species mixture without lime (severe). All of these were omitted from all analyses. Three incorrect measurements (two diameter, one height) in Zedelgem were also omitted from the growth models.

2.5. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R (R Core Team, 2015). Mixed models were run using the package *Ime4* (Bates et al., 2015), with *ImerTest* extension (Kuznetsova et al., 2015) to determine Satterthwaithe approximated p-values.

The soil moisture content (SMC) data were compared to the reduced rainfall treatment using a linear mixed model with intercept. In Zedelgem, weather conditions preceding the measurements in block 2 were much drier than those in block 1. In Gedinne, the stone density of the soil in block 1 made measurements at a depth of 14-20 cm impossible. The model was therefore run separately for the two sites and for the two replication blocks within each site. For post hoc analysis, the model was always run a second time with a different reduced rainfall treatment as reference value. Alpha was corrected using the Šidák correction. Conditional and marginal pseudo-R² values were determined using the approach of Nakagawa & Schielzeth (2013), implemented in the R package *MuMIn* (Barton, 2016).

SMC(%) = RR + D + SH + RR * D + RR * SH + D * SH

RR: The three level reduced rainfall treatment.

D: Factor for the depth the measurement was made at (0-6 cm and 14-20 cm).

SH: Degree of shading in %; centered around the mean.

The analysis of the growth, powdery mildew and shading data was performed for each site separately, as the conditions of soil, climate and tree species composition were all different. Composition was determined for the local neighbourhood, which was defined as the 4 FORBIO trees surrounding the phytometer plots. Due to the 3x3 group-planted FORBIO design, this also corresponds to the tree composition of the 36 FORBIO trees closest to the phytometer plot. All models were linear mixed models with plot as random factor and including an intercept.

First, the relationship between the annual or total relative increments and neighbourhood composition was tested. The model used also incorporated the reduced rainfall treatment and its interaction with composition, to test for the Stress Gradient Hypothesis. The indices of composition, richness and identity, could not be tested together in the same model, as richness would always be a linear combination of all identity effects.

$$BAI_r \text{ or } HI_r = SR + RR + SR * RR + B$$
$$BAI_r \text{ or } HI_r = \sum_{i=1}^{5} SP_i + RR + \sum_{i=1}^{5} SP_i * RR + B$$

SR: Tree Species Richness in the local neighbourhood, gradient from 1 to 4.

B: The two replicates ('blocks') of all treatments.

SP*_i*: The presence/absence in the local neighbourhood of the five species present in the site.

Second, similar models tested the relationship between neighbourhood composition and the two potential driving mechanisms: PM infection severity and the level of shading (SH) in 2015. PM levels of the different measuring moments were included separately, as PM infections can occur throughout the growing season while the Lammas shoots develop.

$$PM \text{ or } SH = SR + RR + SR * RR + B$$

$$PM \text{ or } SH = \sum_{i=1}^{5} SP_i + RR + \sum_{i=1}^{5} SP_i * RR + B$$

$$PM \text{ or } SH = (1 + 1) + (2 + 1) +$$

PM: *PM* infection severity (% of total leaf area affected).

SH: Degree of shading in 2015 (%).

Finally, we linked the driving mechanisms directly to relative increment. The mechanism variables were individually centered around their mean and rescaled from percentages to fractions, both to facilitate interpretation of their effect sizes.

$$BAI_r \text{ or } HI_r = SH + \sum_{i=1}^n PM_i + B$$

SH: Degree of shading, as a fraction between 0 and 1. Centered around the mean.

PM_i: PM infection severity, as a fraction between 0 and 1. Centered around the mean.

If residual heterogeneity was present, square root transformations were applied, adding a constant equal to the lowest value of the response variable if it was negative. Multicollinearity was evaluated with Variance Inflation Factors, using a modified function of the package *rms* (https://github.com/aufrank/R-hacks/blob/master/mer-utils.R).

3. Results

3.1. Treatment validation

A combined dataset of all ratios of reduced rainfall treatment collectors compared to the in-plot control collector yielded 67 values for the pots with one pair of gutters and 61 for those with two pairs. Average interception rates were estimated in confidence intervals of $12.95 \pm 0.9\%$ and $26.13 \pm 1.6\%$, respectively, which correspond relatively well with the theoretical interception rates of 18% and 35%. These values were all determined for Zedelgem, as there was not enough good data for a similar assessment in Gedinne due to frequent collector failure. However, as the same design was used in both sites, we assume the Zedelgem values to be fairly representative.

The results of the soil moisture content models can be found in Table A.3. A barchart differentiating the most important predictors can be found in Fig. 3. The difference in soil moisture content was 2 to 3%; always significant between the control and the most severe reduced rainfall treatment, but the medium treatment did not always differ from the severe or control treatment. Measurements at 14-20 cm depth in Zedelgem showed larger differences than those at the surface, although this interaction was not significant. The level of shading had little impact on soil moisture content (Table A.3).



Fig. 3: Soil moisture contents and their confidence intervals separated between block and measurement depth for the sites of a) Zedelgem and b) Gedinne. Black bars indicate the control, light grey bars the most severe reduced rainfall treatment. There were no measurements at 14-20 cm in block 1 of Gedinne ('Gribelle') due to the high stone content. Significant differences according to the models is indicated using the digits a and b. Note that the model was not run separately for different depths of measurement and that the interaction between depth and level of rainfall reduction was never significant (Table A3). Hence, the graphical interpretation of the confidence intervals may differ from the mixed model results.

In our composition model results, there were little to no effects of the reduced rainfall treatment in Zedelgem or Gedinne. Our collector data supported that precipitation was

removed as expected and we did see an effect of the treatment on soil moisture content (SMC). However, the effect on SMC was only minor and did not consistently follow our interception gradient. Therefore, we also ran all models without the reduced rainfall treatment or its interactions to facilitate interpretation of our other two hypotheses. The results of these simplified models can be found in Tables 1 to 3. The original results, including the reduced rainfall effects, can be found in Tables A.4 to A.7.

3.2. Model results

Neither BAI_r or HI_r were influenced by species richness in either of the two sites (Table 1). In contrast, particularly in Zedelgem, there were strong effects of identity. From 2014 on the presence of oak had in Zedelgem an increasingly negative significant impact on BAI_r as well as on HI_r in the 2015 growing season. A less strong, but still overall negative impact of oak was found in Gedinne, but this was only significant in the 2014 growing season (Fig. 4). Other identity effects were less strong or consistent, though the presence of beech and lime did seem to be generally beneficial in Zedelgem, while the presence of larch improved HI_r in Gedinne.



Fig. 4: Relative increment of basal area (BA) and height (H) in a) Zedelgem and b) Gedinne from 2013 to 2015 and across the three years. Bars in dark are phytometers without oak in the local neighbourhood, whereas grey bars represent phytometers with oak. Confidence intervals at 95% are indicated. Significant differences according to the models is indicated using the digits a and b.

Species richness did have a negative impact on PM symptoms in Gedinne in August 2013 and 2015, while the trend was negative at other times as well (Table 2). Graphic exploration and running the model with species richness as a factor variable revealed that this was caused by a strong difference between monocultures and the three other richness levels. Increasing richness also had a strong negative influence on the level of shading in Zedelgem, but did not seem to influence PM levels. Identity effects increasing the infectivity of PM were found for oak and to a lesser extent lime in Zedelgem, and for none of the five species in Gedinne. Mitigating effects were found for pine and to a lesser extent beech in Zedelgem, and weakly for larch and beech in

Gedinne. Strikingly, maple in Gedinne had a mitigating effect in 2013 and 2015, while its effect was (not-significantly) positive in 2014. Unexpectedly, oak in Gedinne had barely any impact on PM levels, with the small effect sizes even being mostly negative. Levels of shading in Zedelgem differed markedly between the two extremes of either birch and pine or beech and lime. Oak fell somewhere in between. In Gedinne, larch caused most shading by far, while maple was associated with the least – most likely related to its high mortality in the site with 20% of the local neighbourhood maples deceased.

Negative effects of PM on BAI_r were found in both sites (Table 3). Correlation within years as measured with VIF's was high in Gedinne, but not in Zedelgem. Because of this, the August data for Gedinne were dropped from the models. Negative effects were strongest in Zedelgem in July 2014, which seemed to dominate all other PM responses despite the poor level of multicollinearity and also had a negative impact on the following year both in terms of BAI_r and HI_r. PM effects were less strong in Gedinne and did not have an effect on growth in 2015. Shading had a negative impact on BAI_r in Zedelgem, contrasting with a positive impact on both BAI_r and HI_r in Gedinne.

semi-significant parameter estimates are shown in bold, with °, *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 and <0.01 respectively. B is the blocking factor. The intercept C was virtually always significant and was included in the table to allow interpreting the order of magnitude Table 1: Table with the species richness and identity model results for basal area and height increment in Zedelgem and Gedinne. Significant or indicating that the response variable was first pre-transformed by adding a constant to have a minimum of 0. These minima can be found in the of the different parameter effect sizes. Square root (sqrt) transformations to compensate for residual heterogeneity are indicated, with an strightmost column.

							Zedel	gem					
		Specie	s Richne	SSS				Speci	es Ideni	tity			
	ff	SR	в	ပ	ťf	Oak	Beech	Lime	Birch	Pine	в	с U	Min
BAI13	sqrt*	0.03°	-0.05	0.82***	sqrt*	-0.02	0.09**	0.10**	-0.02	-0.01	-0.05°	0.82***	-0.35
BAI14	sqrt*	-0.01	-0.06	0.88***	sqrt*	-0.12**	00.00	0.04	-0.02	0.05	-0.05	0.88***	-0.32
BAI15	sqrt*	0.01	-0.02	1.18***	sqrt*	-0.13*	0.12*	0.08	-0.03	0.00	-0.02	1.18***	-0.83
BAltot	sqrt*	0.01	-0.19	1.64***	sqrt*	-0.34**	0.27*	0.24*	-0.09	00.0	-0.20°	1.64***	-0.85
HI14		0.00	-0.07*	0.18***	sqrt*	0.00	-0.02	0.02	-0.02	0.02	-0.04*	0.86***	-0.20
HI15		0.01	-0.06	0.29*	sqrt*	-0.11*	0.05	0.07	0.06	0.01	0.00	0.92***	-0.68
Hltot		0.03	-0.14	0.48***	sqrt*	-0.11°	0.05	0.12*	0.04	0.04	-0.03	0.94***	-0.57
							Gedi	nne					
								Maple	Larch	Douglas			
BAI13	sqrt*	-0.01	-0.05	1.09***	sqrt*	-0.02	-0.04	-0.04	0.07	-0.01	-0.05	1.09***	-0.76
BAI14	sqrt*	0.01	0.16**	0.77***	sqrt*	-0.12*	0.04	-0.01	0.00	0.12*	0.16**	0.77***	-0.62
BAI15	sqrt*	0.01	0.02	1.06***	sqrt*	0.07	-0.07	-0.01	0.03	0.00	0.02	1.06***	-0.74
BAltot	sqrt*	0.00	0.17	1.30***	sqrt*	-0.07	-0.10	-0.08	0.12	0.13	0.17	1.30***	-0.78
HI14	sqrt*	-0.01	0.02	0.68***	sqrt*	-0.05	-0.05	-0.01	0.07	0.03	0.01	0.69***	-0.33
HI15	sqrt*	0.01	0.02	0.73***	sqrt*	0.02	-0.03	-0.03	0.08*	0.00	0.02	0.73***	-0.43
Hltot	sqrt*	00.00	0.04	0.90***	sqrt*	-0.01	-0.08	-0.05	0.13*	0.04	0.04	0.90***	-0.55

61

the blocking factor. The intercept C was virtually always significant and was included in the table to allow interpreting the order of magnitude of the significant parameter estimates are shown in bold, with ", *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001 respectively. B is Table 2: Table with the species richness and identity model results for PM and shading levels in Zedelgem and Gedinne. Significant or semidifferent parameter effect sizes. Square root (sqrt) transformations to compensate for residual heterogeneity are indicated.

		-							1							
		ပ	1.66***	2.91***	3.83***	4.38***	3.09***	38.12***			4.96***	6.07***	4.46***	5.55***	4.29***	3 92**
		в	1.07**	0.45°	0.05	-0.09	1.36**	6.01			0.50	0:30	-1.00*	-0.92*	-0.08	0 71
		Pine	-0.69*	-0.55*	-0.30	-0.58	-0.59	20.11***		Douglas	-0.58	-0.02	0.42	0.03	-0.29	0.68
	es Identity	Birch	-0.29	0.24	-0.10	-0.18	0.33	31.10***		Larch	0.11	-0.37	-0.46	-0.92*	-0.34	2_67***
	Speci	Lime	0.54	0.73**	0.42	-0.39	0.46	-7.23		Maple	-0.42	-0.57*	0.60	0.41	-0.73°	-1.85**
edelgem		Beech	-0.49	-0.35	-0.32	-0.36	-0.42	-6.04	Gedinne		-0.36	-0.33	-0.29	-0.50	-1.08*	-0.59
7		Oak	0.45	-0.15	0.64*	1.59***	0.65	4.33)		-0.39	-0.10	-0.44	0.13	-0.26	0.58
	s Richness	đ	sqrt	sqrt	sqrt	sqrt	sqrt				sqrt	sqrt	sqrt	sqrt	sqrt	
		ပ	1.64**	2.90***	3.81***	4.36***	3.06***	37.52***			26.73***	38.21***	4.47***	5.56***	4.30***	3 92*
		в	1.09**	0.44	0.06	-0.07	1.36**	4.71			4.35	3.56	-1.00*	-0.93*	-0.09	0 71
	Specie	SR	-0.09	0.00	0.07	0.01	0.10	9.2**			-2.09	-3.06*	-0.04	-0.17	-0.54**	0.30
		Ħ	sqrt	sqrt	sqrt	sqrt	sqrt						sqrt	sqrt	sqrt	
			Jul 13	Aug 13	Oct 13	Jul 14	Sep 14	Shade	_		Jul 13	Aug 13	Jul 14	Aug 14	Aug 15	Shade

Inflation Factor > 2). No measurements were undertaken in Gedinne in October 2013 or September 2014, or in Zedelgem in August 2014. PM was different parameter effect sizes. Square root (sqrt) transformations to compensate for residual heterogeneity are indicated, with an * indicating that Table 3: Table with the PM and shading level results for basal area and height increment in Zedelgem and Gedinne. Significant or semi-significant growth took place or because the collinearity with other PM predictors was too high, as was the case for August 13 and 14 in Gedinne (Variance column. Empty cells indicate that the PM predictor was not used in this model, either because it was a measurement from a later year than the blocking factor. The intercept C was virtually always significant and was included in the table to allow interpreting the order of magnitude of the oarameter estimates are shown in bold, with °, *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001 respectively. B is the the response variable was first pre-transformed by adding a constant to have a minimum of 0. These minima can be found in the rightmost mostly absent from Zedelgem in August 2015.

						Zedelge	me				
	ff	Shade	В	Jul 13	Aug 13	Oct 13	Jul 14	Sep 14	Aug 15	с U	Min
BAI13	sqrt*	-0.12°	-0.05	-0.03	0.24	-0.2				0.89***	-0.35
BAI14	sqrt*	-0.07	-0.07°	-0.27	0.13	-0.07	-0.39***	0.24°		0.94***	-0.32
BAI15	sqrt*	-0.18*	-0.01	-0.27	0.03	-0.02	-0.58***	0.10		1.20***	-0.83
BAltot	sqrt*	-0.38*	-0.20°	-0.42	0.15	-0.15	-1.13***	0.30		1.68***	-0.85
HI14		-0.02	-0.06°	-0.14	-0.10	-0.02	-0.10	0.02		0.18***	
HI15		0.03	-0.08	0.27	0.02	-0.06	-0.40*	0.03		0.33***	
Hltot		0.00	-0.15	-0.28	-0.09	0.13	-0.72**	0.03		0.55***	
						Gedinr	Je				
BAI13	sqrt*	0.22*	-0.06	-0.13						1.08***	-0.76
BAI14	sqrt*	-0.11	0.14*	-0.20			-0.51*			0.82***	-0.62
BAI15	sqrt*	0.07	0.03	-0.11			0.15		-0.01	1.06***	-0.74
BAltot	sqrt*	0.32°	0.13	-0.46°			-0.56		-0.22	1.35***	-0.78
HI14	sqrt*	-0.07	0.03	0.02			0.13			0.64***	-0.33
HI15	sqrt*	0.16*	0.01	-0.13			-0.16		-0.09	0.78***	-0.43
Hltot	sqrt*	0.14	0.03	-0.06			-0.04		-0.19	0.93***	-0.55

63

4. Discussion

In our experiment, effects of identity were much more important than those of species richness, which did not seem to have an influence on growth at all in either site. While other studies have found positive effects of increased species richness on basal area (Piotto, 2008) and height increment (Haase et al., 2015) of young trees, these effects were generally small and mostly a difference between monoculture and mixture, not a gradient effect. However, such a binary effect on growth was not seen in our experiment either (data not shown). In our design, increasing species richness did not correspond to increased dilution of hosts for specialist herbivores and pathogens, as the probability of a specific species being present increased along the richness gradient, while species density was constant across all richness levels. Hence, we would not expect a species richness effect through host dilution, whereas such host-density mediated effects have been found elsewhere (Hantsch et al., 2013; Peacock et al., 2001). This suggests that, at least in young forests, the influence of neighbourhood tree species richness lies more with resource dilution for specialist herbivores and pathogens, rather than effects of altered local environment (Hantsch et al., 2014) or by increased support for natural enemies (Jactel et al., 2005).

Support for a negative identity effect of the presence of oak on growth was found in both sites, but the strongest effect by far was in Zedelgem. While mortality was too low to assess a Janzen-Connell effect *sensu stricto*, growth reductions were substantial, with BAI_r from 2013 to 2015 being 54% lower and HI_r 61% from 2014 to 2015, when comparing plots without to plots with oak in Zedelgem (Table 1). This effect only became apparent from 2014 onwards, when a late frost in May killed the majority of first flush leaves in both sites. A second leaf flush was formed earlier than normal in June and was swiftly colonized by oak PM, as evidenced by the high levels seen in July in Zedelgem. This is not surprising, as initial oak PM sexual spore production is known to peak about a month after bud burst (Feau et al., 2012) and oak leaves are most vulnerable to PM infection in the first two weeks of their development (Edwards and Ayres, 1982).

Oak PM was mostly absent from Zedelgem in 2015, suggesting a carry-over effect from 2014's poor growth rates or mechanisms by other pests or pathogens to explain the ongoing negative effect of oak presence. However, we found no evidence of significant damage by other pests and we found strong negative relationships between oak PM levels and growth rates, most strongly the PM levels of July 2014. Other authors have not found such host-mediated impacts on oak PM levels (Hantsch et al., 2014). This might be explained by a different approach to identity effects, as we looked at absence or presence, whereas they looked at host density. The *Quercus* species studied by Hantsch et al. (2014), *Q. petraea*, is also known to be less susceptible to oak PM (Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012) than the one present in Zedelgem, *Q. robur*. If an

identity effect is weaker and predominantly an asymptotic effect of presence, it might not be identified using density metrics.

In Gedinne, we also used Q. petraea rather than Q. robur and the negative effect of oak presence on growth was less strong there, being only significant in 2014, reverting to positive in 2015 and having no effect on height increment. Similarly, the negative effects of oak PM on growth were also lower and did not cross over into 2015, despite oak PM infections still being significant that year. The most likely explanation is, again, the lower susceptibility of Q. petraea to oak PM (Marcais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012), Yet, PM rates in Gedinne were found to be often higher in monocultures than in mixtures, which cannot be explained by a Janzen-Connell effect as monoculture neighbourhoods in our experiment could also consist of a different species and implied the lowest probability of encountering a specific species. A possible explanation could be that the monotonous environment as a result of a low functional diversity generates a stable physical environment that facilitates infections. A previous study found only a weak effect of functional diversity which even promoted herbivory instead (Haase et al., 2015), but this was attributed to associational susceptibility where the herbivores could benefit from a more diverse diet. This would not be the case for oak PM, a specialist parasite. A study covering oak PM on Q. petraea found a mitigating effect of tree species richness on PM infections that was not related to host dilution, but they could link it to identity effects of certain non-host tree species (Hantsch et al., 2014). In their experiment, an increasing proportion of coniferous species decreased fungal infestation, while Fraxinus excelsior, which suffered severely from ash dieback, had the opposite effect. Diseased trees with poorly developed crowns might have a reduced ability to conceal their neighbours from infectious spores, analogous to an increased apparency for herbivores (Castagneyrol et al., 2013). However, this contrasts with the mitigating effect of maple on PM infection in our experiment, as the species also suffered from poor vitality and even mortality (Van de Peer et al., 2016). Further supporting the theory that environmental conditions, rather than effective dispersal, were limiting to oak PM in this site is the absence of a link between oak presence and oak PM infection levels. A link to natural enemies seems unlikely too, as almost no signs of PM grazing were found and mycophagous ladybirds (Sutherland and Parrella, 2009) were only very rarely spotted within this site.

The presence of beech and lime in Zedelgem had positive effects on growth, though it is not immediately clear why. While lime had a positive effect on BAI_r and HI_r, beech had no influence on HI_r. In contrast with the effect of oak, both species did not have an impact in 2014. Beech and lime were associated with lower levels of shading than the other three species, in particular pine and birch (Table 3). Hence, an effect of diminished light competition might be at work here, in particular as we do not find these identity effects in 2014. That year, growth was suboptimal due to late spring frost and subsequent severe oak PM infections. These drivers would have been limiting rather

than competition for resources. Both a facilitative nursing effect and a mechanism through pathogen mediation seem less supported by our data, as we would expect drought to be more severe under more open canopies and we found contrasting results for the impact of beech and lime presence on oak PM levels (Table 2).

The presence of larch in Gedinne was positively related to height increment in 2015. Larch was the most shade-casting species, but greater levels of shading are not known to influence juvenile height growth in *Quercus* (Jensen et al., 2012; Niinemets, 1998). Nevertheless, greater levels of shading were also associated with greater HI_r in 2015 in Gedinne. Possibly a protective microclimate effect by large, nursing larches is an explanation, though we do not see this relationship to hold for BAI_r.

Data from the soil moisture content measurements and the lack of strong, consistent effects in our models suggests that our reduced rainfall treatment had little effect on the drought stress of our phytometers, even in very dry months such as August 2013. Interception rates as measured by the collectors fit our expectations, with the lower values found explainable by evaporation from the gutters and possibly even the dug-in collectors themselves. The soil moisture content values were generally 2 to 3% lower in the most severe treatment as compared to the control, and this effect generally increased at the depth of 14 to 20 cm as suggested by the effect size of the interaction between measurement depth and interception treatment (Table S2). Hence, there was also less water inside the treated pots than in the controls, but possibly not sufficient to become limiting even during dry spells. In addition, oak is considered to be quite tolerant of drought and not at great risk concerning expected climatic changes in summer precipitation (Campioli et al., 2012). However, such risks are typically evaluated in terms of mortality, not growth. Drought stress has been found to reduce growth for oak, even if compensatory leaf flushes follow the dry spell (Kuster et al., 2011; Scharnweber et al., 2011; Spieß et al., 2012).

5. Conclusion

In this study, we found a negative identity effect on growth of oak presence in the local neighbourhood of a young forest, which can be seen as a Janzen-Connell effect working primarily through the host-specific pathogen powdery mildew. This effect was seen in both our experimental sites but differed considerably in its strength, which might be explained by contrasting abiotic conditions or by the lower susceptibility to PM of *Q. petraea.* Other identity effects could be related to different levels of shading as a result of different juvenile growth rates of the tree species in the local neighbourhood. We found no effect of species richness influencing growth, but we did find higher PM levels in monocultures regardless of whether the neighbour species was the same species as our phytometers. We found no effects of reduced rainfall but this might change if a treatment with a stronger impact on soil moisture conditions is applied. We did find

contrasting effects of shading on growth between the sites of Zedelgem and Gedinne, which might be related to their differences in edaphic and microclimatic conditions. More research is needed to disentangle the influence of environmental conditions such as shading or rainfall on growth and oak PM infections, in particular concerning the impact of tree species that show poor vitality (such as *F. excelsior* due to ash dieback) and may therefore cast less shade or have lower apparency. The implications of our findings may not hold for other species than *Quercus* or for older stands, in particular given the strong impact of the specialist PM fungus. However, even if the contemporary impact of PM infections decreases with tree age, it might still be interesting to study the effect of young sapling infections on vitality and size in older trees. If severe PM infections are expected in a plantation, (temporarily) mixing the oak stand with other tree species at an individual level can be recommended to mitigate the spread of spores and reduce the odds of initial infection, as well as opting for *Q. petraea* over *Q. robur*.

6. Acknowledgments

MD was supported in this research by an FWO and an Ubbo Emmius grant. We would like to thank Luc Willems, Kris Ceunen and Filip Ceunen for their help with setting up the experiment and performing the fieldwork, as well as Evy Ampoorter for help with the statistical analysis.

Appendix

Table A1: Species combinations used for the two- and three-species mixtures in Zedelgem (Z) and Gedinne (G). Species are listed by their abbreviated scientific names: Quercus, Fagus, Tilia, Betula, Pinus, Acer, Larix and Pseudotsuga. Designs were similar in both sites, hence the symmetry of the matrices with only three of the five species replaced by others. x indicates species which were combined, A - E represent the five three-species mixtures.





Fig. A1: Location of the phytometer plots in Zedelgem. The plot numbers have been removed to see the locations more clearly, they can be found in Fig. 1 in the manuscript.



Fig. A2: Location of the phytometer plots in Gribelle (left) and Gouverneurs (right). The plot numbers have been removed to see the locations more clearly, they can be found in Fig. 1 in the manuscript.

Table A2: Monthly rainfall in mm for the growing season months of oak in the experiment, based on data from weather stations nearby (approximated straight distance from the sites indicated).

		Z	edelgem	1		<u>c</u>	Gedinne	
		Lichte	rvelde 14	4 km		Biè	vre 5-7 k	m
	2013	2014	2015	1981-2010	2013	2014	2015	1981-2010
May	82	84	73.3	62	145	108	56.5	90
June	43	75	34.1	70	104	94	48.4	88
July	75	153	51.4	72	68	133	70.3	94
August	27	112	119.3	76	43	155	130.5	94
September	90	8	61.4	76	134	134 35.5		86
October	141	66	35.7	85	139	121	40.7	114

Table A3: Results of the soil moisture content models for Zedelgem and Gedinne. ***, ** and * imply pvalues of <0.001, <0.01 and <0.05 respectively. The third column describes the results of retesting the models with a different reduced rainfall treatment as intercept, with the Šidák correction applied to α . 0, 1 and 2 refer to the three reduced rainfall treatments, with 0 the control and 2 the most severe treatment. SH is the shading % and was centered around its mean. Depth (d) was not a factor in Block 1 of Gedinne as all measurements there were taken at the surface.

		ZE	EDE	LGEM				G	ED	INNE		
	Blo	ck 1		Blo	ock 2		Blo	ck 1		Blo	ck 2	
R ² (marginal)	0.17			0.23			0.14			0.36		
R ² (conditional)	0.57			0.68			0.60			0.62		
0 (intercept)	20.78	***	а	14.84	***	а	17.55	***	а	16.62	***	а
1	-3.11	***	b	-1.94	*	b	0.06		а	-2.08	**	b
2	-3.60	***	b	-1.39		ab	-3.09	***	b	-2.92	***	b
d	0.45			-3.80	***					3.48	***	
SH	-0.01			-0.05			0.01			0.14	***	
1*d	-1.50			-1.01						0.34		
2*d	-1.55			-0.89						-0.21		
1*SH	0.02			-0.02			0.03			-0.10	***	b
2*SH	0.02			0.04	*		-0.02			-0.08	***	b
d*SH	0.01			0.01						0.00		
Table A4: Table with the species richness (SR) and reduced rainfall gradient model results for basal area and height increment in Zedelgem and Gedinne. Significant or semi-significant parameter estimates are shown in bold, with °, *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001 respectively. The reduced rainfall effects are indicated as 1 (medium) and 2 (severe treatment). B is the block factor. The intercept C was virtually always significant and was included in the table to allow interpreting the order of magnitude of the different parameter effect sizes. Square root transformations to compensate for residual heterogeneity are indicated, with an * indicating that the response variable was first pretransformed by adding a constant to have a minimum of 0.

				Ze	edelgem			
	tf	SR	1	2	1*SR	2*SR	В	С
BAI13	sqrt*	0.00	-0.17°	0.03	0.09*	-0.01	-0.06°	0.87***
BAI14	sqrt*	-0.01	0.04	0.04	-0.01	0.01	-0.05	0.86***
BAI15	sqrt*	0.06°	0.23*	0.26**	-0.07°	-0.09**	-0.02	1.02***
BAltot	sqrt*	0.05	0.11	0.37*	0.00	-0.11°	-0.20	1.48***
HI14		0.01	0.08	0.01	-0.02	-0.01	-0.07*	0.15*
HI15		0.02	-0.01	0.06	-0.01	-0.01	-0.06	0.26°
Hltot		0.08	0.25	0.24	-0.08	-0.08	-0.15	0.32*
				G	Gedinne			
	tf	SR	1	2	1*SR	2*SR	В	С
BAI13	sqrt*	0.01	0.16	0.05	-0.05	-0.00	-0.05	1.02***
BAI14	sqrt*	0.00	-0.02	0.23	0.04	-0.02	0.16*	0.71***
BAI15	sqrt*	0.04	0.11	-0.07	-0.07°	-0.02	0.02	1.05***
BAltot	sqrt*	0.03	0.25	0.23	-0.07	-0.04	0.16	1.15***
HI14	sqrt*	0.01	0.05	-0.05	-0.05°	0.01	0.02	0.68***
HI15	sqrt*	0.04°	0.12	0.13	-0.06°	-0.04	0.02	0.65***
Hltot	sqrt*	0.04	0.12	0.05	-0.09*	-0.03	0.04	0.85***

Pseudotsuga. The reduced rainfall effects are indicated as 1 (medium) and 2 (severe treatment). B is the block factor. The intercept C was always Gedinne. Significant or semi-significant parameter estimates are shown in bold, with °, *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 variables were square root transformed to compensate for residual heterogeneity, but also first pre-transformed by adding a constant to have a significant (***) and was included in the table to allow interpreting the order of magnitude of the different parameter effect sizes. All response Table A5: Table with the species identity and reduced rainfall gradient model results for basal area and height increment in Zedelgem and and <0.001 respectively. Species are listed by their abbreviated scientific names: Quercus, Fagus, Tilia, Betula, Pinus, Acer, Larix and minimum of 0.

									. 1	Zedelge	me								
	Qu	Fa	ц	Be	Ä	1	2	Qu*1	Qu*2	Fa*1	Fa*2	Ti*1	Ті*2	Be*1	Be*2	Pi*1	Pi*2	В	c
BAI13	-0.03	0.03	0.14*	-0.03	-0.07	-0.17°	0.03	0.08	-0.04	0.18*	0.01	-0.01	-0.10	0.03	0.02	0.15°	0.03	-0.06°	0.87
BAI14	-0.14*	0.01	0.07	-0.03	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.06	0.00	-0.07	0.03	-0.05	-0.05	-0.03	0.05	0.06	-0.01	-0.06	0.85
BAI15	-0.09	0.12°	0.22**	00.0	0.06	0.23*	0.26**	-0.09	-0.02	0.06	-0.04	-0.22**	-0.21**	-0.01	-0.09	-0.08	-0.11	-0.02	1.02
BAltot	-0.29*	0.16	0.52***	-0.08	-0.01	0.13	0.39*	-0.04	-0.09	0.28°	0.05	-0.36*	-0.45**	-0.01	-0.04	0.12	-0.07	-0.21°	1.46
HI14	0.03	-0.03	0.06°	-0.02	0.01	0.05	0.01	-0.03	-0.04	0.00	0.04	-0.04	-0.06	-0.01	0.03	0.02	00.0	-0.04*	0.83
HI15	-0.13*	0.03	0.11°	0.06	0.05	0.01	0.07	0.00	0.06	0.01	0.04	-0.06	-0.06	0.04	-0.03	-0.04	-0.08°	0.00	0.89
Hltot	-0.09	0.03	0.22**	0.01	0.10	0.15	0.14	-0.04	-0.02	-0.02	0.06	-0.16*	-0.17*	0.05	0.03	-0.06	-0.12	-0.03	0.84
										Gedinn	e								
	Qu	Fa	Ac	La	Ps	٢	2	Qu*1	Qu*2	Fa*1	Fa*2	Ac*1	Ac*2	La*1	La*2	Ps*1	Ps*2	В	с
BAI13	0.04	-0.1	0.04	0.06	0.04	0.16	0.05	-0.07	-0.11	0.17	0.09	-0.17	-0.06	-0.06	0.1	-0.1	-0.03	-0.05	1.01
BAI14	-0.18*	0.12	0	-0.01	0.1	-0.02	0.22	0.15	0.03	-0.05	-0.2	0.15	-0.07	-0.03	0.06	0	0.08	0.16*	0.71
BAI15	0.07	-0.1	0.01	0.16*	0.03	0.11	-0.07	0.05	-0.05	-0.06	0.10	-0.09	0.04	-0.25**	-0.12	-0.02	-0.07	0.02	1.05
BAltot	-0.09	-0.2	0	0.23	0.19	0.25	0.22	0.19	-0.15	0.11	0.03	-0.10	-0.10	-0.39*	0.06	-0.18	-0.01	0.17	1.15
HI14	-0.04	-0.1	0.00	0.10	0.08	0.05	-0.06	0.02	-0.01	0.00	0.05	-0.09	0.01	-0.15*	0.04	-0.05	-0.05	0.02	0.68
HI15	-0.01	0.01	0.01	0.15**	0.05	0.12	0.13	0.04	0.06	-0.09	-0.01	-0.11	-0.02	-0.09	-0.12°	-0.05	-0.11	0.02	0.65
Hltot	-0.04	-0.1	0.00	0.23**	0.11	0.12	0.05	0.04	0.04	-0.06	0.04	-0.16°	0.00	-0.20*	-0.08	-0.08	-0.14	0.04	0.85

73

Table A6: Table with the species richness (SR) and reduced rainfall gradient model results for PM and shading levels in Zedelgem and Gedinne. Significant or semi-significant parameter estimates are shown in bold, with °, *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001 respectively. The reduced rainfall effects are indicated as 1 (medium) and 2 (severe treatment). B is the block factor. The intercept C was virtually always significant and was included in the table to allow interpreting the order of magnitude of the different parameter effect sizes. Square root transformations to compensate for residual heterogeneity are indicated.

				Z	Zedelgem			
	tf	SR	1	2	1*SR	2*SR	В	С
Jul 13	sqrt	-0.30	-0.32	-1.20	0.08	0.56°	1.10**	2.12**
Aug 13	sqrt	-0.16	0.16	0.01	0.18	0.31	0.44	2.84
Oct 13	sqrt	0.05	-0.43	0.84	0.23	-0.18	0.07	3.66***
Jul 14	sqrt	-0.07	-1.34	-0.17	0.36	-0.10	-0.06	4.83
Sep 14	sqrt	-0.07	-0.22	-0.35	0.19	0.34	1.37**	3.24***
Shade		7.49*	-14.79*	-6.15	3.73	1.73	4.97	43.97***
					Gedinne			
	tf	SR	1	2	1*SR	2*SR	В	С
Jul 13		-4.16	-10.87	-8.27	4.20	2.06	4.38	32.99***
Aug 13		-4.31°	-6.41	-4.20	2.42	1.35	3.57	41.72***
Jul 14	sqrt	0.06	-0.90	0.23	0.12	-0.40	-1.00*	4.70***
Aug 14	sqrt	-0.02	-0.19	0.23	-0.13	-0.33	-0.93*	5.55***
Aug 15	sqrt	-0.48*	0.94	-1.18	-0.38	0.22	-0.07	4.32***
Shade	sqrt	0.42	0.38	0.68	-0.10	-0.26	0.71	3.58*

(medium) and 2 (severe treatment). B is the block factor. The intercept C was always significant (***, unless otherwise indicated) and was included in the table Table A7: Table with the species identity and reduced rainfall gradient model results for PM and shading levels in Zedelgem and Gedinne. Significant or semilisted by their abbreviated scientific names: Quercus, Fagus, Tilia, Betula, Pinus, Acer, Larix and Pseudotsuga. The reduced rainfall effects are indicated as 1 significant parameter estimates are shown in bold, with °, *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001 respectively. Species are to allow interpreting the order of magnitude of the different parameter effect sizes. All response variables were square root transformed to compensate for residual heterogeneity, with the exception of shade in Zedelgem.

									Zedel	lgem									
	Qu	Fa	ц	Be	Pi	1	2	Qu*1	Qu*2	Fa*1	Fa*2	Ti*1	Ti*2	Be*1	Be*2	Pi*1	Pi*2	В	U
Jul 13	0.45	-0.28	-0.32	-0.78	-0.48	-0.30	-1.13	-0.21	0.23	-0.51	-0.10	1.34°	1.23°	0.40	1.15°	-0.68	0.10	1.09**	2.10**
Aug 13	-0.24	-0.53	0.24	0.21	-0.56	0.20	0.08	0.7	-0.33	0.31	0.24	0.43	0.95	-0.62	0.62	0.09	-0.14	0.42	2.87
Oct 13	0.52	-0.47	-0.03	-0.2	0.48	-0.32	0.89	0.55	-0.21	0.69	-0.22	0.89°	0.44	0.07	0.17	-1.2*	-1.19*	0.03	3.66
Jul 14	1.22*	0.09	-1.31*	-0.16	-0.16	-1.24	-0.16	0.68	0.29	-0.67	-0.76	1.36°	1.54*	0.50	-0.56	-0.25	-1.01	-0.09	4.85
Sep 14	0.55	-0.72	-0.40	0.20	-0.02	-0.16	-0.3	0.27	0.03	0.19	0.69	0.96	1.62*	0.07	0.29	-0.62	-1.11	1.35**	3.26
Shade	2.52	-2.24	-7.45	25.19***	16.37**	-14.91*	-6.04	1.17	3.00	-5.24	-6.24	1.62	0.17	12.86*	6.28	7.38	5.08	6.48	44.24
									Gedi	nne									
	Qu	Fa	Ac	La	Ps	4	2	Qu*1	Qu*2	Fa*1	Fa*2	Ac*1	Ac*2	La*1	La*2	Ps*1	Ps*2	В	U
Jul 13	-0.87	-0.44	-0.88	0.17	-0.68	-0.88	-0.76	0.83	0.59	-0.31	0.55	0.99	0.37	0.17	-0.39	0.31	-0.02	0.49	5.53
Aug 13	0.21	-0.5	-0.99*	-0.62	0.16	-0.30	-0.17	-0.11	-0.84	-0.06	0.61	0.73	0.49	0.59	0.14	-0.5	-0.04	0.29	6.25
Jul 14	0.27	-0.74	0.21	-0.30	0.85	-0.90	0.35	-0.25	-1.94*	0.17	1.27	0.55	0.54	0.04	-0.61	0.08	-1.43°	-1.02*	4.73
Aug 14	0.77	-0.79	0.05	-0.49	0.37	-0.19	0.30	-0.13	-1.83**	0.15	0.79	0.35	0.67	-0.81	-0.53	-0.22	-0.84	-0.94*	5.56
Aug 15	-0.19	-1.18*	-1.01°	0.22	-0.24	0.94	-1.18	-0.69	0.53	-0.3	0.56	0.21	0.67	-1.10°	-0.54	00.0	-0.11	-0.07	4.32
Shade	1.04°	-0.48	-1.67**	2.80***	0.38	0.38	0.68	-0.43	-0.96**	-0.12	-0.19	-0.42	-0.13	0.19	-0.61°	0.27	0.61°	0.71	3.58

Chapter 4: Stronger diversity effects with increased environmental stress: A study of multitrophic interactions between oak, powdery mildew and ladybirds

Dillen, M., Smit, C., Buyse, M., Höfte, M., De Clercq, P., Verheyen, K. Stronger diversity effects with increased environmental stress: A study of multitrophic interactions between oak, powdery mildew and ladybirds Submitted to PLOS ONE.

Abstract

Recent research has suggested that increasing neighbourhood tree species diversity may mitigate the impact of pests or pathogens, by supporting the activities of their natural enemies and/or reducing the density of available hosts. In this study, we attempted to assess these mechanisms in a multitrophic study system of young oak (*Quercus*), oak powdery mildew (PM, caused by *Erysiphe* spp.) and a mycophagous ladybird (*Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata*). We assessed ladybird mycophagy on oak PM in function of different neighbourhood tree species compositions. We also evaluated whether these species interactions were modulated by environmental conditions as suggested by the Stress Gradient Hypothesis. We adopted a complementary approach of a field experiment, where we monitored oak saplings subjected to a reduced rainfall gradient in a young planted forest consisting of different tree species mixtures, as well as a lab experiment, where we independently evaluated the effect of different watering treatments on PM infections and ladybird mycophagy.

In the field experiment, we found effects of neighbourhood tree species richness on ladybird mycophagy becoming more positive as the target trees received less water. This effect was only found as weather conditions grew drier. In the lab experiment, we found a preference of ladybirds to graze on infected leaves from trees that received less water. We discuss potential mechanisms that might explain this preference, such as emissions of volatile leaf chemicals. Our results are in line with the expectations of the Natural Enemies Hypothesis and support the hypothesis that biodiversity effects become stronger with increased environmental stress.

1. Introduction

In the last two decades, there have been an increasing number of studies concerning the influence of species composition on the functioning of ecosystems (Cardinale et al., 2012; Hooper et al., 2005; Tilman et al., 2014). Positive effects of increasing diversity were found in many different systems, including forests, and for many different ecosystem functions, including biomass production (Liang et al., 2016) and mitigated impacts of pests and pathogens - also known as associational resistance (Jactel et al., 2005: Jactel and Brockerhoff, 2007). Many mechanisms have been proposed to explain these community effects, including host dilution for specialist pests (Castagneyrol et al., 2013), complementarity of resource use (Morin et al., 2011) and direct facilitation such as through fertilizing effects of legumes (Schmidtke et al., 2010). Research has also suggested an important role of multitrophic interactions through natural enemies of pests (Sobek et al., 2009). According to the Natural Enemies Hypothesis, predators may diversify their diet in more diverse stands nutritionally as well as temporally and have access to more diverse habitats for shelters or oviposition (Jactel et al., 2005; Letourneau, 1987). However, guestions remain concerning the role of the ecological traits of these natural enemies, as increasing species richness in a stand is often associated with increasing pest richness, which may impair the efficacy of specialist natural enemies such as most hyperparasites (Haase et al., 2015; Scherber et al., 2010).

Oak powdery mildew (PM, caused by *Erysiphe* spp.) is the most important disease of West European oak (*Quercus*) species. As the disease is caused by a biotrophic fungal leaf pathogen, it may reduce net carbon assimilation as well as leaf lifespan and is associated with reduced radial growth or even increased mortality, especially in saplings (Bert et al., 2016; Dillen et al., 2016; Hajji et al., 2009; Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012). First sighted in Europe in 1907 (Mougou et al., 2008), the disease may play a role in the poor shade tolerance and regeneration of young oak saplings under canopy (Rackham, 2003) and is the chief reason for frequent fungicide use on oaks in tree nurseries (Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012; Pap et al., 2012). Recent research into the causal agents of oak PM differentiated at least four different species (*E. alphitoides*, *E. quercicola*, *E. hypophylla* and *Phyllactinia roboris*), of which *E. alphitoides* is the most frequently observed (Feau et al., 2012; Hamelin et al., 2016).

Grazing of powdery mildews by mycophagous ladybirds (Weber and Lundgren, 2009) has been observed across the world (de Almeida and Milléo, 1998; Kumar et al., 2010; Satti, 2015; Sutherland and Parrella, 2009; Younes et al., 2015). While several species of aphidophagous ladybird were found to include powdery mildews as a minor part of their diet (Giorgi et al., 2009), ladybirds of the tribe Halyziini are strongly suspected of being obligate mycophages, possibly even limited to only mildew species (Sutherland and Parrella, 2009). The ladybird *Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata* is a member of this tribe

and occurs relatively abundantly in Western European woodland elements and young forest patches. Given that tree saplings will suffer the strongest impact of mildew infections (Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012), these ladybirds might play an important ecological role in mitigating the impact of PM infections. Furthermore, given that PM is caused by a specialist fungal pathogen and these ladybirds may be specialized feeders on mildew, this system could shed light on the relationship between the composition effect hypotheses of host dilution and natural enemies.

Effects of neighbourhood species composition might be dependent on environmental factors (Haase et al., 2015; Nguyen et al., 2016). Recent research into the context dependency of neighbourhood species richness effects raised some evidence for the Stress Gradient Hypothesis, where positive interactions between species are more frequent in stressful conditions (Jucker et al., 2015; Paquette and Messier, 2011; Toïgo et al., 2015). Therefore, if the Stress Gradient Hypothesis applies, a greater incidence of stressful conditions would increase the impact of neighbourhood composition effects, as more facilitative interactions will be expected. Such an interaction between plant stress and composition may have important ramifications in the light of Anthropogenic Global Change, which is expected to increase the frequency of stressful conditions such as drought or outbreaks of invasive pests (Rockström et al., 2009). Hence, it might become more important to increase diversity in species-poor systems or attempt to halt the global trend of biodiversity loss to preserve ecosystem functioning (Thompson et al., 2009; Tilman et al., 2014), as positive interactions would play a greater role under the changing conditions than expected from current assessments. While previous research found no great impact of dry weather conditions (Marcais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012) or air humidity (Pap et al., 2013) on mildew infection rates, the response of mycophagous ladybirds to changing plant water conditions is unknown. Changing water conditions may affect palatability of the fungus or the ability of the ladybird to find infected leaves by increased emission of signal molecules (Tabata et al., 2011).

In this study, we set out to elucidate the impact of natural enemies on oak PM infections of oak (*Q. robur*) saplings in a young planted forest stand. We looked specifically at the ladybird *P. vigintiduopunctata*, due to its abundance in the study area, in particular on *Quercus*, and because previous studies already indicated that relatives of this species were capable of causing substantial reductions in infected leaf area through mildew grazing (Sutherland and Parrella, 2009). We hypothesized that increasing tree species richness had a mitigating effect on oak PM levels. Attempting to link composition effects to the Natural Enemies Hypothesis, we hypothesized that PM mycophagy and ladybird counts were similarly related to richness effects. To investigate the interplay between composition effects and the Stress Gradient Hypothesis, we established a rainfall reduction gradient for our focal saplings, predicting that effects of species richness on ladybird activity would be more important under more stressful conditions. Given the

little knowledge available on the relationship between plant water status and mycophagy by ladybirds, we also conducted a lab study where the impact of neighbourhood species composition was eliminated. We specifically looked at the impact of different watering rates on PM infection severity and on the attractivity of mycelia for the ladybirds.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Field experiment

Our experiment was conducted as part of a larger study into tree species composition effects and took place in Zedelgem, one of the three FORBIO sites in Belgium (Verheyen et al., 2013). This site was planted in late 2009 and early 2010 with monocultures and mixtures of saplings of *Quercus robur*, *Fagus sylvatica*, *Pinus sylvestris*, *Tilia cordata* and *Betula pendula*, planted in groups of 3 by 3. In a total of 40 plots, 5 compositions for each species richness level from 1 to 4 were represented, including all five monocultures and 4-species mixtures; each composition was replicated once. In early May 2013, one-year old *Q. robur* saplings were planted in groups of 3, each subjected to a different treatment of reduced rainfall by placing 0, 1 or 2 pairs of gutters above the pot surface but below the sapling canopy (Fig. 1). A more extensive description of the experimental setup can be found in Dillen et al. (2016).



Fig. 1: Example of a phytometer plot with the three rainfall reduction treatments. Three of the four surrounding FORBIO trees are visible.

In 20 of the Zedelgem plots, a monitoring for oak PM, PM mycophagy and mycophagous ladybird occurrence was performed bi-weekly four times in August and the first half of September 2014. All first order shoots were assessed using affected area classes of 0-5%, 6-30%, 31-60% and 61-100%. We also estimated a size weight for each shoot, indicative of relative differences in leaf area between first order shoots using the same approach as in Dillen et al. (2016). The PM scores included the PM grazing marks (Fig. 2), so they could be used as a control variable for initial PM infected area. Mycophagy was assessed as % of total leaf area, not the area infected by PM. A weighted average of the class scores of the shoots was subsequently calculated to get PM infected leaf area percentages at the sapling level, using the shoot size weights and the class mids, except 0% for the smallest class (i.e. 0, 17.5, 45 and 80%). *P. vigintiduopunctata* occurrence was assessed by counting all present individuals that could be found on a sapling (in their 3rd growing season at the time) in 1 minute. We differentiated between larvae, pupae and adults, but did not look for eggs as these are very small and therefore very difficult to find and identify.



Fig.2: Example of ladybird grazing marks on oak PM.

All statistical analyses were performed using R (R Core Team, 2015). For mixed models, we used the R package *Ime4* (Bates et al., 2015), with *ImerTest* extension (Kuznetsova et al., 2015) to determine Satterthwaite approximated p-values. Testing the

influence of composition, reduced rainfall (DR) and their interaction on PM infection levels was done using mixed models, with plot as a random factor. Models were run separately for the four monitoring moments, as weather conditions changed between them. Models were also run separately testing the influence of neighbourhood species richness (SR) and species identity (SP), quantified as species presence or absence.

$$PM(\%) = SR + RR + SR * RR$$
$$PM(\%) = \sum_{i=1}^{5} SP_i + RR + \sum_{i=1}^{5} SP_i * RR$$

Where *PM* is the weighted average of PM infected leaf area % at the sapling level, *SR* is the species richness gradient (1-4), *RR* is the three-level rainfall reduction gradient and *SP* is the absence/presence in the local neighbourhood of the five FORBIO three species. Similar models were run testing the influence of neighbourhood species composition on PM mycophagy, but including a covariate for PM levels as the potential for mycophagy could be expected to be greater if more PM was available. This covariate was always centered around its mean to improve interpretability of the parameter estimates.

The influence of composition and reduced rainfall on ladybird counts was modeled as a Generalized Linear Mixed Model using *Ime4*, assuming a Poisson distribution. A negative binomial distribution was assumed if overdispersion was suspected, as indicated by a χ^2 test on the ratio between the residual deviance and degrees of freedom using the function found at http://glmm.wikidot.com/faq/. The high frequency of zeroes and stochasticity of the data due to (adult) ladybird mobility lead us to sum the counts across all four measuring moments. Larvae were already very rare at this time of year and were treated as adults when summing the data.

2.2. Lab experiment

In December 2014, 21 oak saplings were planted in pots of 15 L and top diameter of 32 cm, using potting soil with N-P-K content of 14-16-18 and 13% organic matter. The saplings were already in hibernation and had faced subzero temperatures before being removed from the field. All were placed in a climate chamber with 15 h of light and 9 h dark at constant temperature of 21°C. Each pot received weekly watering of 1 L, corresponding to a monthly precipitation level of about 56 mm. Monthly summer precipitation (June – September) averaged 73 mm in Zedelgem in the last 8 years, with 56 mm being the low end of the 95% confidence interval (KMI, Belgium). The lower estimate was chosen as poorer drainage was expected in the lab conditions.

Half January the first leaves started to appear. Three older oak saplings infected with PM had been removed from the field in late summer and were kept in the climate chamber to serve as inoculation for the other saplings. These older saplings still had

fresh leaves and live PM mycelia by the time the last of the 21 saplings started to leaf out. One month after initial leafing out, all trees had fully developed their leaves and all were infected with PM. On from this point, two groups of 7 saplings received only 0.8 L and 0.6 L of water per week respectively, mimicking the reduced rainfall treatment used in the field. Saplings were sorted in the different watering treatment groups (i.e. 1, 0.8 and 0.6 L per week) in a random manner. Soil moisture content by volume was measured from the topsoil two weeks, six weeks and ten weeks after watering treatment began, using a ML3 ThetaProbe (Delta-T Devices) set with the standard conversion parameters for an organic soil. The crown area infected by PM was also evaluated three times: three, six and nine weeks after the watering treatment began. The protocol used was similar to the one used in the field, but because of the smaller crowns and lower amount of trees, classes of 10% were used.



Fig.3: Example of a ladybird choice feeding experiment, picture taken after 24 hours. The ladybird was removed to take this picture, but evidence of mycophagy can be noted in particular on the two leaf segments on the left. The leaf on the bottom also contains multiple particles of feces.

In late April and early May, four experiments on mycophagy by *P. vigintiduopunctata* were performed using leaves from the 21 saplings. Leaves of four saplings of each watering treatment were harvested and cut into segments that could fit in a Petri dish (Fig. 3). Leaves were picked to minimize differences in PM infected area and leaf age (as lammas shoots had already formed in most saplings) between the watering treatments. Three leaf segments of the different watering treatments were placed on agar substrate (Micro Agar M1002) in a Petri dish with a ventilation hole (Fig. 3). An adult *P. vigintiduopunctata* was placed at equal distance from the three segments and monitored for mycophagy with a handheld camera every 24 hours, including an initial

snapshot and lasting up to 96 hours by which time leaves started to show signs of wilting. Ladybirds were removed as pictures were taken and reintroduced afterwards at their initial starting point. In each of the four experiments, four male and four female ladybirds were monitored. The male and female group each received leaf segments originating from the same 12 saplings. The ladybirds used for the experiment were adults who had been captured in the autumn of 2014 and kept fed in a climate chamber (16/8 light and dark treatment and constant temperature of 20°C) with fresh PM-infected leaves of *Q. robur, Convolvulus sp.* and *Sonchus oleraceus*. Before the feeding experiment, these ladybirds were subjected to a four month hibernation treatment of 4°C to ensure they would not be in diapause. Mycophagy was quantified using image analysis with APS Assess 2.0 (Lamari 2008). For each image, the PM infected area was digitally selected by modifying saturation. Differences in infected area were defined as mycophagy.

The influence of the water treatment was assessed in *Ime4* (Bates et al., 2015) using a repeated measures mixed model, with the four different experiments and the ladybird used as random factors:

MP = RR + T + G + PM + RR * T + RR * G + T * G

Where MP is the mycophagy in cm², RR is the three-level watering treatment, T is the time of measurement (24-48-72-96h), G is gender of the ladybird and PM is initial PM affected area in cm², centered around its mean. We also tested separately using a General Linear Model whether there was any difference in initial PM affected area between the three watering treatments.

3. Results

3.1. Field experiment

Table 1: Parameter estimates of the mixed models of the PM and mycophagy scores (%) and total number of ladybirds over 4 measuring moments in function of rainfall reduction (RR) and species richness (SR). C is the intercept, PM.c is the PM score covariate centered around its mean when applicable. Statistical significance is indicated using °, *, ** and *** indicating p < 0.1, 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 respectively. Overdispersion was present for the ladybird count model as indicated by the ratio and its χ^2 test.

		RR1	RR2	SR	RR1*SR	RR2*SR	PM.c (%)	С	
	Week 1	0.5	-5.86	0.92	-0.24	1.6		29.13**	
PM	Week 2	-0.48	-9.15	0.67	0.78	2.76		32.39***	
	Week 3	6.47	-0.64	2.79	-2.36	-1.15		17.76***	
	Week 4	0.48	-3.8	-0.2	0.66	1.07		22.03***	
	Week 1	-1.94	-1.77	-0.16	0.49	1.29	0.4***	16.82***	
Myconhagy	Week 2	-4.03	0.73	-0.44	1.73	0.05	0.36***	15.84***	
mycophagy	Week 3	-5.51*	-4.38°	-1.16°	2.09*	1.55°	0.39***	16.03***	
	Week 4	1.78	-3.63°	-0.5	-0.69	1.37*	0.38***	13.22***	
Ladybirds	Poisson	0.08	0.75**	0.03	0.07	-0.15		1.62***	Ratio = 1.74***
Lauybilus	Negat Bin	0	0.72	0.02	0.1	-0.15		1.68***	

We found no influence of reduced rainfall or of species richness on PM infection rates (Table 1). We did see consistently higher PM rates if *Tilia* was present in the neighbourhood, but only for the phytometers receiving reduced rainfall (Table A1). PM was about 10% lower in the last two weeks than it was in the first two. In the last two weeks, we found an interaction between species richness and reduced rainfall impacting mycophagy (Fig. 4). Mycophagy overall did not change if rainfall was more strongly reduced (Fig. 4), but the impact of neighbourhood species richness increased – resulting in less mycophagy in monocultures but more in mixtures when comparing control phytometers to those receiving less rainfall. As expected, phytometers with greater PM infected area also showed greater mycophagy (Table 1). In the presence of *Fagus*, mycophagy was reduced but only on phytometers under the control treatment (Table A1).

We found no significant influence of reduced rainfall or composition on ladybird occurrence. There were generally more ladybirds (larvae + adults) on the phytometers receiving less rainfall (121, 158 and 176 total over 4 weeks respectively), but this effect was not significant when using a negative binomial distribution instead of Poisson after overdispersion was found (Table 1). Across the four monitoring sessions, we found no pupae and only few larvae of which only 1 in the control trees, compared to more than 10 on the trees receiving less rainfall. An identity model for ladybird count data yielded

no significant effects, but the high complexity of the mixed model also resulted in a lack of convergence.



Fig.4: PM mycophagy in function of species richness in weeks 3 and 4 of monitoring, when a significant interaction was found. The mycophagy scores were transformed according to the effect of the PM covariate.



Fig. 5: Soil moisture content by volume of the lab experiment oak trees for the different watering treatments (black = weekly 1L, dark grey = 0.8 L and light grey 0.6 L) with their 95% confidence intervals.

3.2. Lab experiment



PM infected area lab experiment trees

Fig. 6: Average PM infected area of the lab experiment oak trees for the different watering treatments (black = 1L, dark grey = 0.8 L and light grey 0.6 L per week) with their 95% confidence intervals.

The difference in soil moisture content between the three watering treatments continued to grow as the experiment ran and was significant (p < 0.01 in one-way ANOVA) before the choice feeding experiments began (Fig 5.). The moisture content values were all rather high, rarely dropping below 20%. There was a small, insignificant initial difference in PM infected area between the trees receiving less water and the control (p=0.06 in one-way ANOVA), but this was not found again during later measurements (Fig 6.).

In the choice feeding experiment, we found that PM infected leaves from trees that received less water were significantly more grazed upon than the control (Fig. 7). The effect followed the gradient we applied, mycophagy increasing by 0.33 and 0.67 cm² for the 0.8 and 0.6 L treatments respectively (p < 0.01 in the full model; extensive model results can be found in Table A2). The overall average PM consumption after 96 hours was 1.54 cm² per leaf segment and 4.61 cm² per ladybird. This represents on average 51% of the PM on each leaf segment and 50% of all PM available for each ladybird. Complete removal by grazing of all PM on a single leaf was rare and not related to watering treatment, though it did not occur at all on the control leaves (data not shown). After 24 hours, males removed 1.95 cm² and females 2.31 cm² on average. Thus, females appeared to graze more than males and the difference increased with time (Fig. 7), but this difference was not significant in our model (p = 0.18). While initial PM area positively influenced mycophagy (p=0.001), it did not differ significantly between the three watering treatments (p=0.94, one-way ANOVA). There were no significant interactions between the watering treatment (Table A2), gender and running time of the

experiment, though females did seem to keep up more steady mycophagy rates than males (Fig. 7).



Fig. 7: Mycophagy in function of choice experiment running time, for different watering treatments (RR0, 1 and 2 corresponding to weekly watering of 1, 0.8 and 0.6 L respectively) and ladybird gender (m = male, f = female). Values were determined based on fixed parameter estimates of the full mixed model at average initial PM infected area.

4. Discussion

In our field experiment, we found effects of increasing species richness on mycophagy becoming stronger as more rainfall was removed along a stress gradient – corresponding to expectations of interplay between biodiversity effects and the Stress Gradient Hypothesis. This can be seen as evidence of an associational resistance effect through the actions of natural enemies, modulated by an environmental variable. However, we did not find an effect of species richness on ladybird counts. Hence, this would imply a mechanism by which greater species richness renders PM fungi more vulnerable, but not more attractive, to mycophagous ladybirds and only if the fungus is also (directly or indirectly) affected by lower plant water availability. This effect was apparently too small to have an impact on initial PM levels – as indicated by the lack of an effect of species richness or our reduced rainfall gradient on PM infected leaf area.

The lack of an effect on initial PM levels in our field study might be explained by the higher than average precipitation in August 2014 (112 mm, compared to a 1981-2010

monthly average of 76 mm), which would make mechanisms through plant water status less clear. September 2014 was extremely dry (8 mm compared to a monthly average of 76 mm) and only then did we find an interactive effect of reduced rainfall and neighbourhood species richness. As we scored PM infected area to include freshly grazed mycelia, it is likely that our initial (total) PM scores corresponded to those of the previous wet month. An alternative possibility is that mycelia loss due to mycophagy is swiftly replaced by the fungus. This would be supported by the results of Dillen et al. (2016), where still no interaction between species richness and the reduced rainfall aradient on levels of PM was found for the very dry month of August 2013. If this is the case, the impact of mycophagy on PM may be limited. Previous studies where ladybird PM mycophagy was quantified focused on short-term removal rates, mostly under laboratory conditions (Sutherland and Parrella, 2009; Younes et al., 2015). However, in a study of mycophagous mites on grape PM, Melidossian et al. (2005) did note a significant trophic impact on the disease over a three-year period, but they specified that this effect was strongest if biological control was possible at the early stages of PM infection - whereas our measurements occurred later in the growing season.

In the lab choice feeding experiment, a higher preference of ladybirds for PM on infected leaves originating from trees that received less water was found. Our PM removal rates after 24 hours and the gender difference were consistent with results in another study using the same ladybird species but other PM species and other environmental conditions (Younes et al., 2015). Similar to the field experiment, we found no impact of watering rate on PM infected area, furthermore suggesting that the mechanism of different watering rates does not impact PM infections directly, only their being grazed upon by ladybirds. Possibly, a reduced access to water may impair the fungus's defenses against mycophagy or increase its nutritional quality for the ladybird. While oak PM is known as a xerophilic pathogen (Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012), this is largely because of its tolerance of dry meteorological conditions and vulnerability to the physical effects of precipitation – which were not altered by our stress gradient. Pap et al. (2013) found germination of PM conidia even at very dry levels of air humidity (down to 10%), but they also noted that high levels of humidity (90%) were associated with maximal germ tube length.

Another possibility is that plant water levels influence plant hormonal pathways that attract ladybirds to PM infected trees or reinforce resistance to fungal infection. Tabata et al. (2011) noted strong attraction of *Psyllobora* ladybirds to 1-octen-3-ol, a Volatile Organic Compound (VOC). This alcoholic VOC is well-known as a fungal metabolite of the lipoxygenase (LOX) pathway, producing a moldy odor. However, in a study system of aphids, *Arabidopsis* and water stress, Truong et al. (2014) found greater emissions of this and other alcohols under water stress and in the absence of aphid activity, while Kigathi et al. (2009) noted 1-octen-3-ol as an Herbivore Induced Plant Volatile (HIPV)

produced in certain (non-woody) Fabaceae species, possibly as a defense compound against herbivory. There is no known evidence of 1-octen-3-ol production in Quercus. other than as a result of fungal infections such as in cork from Q. suber (Rocha et al., 1996). Copolovici et al. (2014) noted that PM-infected Q. robur leaves emitted less isoprene and more LOX products, which were chemically similar but not identical to 1octen-3-ol. In another experiment with Q. rubra, higher emissions of LOX products were associated with heat stress (Copolovici et al., 2015). However, they also noted that it is very difficult in practice to distinguish between emissions originating from the plant and from the fungues. Still, even if there is no endogenous 1-octen-3-ol production by the oak, changing water conditions inside the leaf might yet influence the VOC production by the fungus. As the hormonal pathways underlying the plant responses to different stressors interact (Aimar et al., 2011; Niinemets et al., 2013), it would not be surprising to find a (positive or negative) impact of the leaf response to changing conditions of watering on its suitability for PM infection, which in turn could influence the palatability of the fungus for its fungivores. Such interactions between pathogens and water conditions may have implications in the light of future environmental changes associated with increased droughts, such as Climate Change, but more research into the underlying pathways is needed to offer more confident predictions.

5. Conclusion

In this study, we found evidence of mitigating effects of species richness on oak PM, being modulated by environmental factors. These modulated mitigating effects were linked to multitrophic interactions with a mycophagous ladybird, which seemed to prefer feeding on infected leaves from trees with lower water status under laboratory conditions. These findings are in line with expectations of how the Stress Gradient Hypothesis interacts with positive effects of species richness on ecosystem functioning, in this case the mitigation of pathogen infection severity through trophic control. Previous studies have found little response of PM infections to dry or wet meteorological conditions, other than physical inhibition of spore germination by rain drops, and conflicting results for the effects of neighbourhood tree species richness on PM infections, but our results suggest that the same may not hold for ladybird mycophagous activity. Interactions between plant hormonal responses to abiotic and biotic stressors may explain this environmental modulation of trophic control, but more research is needed to elucidate these mechanisms. The substantial mycophagy rates we noted in both our field and lab study suggest that these mycophagous ladybirds may play a considerable role in mitigating the impact of oak powdery mildew. While we did not find a significant relationship between species composition and PM levels, our results suggest that mixing tree species may have a mitigating effect through enhanced ladybird activity under drier climatic conditions. In addition, given our observations in the field and during our lab study, promoting the presence of plant species vulnerable to other powdery mildew species, such as *Heracleum sphondylium* and *Sonchus oleraceus*, may strengthen ladybird activity by increasing their numbers and allow them to mix their diet.

6. Acknowledgments

MD was supported in this research by an FWO and an Ubbo Emmius grant. We would like to thank Luc Willems, Kris Ceunen and Filip Ceunen for their help with setting up the field experiment. We would also like to thank Dries Bonte for allowing us to make use of his climate chambers for our oak saplings used in the lab experiment.

Appendix

Table A1: Parameter estimates for the identity models of the field experiment. MP is mycophagy and PM is powdery mildew crown area %. Qu, Fa, Ti, Be and PI represent respectively Quercus, Fagus, Tilia, Betula and Pinus presence in the local neighbourhood and C is the intercept. Interactions with the rainfall reduction (RR) treatment are indicated by 1 (medium) and 2 (severe reduction). Statistical significance is indicated using $^{\circ}_{\circ}$, ** and *** indicating p < 0.1, 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 respectively. All response variables were square root transformed due to residual heterogeneity.

3.95*** 3.65***	0.19 0.49 *	0.45 0.27	-0.27 -0.06	-0.32 - 0.44 °	0.50 -0.10	0.10 -0.26	0.69* 0.72**	0.67* 0.41°	0.32	0.58° -0.44°	0.06***	 -0.41° -0.31°	0.43 * 0.20	-0.18	-0.67** -0.52**	-0.12 0.21	-0.75* -0.56°	-0.71° 0.23	Week 3 Week 4
3.85***	0.49	0.88*	-0.50	-0.11	-0.23	-0.38	0.62°	0.43	-0.33	0.04	0.05***	-0.46°	0.14	0.21	-0.58*	0.34	0.19	-0.34	/eek 2
4.12***	0.04	0.14	-0.15	0.26	0.37	-0.13	0.42	0.23	0.19	0.24	0.05***	-0.03	-0.08	00.0	-0.29	0.17	-0.31	-0.53	Veek 1
4.58***	-0.72	-1.16°	0.42	0.80	1.43*	1.30*	-0.55	-0.54	-0.18	-0.28		0.17	-0.11	-0.70	0.38	0.40	-0.47	-0.04	/eek 4
4.11***	-0.79	-1.44°	0.71	0.78	1.18	1.15	-1.28	-0.78	-0.93	-1.22		0.56	-0.06	-0.16	0.41	0.87	-0.04	0.58	/eek 3
5.59***	-0.64	-1.29	1.37	0.82	1.11	1.43°	-0.76	-0.19	-0.05	-0.42		0.10	-0.26	-0.27	0.08	0.68	-0.88	-0.20	Veek 2
5.32***	-0.10	-0.89	0.46	0.44	1.10	1.78°	-0.71	-0.09	0.13	-0.46		-0.05	-0.44	-0.44	0.79	0.68	-0.79	-0.63	Veek 1
U	Pi2	Pi1	Be2	Be1	Ti2	Ē	Fa2	Fa1	Qu2	Qu1	PM.c	Ξ	Be	⊨	Fa	Ø	RR2	RR1	

Table A2: Results of	f the full model	for the choice	feeding experiment.
----------------------	------------------	----------------	---------------------

	Std.				
Estimate	Error	df	t value	Pr(> t)	
0.34	0.25299	23.5	1.327	0.19729	
0.34	0.24552	334.7	1.366	0.1729	
0.47	0.24552	334.7	1.907	0.05735	
0.62	0.24552	334.7	2.53	0.01186	*
0.29	0.23872	336.3	1.228	0.22039	
0.68	0.23794	335.1	2.877	0.00427	**
0.14	0.28931	84.2	0.486	0.62835	
0.12	0.03654	235.2	3.309	0.00108	**
0.03	0.30069	334.7	0.089	0.92886	
0.13	0.30069	334.7	0.438	0.66185	
0.08	0.30069	334.7	0.281	0.77873	
0.07	0.30069	334.7	0.243	0.80844	
0.04	0.30069	334.7	0.138	0.89004	
-0	0.30069	334.7	-0.035	0.97194	
0.13	0.24552	334.7	0.54	0.5893	
0.29	0.24552	334.7	1.199	0.23118	
0.36	0.24552	334.7	1.463	0.1445	
-0.1	0.21541	339.5	-0.246	0.80554	
-0.1	0.21386	336.9	-0.372	0.71007	
	Estimate 0.34 0.47 0.62 0.29 0.68 0.14 0.12 0.03 0.13 0.08 0.07 0.04 -0 0.13 0.29 0.36 -0.1 -0.1	Std. Estimate Error 0.34 0.25299 0.34 0.24552 0.47 0.24552 0.62 0.24552 0.62 0.24552 0.62 0.23872 0.68 0.23794 0.14 0.28931 0.12 0.03654 0.03 0.30069 0.13 0.30069 0.04 0.30069 0.05 0.30069 0.04 0.30069 0.05 0.30069 0.04 0.30069 0.05 0.24552 0.29 0.24552 0.36 0.24552 0.36 0.24552 0.36 0.24552 0.36 0.24552 0.36 0.24552 0.36 0.24552 0.36 0.24552	Std. Estimate Error df 0.34 0.25299 23.5 0.34 0.24552 334.7 0.47 0.24552 334.7 0.47 0.24552 334.7 0.62 0.24552 334.7 0.62 0.24552 334.7 0.62 0.24552 336.3 0.68 0.23794 335.1 0.14 0.28931 84.2 0.12 0.03654 235.2 0.03 0.30069 334.7 0.13 0.30069 334.7 0.04 0.30069 334.7 0.05 0.30069 334.7 0.04 0.30069 334.7 0.05 0.30069 334.7 0.04 0.30069 334.7 0.13 0.24552 334.7 0.13 0.24552 334.7 0.29 0.24552 334.7 0.36 0.24552 334.7 0.36 0.245	Std. df t value Estimate Error df t value 0.34 0.25299 23.5 1.327 0.34 0.24552 334.7 1.366 0.47 0.24552 334.7 1.907 0.62 0.24552 334.7 2.53 0.29 0.23872 336.3 1.228 0.68 0.23794 335.1 2.877 0.14 0.28931 84.2 0.486 0.12 0.03654 235.2 3.309 0.03 0.30069 334.7 0.438 0.08 0.30069 334.7 0.438 0.08 0.30069 334.7 0.281 0.07 0.30069 334.7 0.243 0.04 0.30069 334.7 0.438 0.04 0.30069 334.7 0.243 0.04 0.30069 334.7 0.438 0.05 0.3452 334.7 0.54 0.13 0.24552	Std.EstimateErrordft value $Pr(> t)$ 0.340.2529923.51.3270.197290.340.24552334.71.3660.17290.470.24552334.71.9070.057350.620.24552334.72.530.011860.290.23872336.31.2280.220390.680.23794335.12.8770.004270.140.2893184.20.4860.628350.120.03654235.23.3090.001080.030.30069334.70.4380.661850.080.30069334.70.2810.778730.070.30069334.70.2430.808440.040.30069334.70.1380.89004-00.30069334.70.1380.89004-00.30069334.70.1380.890140.030.24552334.71.1990.231180.360.24552334.71.4630.1445-0.10.21541339.5-0.2460.80554

Chapter 5: Biology and breeding of *Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata*, a mycophagous ladybird

Based on Buyse, M., 2015. (In Dutch) Biologische controle van eikenmeeldauw door lieveheersbeestjes en interacties met droogtestress. MSc Thesis. Ghent University.

Abstract

Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata, also known as the 22-spot ladybird, is a small yellow ladybird with 22 black spots native in Western Europe. Unlike most other ladybirds, it feeds mostly and probably exclusively on fungi, in particular powdery mildew fungi. We studied the ladybird's natural behavior, feeding rate and life cycle in the field and under laboratory conditions during a breeding program in 2014-2015.



Fig. 1: Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata adults.

1. Introduction

Ladybirds (Coccinellidae) are one of the best known biological control organisms. While mostly known for their feeding on aphids, their diet is often considerably broader, including certain species of other beetles, mites and fungi and even plant pollen (Weber and Lundgren, 2009). Some ladybird species, specifically members of the Halyziini family, have been found to be obligate mycophages, having adapted to a diet of powdery mildew (Erysiphales) fungi (Samways et al., 1997; Sutherland and Parrella, 2009). A few experimental findings suggest that both at the larval stage and as adult these species are dependent on powdery mildew as a sole food source (Davidson, 1921; Giorgi et al., 2009; Sutherland and Parrella, 2009). Recently, feeding on a leaf rust fungus (Uredinales) by *Psyllobora rufosignata* was observed in Brazil (Culik et al., 2011).

Powdery mildew is one of the most important foliar diseases in agriculture, horticulture and forestry all over the world (Glawe, 2008). It is caused by a biotrophic fungus which forms white mycelium mats on the top layer of leaves, with haustoria growing inside the leaf to take up nutrients and carbon assimilates (Divon and Fluhr, 2007). In addition to this loss of nutrients and carbon, the fungal mycelia reduce the light transparency of the leaf, influence water dynamics and reduce leaf lifespan (Hajji et al., 2009; Pap et al., 2014). Powdery mildew can lead to reduced growth and eventual mortality this way (Bert et al., 2016; Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012), which has induced widespread fungicide use on economically important plant species, such as cucurbits, grapes and oak saplings in tree nurseries (Gadoury et al., 2003; McGrath, 2001; Pap et al., 2012).

The most studied obligate mycophagous ladybird species is *Psyllobora vigintimaculata*, native to most of North America (Davidson, 1921; Sutherland et al., 2010; Sutherland and Parrella, 2009; Tabata et al., 2011). Other species have also been subjected to

research, such as *P. vigintiduopunctata* (Samways et al., 1997; Younes et al., 2015), *P. gratiosa* (de Almeida and Milléo, 1998) and *P. bisoctonotata* (Kumar et al., 2010; Satti, 2015; Younes et al., 2015). However, research is often restricted to records of observations and anatomical descriptions. Only a few studies have addressed the ecology of these species, their impact on their fungal prey and indirectly on the infested plant or the possibility of breeding them for biological control purposes. This chapter covers the part of Buyse (2015) that is about the biology and breeding of *P. vigintiduopunctata* (Fig. 1) in the northwest of Belgium. This species was studied in its natural habitat and during a breeding program in a climate chamber.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Field observations

To initiate the breeding program, about 200 adults of *P. vigintiduopunctata* were collected from powdery mildew infected plants in young forest stands, mainly composed of *Q. robur*, located in the northwest of Belgium, during August and September of 2014. During the collections, the habitat and natural behavior of larvae and adults of the ladybird were studied. The stop of egg deposition was assessed, as well as overwintering behavior and habitat.



Fig. 2: Opened breeding box for adult ladybirds.

2.2. Breeding program

The first breeding program started in September 2014 and ended in December 2014. Fresh leaves from plants infected with powdery mildew and the collected ladybird adults were placed together in groups of 30 on sheets of absorbent paper in ventilated plastic breeding boxes (14.5 x 31.5 x 10 cm, Fig. 2). These boxes were placed in a climate chamber at constant 20°C and with a light regime of 16 hours light and 8 hours dark. Mostly fresh leaf material from infected *Convolvulus arvensis* and *Q. robur* was used as feed, as well as *Sonchus oleraceus*. From October onwards, only *C. arvensis* growing as a weed in a greenhouse was still available. Feeding with pollen (NutrimiteTM, Biobest) was attempted, but the pollen remained untouched. Plant material was initially renewed once or twice a week. The absorbent paper was also renewed once a week and feces and other debris removed. A wet wad of cotton wool was placed as a source of water. After noticing that many eggs were deposited on these wads once they were dry, more dry wads of cotton wool were added and more eggs were subsequently deposited on the wads.



Fig. 3: Breeding box for egg hatching and rearing of larval stadia. At the center and on the enlarged picture eggs on a wad of cotton wool can be observed.

Initially, no copulation was observed and 50 ladybirds were stored in a refrigerator at 4°C to break possible diapause. Subsequently, replacement of infected plant material was done more frequently (up to every two days), which resulted swiftly in the occurrence of copulation and oviposition. Some mating couples were separated and microscopically studied, in order to identify differences in gender. They were also weighed individually, using a Sartorius genius ME 235S with an accuracy of 0.01 mg. To avoid adults eating the eggs, each day or each two days the breeding boxes were searched thoroughly and all deposited eggs were removed and placed in smaller breeding boxes (Fig. 3). They were placed on mildew-infected leaves lying on wetted absorbent paper. Each deposited group of eggs was put in a separate breeding box. Every two or three days, the infected plant material in these boxes was renewed and each week the absorbent paper as well. In those smaller breeding boxes, the development of all eggs and their mortality was followed individually every 24 or 48 hours.

Following this program, a second breeding setup was undertaken starting in February 2015 using the 50 ladybirds stored at 4°C since October 2014. These ladybirds were fed solely with infected *Q. robur* leaves, collected from infected saplings growing in a climate chamber. The protocol in this program was identical to the one used in the first, except that larvae were reared on a congealed agar substrate (Micro Agar M1002), to keep infected leaves fresh for a longer time. Nine of these larvae were monitored with greater scrutiny as they developed through the four different stadia.



Fig. 4: Larva of P. vigintiduopunctata (4th instar), grazing on oak powdery mildew.

2.3. Feeding quantification

During the breeding program, ladybird mycophagy (Fig. 4) was also studied in greater detail. For each larval stadium and the adult stadium, for both sexes, the amount of powdery mildew that was daily grazed was quantified in terms of reduced infected surface area and weight gain of the ladybirds. Cumulative assessments could not be made as the larvae often molted towards the next stage during the course of the experiment, resulting in occasional mixed compositions of different instars and in reduced mildew consumption during the change. An earlier experiment with *C. arvensis* leaves did not use agar but only moistened paper to keep the leaves fresh. This setup included two ladybirds for every Petri dish and could not run longer than 72 hours. For the experiments with *Q. robur*, infected leaves were put on an agar in extra-deep Petri dishes. This setup allowed leaves to conserve for longer periods. The larva or adult was placed on the agar and for 96 hours, a picture was taken every 24 hours. The leaf and

powdery mildew surface area in each picture were digitally determined using APS Assess 2.0 (Lamari, 2008). The more elaborate setup for the adult feeding is described in greater detail in Chapter 4.

All graphs were made using the *ggplot2* (Wickham, 2009) package in R (R Core Team, 2015).

3. Results

3.1. Field Study

P. vigintiduopunctata larvae and adults were mainly found on plants infected by powdery mildew species, in young forest stands, forest edges and roadsides. In our study area, they could predominantly be found on infected leaves of *Heracleum sphondylium* and young *Q. robur*. To a lesser extent, they were also noted on leaves of *Trifolium, Rubus* and small *Acer* species. Often, feeding tracks could be discerned from the infected leaves (Fig. 4). Oviposition occurred at the bottom side of mildew-infected leaves. The last time eggs were noticed in 2014 was at the end of July. Larvae could be found until early September. Late September, adults began to congregate and settle at the bottom sides of leaves of young *Q. robur*, typically under leaves close to the ground partially covered by herbaceous vegetation. From late September until mid December, groups of 10 to 20 adults could often be found this way.



Fig. 5: Distribution of number of eggs among egg clutches.

3.2. Breeding program

During the first breeding program, 279 eggs were deposited in groups of 1 to 11 (Fig. 5). Eggs were mostly deposited on the cotton wads (65% of clutches). 236 of the eggs hatched (85%), but only 62 survived the four larval stages (22%) and reached the pupa stage. 43 emerged as adults (15%). The length of each stage is depicted in Fig. 6. The periodicity of the measurements (typically 24 to 48 hours) and difficulty in identifying individuals caused the variability of time estimates and the differences in sample size, respectively. Only estimates for which both the time of beginning and end were known were included in the figures. The average time between oviposition and emergence from the pupa was 45 days. Hatching typically took about 8 days, while the larval stages lasted 27 days and pupation 10 days. These calculations are based on available data and using the average if the phase change was found to have happened between two points in time. This variation can be seen in Fig. 6.

The ladybirds used in the second breeding program recovered from their hibernation with low mortality after two weeks in a climate chamber supplied with infected oak leaves. Copulation started anew. One clutch of 6 eggs and another of 3 eggs were monitored in greater detail. One larva from the second clutch died after a few days, but all others made it to emergence. Larvae from the first clutch had greater initial weight $(0.18\pm0.03 \text{ mg})$ and developed faster (Fig. 7) than those from clutch 2 $(0.11\pm0.04 \text{ mg})$. There was still considerable variation within both clutches.

When studying copulation, a few possible differences between males and female adults were noted. Males often showed a V-shaped spot pattern on the top of their heads (Fig. 8), which was never seen in females although some males had a less obvious pattern. Female adults tended to be larger and weighed more than males, 6.90 ± 0.60 mg compared to 5.34 ± 0.61 mg for males.



Fig. 6: Development times at different stages of life. Each crossbar depicts the time a single individual spent in that stage. The longer the crossbar, the greater the uncertainty of the exact starting and/or ending date of that phase.



Fig. 7: Development of 8 larvae through the four larval life stages (also known as instars, L1-4). The crossbars depict the estimated ending time of each instar. Larvae 7 and 8 were of the second clutch.



Fig. 8: Head of adult male (left) and female (right) ladybird. Note the different shape of the spot, which is more V-shaped on the male.

3.3. Feeding quantification

When observing mycophagy of powdery mildew on *C. arvensis*, it was noted that chasmothecia were left untouched. Two adult ladybirds grazed on average an area of 0.62 cm² per day. Results for adult ladybird feeding on oak powdery mildew are discussed in detail elsewhere in Chapter 4. On average, a single adult grazed away 4.61 cm² of mildew after 96 hours, representing about 50% of all mildew available during that time. After the first 24 hours, males had already grazed away 1.95 cm² and females 2.31 cm². This gender difference increased with time, while the grazed mildew area decreased.



Fig. 9: Mean grazing rates at different stages of life and their standard deviations. Sample sizes are indicated. Female and male refer to the adults. Identification of gender during the four larval phases (L1-4) was impossible.

When comparing grazing by the different larval stages and adults, it was found that larvae, in particular at later stages, consumed more than adults (Fig. 9). Only data of 24 hour periods when all larvae were of the same instar and when initial powdery mildew levels were not close to depletion were included. As a consequence, much more data was available for adults, which did not molt anymore and were always alone.

4. Discussion

We successfully kept *P. vigintiduopunctata* adults alive and procreating under laboratory conditions. Critical were the availability of fresh leaves infected with powdery mildew and the availability of substrates fit for oviposition, such as dry cotton wads. Cannibalism of eggs was frequent at our population densities, necessitating incubation in separation. High mortality at the larval stage in our first breeding program, compared to only one dead larva in the second program is likely explained by the more frequent individual monitoring and feeding during the latter. The presence of the agar substrate allowing the leaves to be preserved for longer times likely played a large role as well, as also evidenced by the much lower feeding rate on infected *C. arvensis* leaves. The high fecundity found during the first breeding program renders it unlikely the quality of powdery mildew plays a major role, at least for the two species we utilized.

Our observations in the lab indicated that this species does not go into diapause, but climatic conditions in the northwest of Belgium probably prevent more than one generation from developing every year. Larvae of this species are solely encountered in Belgium from June to September (Waarnemingen.be, http://waarnemingen.be). This should be enough time in theory for two generations in a growing season, considering the average development time of 45 days, so we cannot rule out this happening during warm, mildew-rich summers, especially in the light of the changing climate.

In a study on *P. vigintimaculata*, Sutherland and Parrella (2009) noted average PM feeding of an area of 6.32 cm² during development from egg to pupa. Given our daily rates, which sum to be slightly lower, our figures are likely to be much higher, considering the average 27 days of larval development. We cannot compare the numbers directly, however, as we do not have data for a single individual's feeding throughout all larval stages. Younes et al. (2015) describe the biology and feeding of *P. vigintiduopunctata* in Syria, finding only half of our development times and higher feeding rates. These can be explained by the difference in climate (25°C temperature and 12/12 light regime, rather than our 20°C and 16/8).

In this study, we describe a successful breeding program of *Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata*, a mycophagous ladybird feeding chiefly on powdery mildew fungi. This offers prospects for using this species in biological control of mildew fungi, in particular considering its easy rearing in the presence of fresh mildew-infected leaves and the suitability of a mildew species from a common agricultural weed, *Convolvulus*

arvensis. The negative impact of fungicide use on *Psyllobora* activity (Sutherland et al., 2010) could weigh considerably on cost-benefit analyses, but the species may still prove of great interest for managers of less intensive plant systems and organic farmers.

Chapter 6: How does neighbourhood tree species composition affect growth characteristics of oak saplings?

Dillen, M., Smit, C., Verheyen, K. How does neighbourhood tree species composition affect growth characteristics of oak saplings? Submitted to Forest Ecology and Management

Abstract

Recent research into positive effects of species diversity has renewed interest into mixing tree species in managed forests. Mixing tree species may have positive effects on productivity and other forest ecosystem functions, while also reducing the impact of extreme weather events or disease – both expected to become worse in the context of global change. In particular saplings are very vulnerable to attacks by pathogens and positive effects at this stage may play a substantial role in shaping later forest dynamics, biomass yields and other ecosystem services. While positive effects of mixing tree species have been found, high influence of which species were mixed specifically was noted and it was often unclear just how these interactions work and what their impact is on tree physiology.

In this study, we investigated the impact of local neighbourhood tree species composition on various above- and belowground growth characteristics of four year old oak (Quercus robur and petraea) saplings in two sites with contrasting abiotic conditions. To evaluate specific mechanisms underlying composition effects, we attempted to link these characteristics to the degree of oak powdery mildew infections and shading cast by local neighbourhood trees, two important factors influencing oak sapling survival and growth. Our results showed no impact of neighbourhood tree species richness, but there were strong effects of species identity on dry biomass production and total leaf area in an abiotically more favorable site. These effects of species presence were related to a strong negative impact of powdery mildew and the degree of shading, both affected differently by different tree species. Effects of composition, mildew and shading were much weaker in the abiotically less favorable site, but we could not disentangle this effect from a difference in oak species. Our results suggest that admixing certain tree species can have considerable positive impact. Mixing of species on individual basis can be generally recommended, particularly if high impact specialist pathogens such as oak powdery mildew are to be expected. However, differences in juvenile growth rates need to be taken into account, as they may lead to strong adverse effects of shading.

1. Introduction

Mixed tree species composition in managed forests has been a contentious topic since the dawn of modern forestry in the 18th century. As modern forestry initially revolved around the sustainable optimization of wood and biomass production, mono-specific stands of highly productive (often coniferous) species quickly became the norm (Pretzsch, 2005; Scherer-Lorenzen, 2014). Recently, worries concerning global loss of biodiversity and research into positive effects of biodiversity on the functioning of ecosystems have reinvigorated this discussion (Cardinale et al., 2012; Hillebrand and Matthiessen, 2009; Hooper et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2012). Case studies, analyses into forest inventory data and meta-analyses showed positive effects of mixing tree species on the functioning of forest ecosystems (Liang et al., 2016; Paquette and Messier, 2011; van der Plas et al., 2016b; Vilà et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2012).

Mechanisms proposed to explain these positive effects of mixing tree species include complementarity of resource use in time and/or space (Morin et al., 2011; Pretzsch and Schütze, 2009; Ratcliffe et al., 2015) or through facilitation such as hydraulic or nutrient lift (Pretzsch and Schütze, 2009; Zapater et al., 2011) or nitrogen fixation (Forrester et al., 2006). Mixing tree species has also been associated with decreased pressure of pests and pathogens, mitigating their negative impact and reducing the risk of catastrophic infestation episodes (Hantsch et al., 2013; Jactel et al., 2005; Jactel and Brockerhoff, 2007). Similarly, mixing species may also hedge against other calamities such as severe droughts, wildfires or spring frost through a portfolio effect of variant susceptibilities (Isbell et al., 2009; Van de Peer et al., 2016). Direct facilitation is also possible here, for instance by reducing physical transmission rates (Peacock et al., 2001) or tempering the local microclimate (Hantsch et al., 2014). This has been of particular interest as the various abiotic and biotic processes giving rise to the Anthropocene, such as greenhouse gas emissions and the spread of invasive species, are expected to increase the frequency and severity of such extremes (Niinemets, 2010; Spathelf et al., 2014).

One of the most critical phases of tree development is the sapling stage, when trees are more accessible to herbivores and have less reserves to compensate for growth- and assimilation-impairing processes such as spring frost, drought and diseases (Barton and Hanley, 2013; Sobek et al., 2009). Under these stressful conditions, facilitation between organisms may be promoted as suggested by the Stress Gradient Hypothesis (Bertness and Callaway, 1994) and found in practice in various ecosystems, including forests (He et al., 2013; Paquette and Messier, 2011; Toïgo et al., 2015). The potential for facilitation is likely to be greater in more diverse stands, as size asymmetry due to different growth rates allows for sheltering effects (Castagneyrol et al., 2013; Eränen and Kozlov, 2008; Smit et al., 2006) and different susceptibilities (often resistance) to

pests or pathogens reduces their potential populations and likelihood to encounter hosts (Guyot et al., 2015; Sobek et al., 2009).

Such mitigating effects of facilitation in the sapling stage may have repercussions for future tree vitality and growth, as effects of stress can carry over to later years (Bert et al., 2016; Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012). For example, the biotrophic oak powdery mildew fungus (Erysiphe sp.) infects the leaves of oaks (Quercus sp.) reducing leaf lifespan and photosynthesis (Hajji et al., 2009). Besides a negative impact on growth rates, it is responsible for substantial mortality in young oak saplings, who lack the reserves to compensate for these productivity losses while struggling in competition with other trees and understorey species (Bert et al., 2016; Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012; Pap et al., 2012). As powdery mildew is a host-specific disease which requires asexual spore production during the growing season for maximal infection rates (Feau et al., 2012), reducing the availability of hosts and increasing the frequency of 'dead ends' for the spores may limit the disease's impact in more tree species rich stands. Supporting findings for this mechanism have been found (Dillen et al., 2016; Hantsch et al., 2013), as well as for similar diseases such as leaf rusts (Peacock et al., 2001). Size asymmetry between smaller oak saplings and sheltering pioneer species of similar age might mitigate negative effects of wind or late spring frost (Gemmel et al., 1996; Setiawan et al., 2016) or reduce apparency for herbivores (Castagneyrol et al., 2013), but may also reduce light transmission and therefore negatively impact growth rates (Gemmel et al., 1996).

While trees through their size are more easily individually observable than non-woody plants (Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2007), their slow growth makes experiments run long and more easily confoundable through changing abiotic conditions and stand dynamics throughout the years (Baeten et al., 2013). Their slow growth also makes harvesting less practical and desirable, which is particularly problematic for root characteristics (Meinen et al., 2009b) and differences in allocation of biomass to different parts of the tree (Domisch et al., 2015). To look at these characteristics in greater detail, we harvested four-year old oak saplings which had grown for three years within two experimental tree diversity plantations of the FORBIO experiment in Belgium (Verheyen et al., 2013). We investigated the influence of neighbourhood tree species composition on multiple characteristics of oak saplings linked to growth. Specifically, we looked at above- and belowground coarse and fine dry biomass (and their ratio), specific leaf area, total leaf area and leaf nutrient contents of carbon (C) and nitrogen (N). We defined tree species composition both as species richness and species identity, i.e. the absence or presence of certain tree species. Additionally, to refine our understanding of which mechanisms were at play, we linked these growth characteristics to two important factors influencing oak sapling survival and growth: powdery mildew infection severity and degree of shading.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Field sites

Our study took place in two of the three sites of the FORBIO project in Belgium. FORBIO (FORest BIOdiversity and Ecosystem Functioning) is a network of three relatively large (ca. 9 ha) experimental forest sites, 'designed specifically to test the effects of tree species diversity on forest ecosystem functioning' (Verheven et al., 2013). We worked within the sites in Zedelgem and Gedinne, both of which were planted in winter-early spring of 2009-2010. One to three year old saplings of five different tree species were planted with a planting distance of 1.5 m x 1.5 m in 40 plots of typically 42 m x 42 m (Fig. 1). Plots corresponded to compositions of one up to four species and consisted of 81 planted groups of 3 by 3 (4 by 3 at two of the four plot edges) or 784 trees total. Groups were distributed randomly for the three- and four species mixtures, but evenly for the two species mixtures. All five monocultures and four-species mixtures were represented; five randomly selected compositions were chosen for the two- and three species richness level. All 20 compositions were replicated once for the total of 40 plots. A few extra plots were present in both sites for differences in provenance but these were not used in this study. The tree species used differed between sites due to their different edaphic conditions and because species important in local silviculture were preferred, to make the experiment more representative (Verheyen et al., 2013). In Zedelgem, pedunculate oak (Quercus robur), European beech (Fagus sylvatica), Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris), small-leaved lime (Tilia cordata) and silver birch (Betula pendula) were planted; in Gedinne, European beech, sessile oak (Quercus petraea), sycamore maple (Acer pseudoplatanus), hybrid larch (Larix x eurolepis) and Douglas fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii) were planted.

The site of Zedelgem is located on a former agricultural field and has a sandy to loamy sandy soil. It is located not far from the North Sea and has a very mild, temperate climate. The site of Gedinne consists of two separate subsites, called Gribelle and Gouverneurs, separated by about 4 km and each containing all different species compositions. Both subsites were planted on former Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) forest after clearcut. Their soils are more organic, with the soil in Gribelle more exposed and with a higher stone content. Monthly rainfall data during the course of our study can be found in (Dillen et al., 2016). More info on the FORBIO sites can be found in Verheyen et al. (2013).


Fig. 1: Lay-out of the experimental setup in the two FORBIO sites. In the example of a four-species plot in the top right, each numbered cell represents a tree and each color represents its species. Three oak saplings were planted between four such trees, in one of the black rectangles where the plot composition matches, as can be seen in the top left. There were only three saplings per plot so only one of those rectangles was used.

2.2. Experimental setup

To study the effects of different compositions on oak saplings specifically, one-year old saplings were planted between the FORBIO trees in April-May 2013. We used the same oak species as was present in the site (i.e. *Q. robur* in Zedelgem, *Q. petraea* in Gedinne). Three such saplings were planted together between four of the FORBIO trees in all 40 plots, for a total of 120 saplings per site (Fig. 1). The saplings were planted in black pots of 20 L to make it possible to subject them to a gradient of rainfall reduction. The pots had holes in the bottom to prevent waterlogging and were dug in so as to minimize solar heating and equalize the soil levels in and outside the pot. Soil from the (sub)sites themselves was used, collected from unplanted patches. A treatment reducing rainfall was added in May-June of 2013 and, after being removed each winter, installed again around the same time in the subsequent two years. Small PVC gutters were placed above the pot surface but below the sapling's crown to intercept precipitation. A control and one to two pairs of gutters were used as can be seen in Fig. 1. In a previous analysis of growth data, this rainfall reduction treatment was found to

have no impact on growth rates or powdery mildew infections and only minor impact on soil moisture conditions (Dillen et al., 2016). Therefore the rainfall reduction gradient was only included in this analysis as a covariate.

2.3. Measurements of powdery mildew and shading

Monitoring for powdery mildew was performed in Zedelgem in July, August and October of 2013 and July and September of 2014. There was virtually no powdery mildew in Zedelgem during the 2015 growing season. In Gedinne, mildew monitoring was performed in July and August of 2013 and 2014 as well as in August 2015. Estimates of leaf area affected by the fungus were made for each first order shoots using four classes: 0-5%, 6-30%, 31-60% and 61-100%. From October 2013 onwards, these first order shoot units were also given relative weights estimated to reflect their size as part of the crown to reflect the rapidly increasing size asymmetry between shoots. Shoot scores were subsequently scaled up to the sapling level by calculating a (weighted) average using the shoot size weights if available and the class mids for each class except that 0 was used for the lowest class. Other symptoms of leaf damage, such as mining and galls, were also evaluated, but found to be far less important than powdery mildew. Shading was measured once using a spherical densiometer (Baudry et al., 2014) in July and August of 2015. A value in % was obtained right above the crown of each sapling for light from the East, South and West, but collinearity was high so that the average of those three values was used in subsequent analysis. More info on this monitoring protocol can be found in (Dillen et al., 2016).

2.4. Measurements of growth characteristics

From September to November 2015, all 240 saplings planted in the experiment were removed from the sites. In Zedelgem, six saplings were dead and had been at least since 2014. Three were in one plot, a four-species mixture without birch. The others were in a monoculture of oak, a mixture of oak and beech and a four-species mixture without lime. These were all omitted from further analysis. One dead phytometer was noted in Gedinne in a monoculture of beech and also omitted.

In September, all leaves were harvested from all saplings. To determine Specific Leaf Area (SLA, leaf area/leaf dry weight), a selection of ten leaves per sapling representative for the whole sample was scanned fresh using a copying machine. The selected leaves were then dried and weighed individually (0.001 g precision). The remaining leaves were also dried at 70°C and weighed together to determine a total crown leaf weight per sapling (excluding the selected leaves). Before weighing, leaf galls were removed from all leaves. The total crown leaf weight samples were then grinded to prepare them for chemical analysis. Total C and N concentrations were then

measured by high-temperature combustion at 1,150°C using an elemental analyzer (Vario MACRO cube CNS, Elementar, Hanau, Germany).

The surface area of the scanned leaves was determined digitally using a batch macro in ImageJ (Rasband, 2016), first thresholding the scans to binary images then using the built-in *Analyze Particles* function with minimal size (1000) and circularity (0.1) restrictions to count the number of pixels per leaf. These were subsequently converted to mm² using the resolution of 300 DPI. The data for leaf surface area and dry weight were then matched in R (R Core Team, 2015) to obtain the SLA's, assuming the same hierarchy for each ten values, using the *dplyr* package (Wickham and Francois, 2015). The Total Leaf Area (TLA) was determined by multiplying the average SLA of the ten selected leaves with the total crown leaf weight.

Between September and November 2015, the woody biomass of all saplings was collected and dried at 70°C until constant weight. Roots were removed from the soil but not washed before drying. After drying, aboveground biomass with diameter < and \geq 3 mm was weighed separately per sapling. The cut-off point between above- and belowground was defined as the soil line marked on the stem. Belowground biomass was cleaned of soil, stones and herbaceous roots manually, before separately weighing it for roots < and \geq 2 mm.

2.5. Statistical analysis

Our statistical analysis was performed in R (R Core Team, 2015). To evaluate the shoot weight approach of the PM monitoring, we compared the determined TLA to the sum of all weights as estimated in August 2015 in both sites. We also made allometric relationships between diameter in September 2015 (as measured by Dillen et al. (2016)) and belowground, aboveground and total dry biomass for both sites. To derive these relationships, we made a linear regression between the natural logarithm of the diameter and the different types of dry biomass. Results for both validations can be found in the Appendix.

For the analysis of the influence of species composition on growth characteristics, we used linear mixed models from the *Ime4* package (Bates et al., 2015) with *ImerTest* extension (Kuznetsova et al., 2015) to determine Satterthwaithe approximated p-values. We ran models separately for data from the two sites, due to the difference in oak species, the neighbourhood tree species compositions and abiotic conditions. Composition in the local neighbourhood was defined as the four surrounding FORBIO trees, which also corresponded to the composition of the 36 closest FORBIO trees. For each site, the following three models were determined



_

Table 1: List of all growth characteristics (Y) used in the models

Symbol	Description	Unit
Rf	Fine belowground dry biomass (< 2 mm)	mg
Rc	Coarse belowground dry biomass (≥ 2 mm)	mg
Wf	Fine aboveground dry biomass (< 3 mm)	mg
Wc	Coarse aboveground dry biomass (> 3 mm)	mg
TBM	Total dry biomass	mg
R/W	Below-/aboveground dry biomass ratio	
SLA	Average Specific Leaf Area	mm²/mg
TLA	Total Leaf Area	cm ²
leaf N	Leaf N concentration by weight	%
leaf C	Leaf C concentration by weight	%
leaf C/N	Leaf C to N ratio	

SR is the species richness (1-4), **SP** is the absence or presence of each of the five species, **SH** is the degree of shading (between 0 and 1) and **PM**_i constitutes all different powdery mildew scores (between 0 and 1). The list of variables for Y can be found in Table 1. All models included an intercept and plot as a random factor. They also included a fixed factor for the rainfall reduction gradient and for the replication of the different composition treatments, which also corresponded to the two subsites in Gedinne. We applied log transformations if residual heterogeneity was noted. Species richness and species identity were modeled separately as the former is always a linear combination of all the latter. Multicollinearity in the last model was evaluated with Variance Inflation Factors (VIF), using a modified function of the package *rms* (https://github.com/aufrank/R-hacks/blob/master/mer-utils.R).

3. Results

General results for all growth characteristics and scores of powdery mildew and shading can be found in Table 2. As expected, TBM was lower in the abiotically less favorable site of Gedinne. Biomass was disproportionally lower aboveground than belowground in this site, as reflected in a R/W ratio that was twice as high as in Zedelgem. Leaf C varied little, so that the leaf C/N ratio was very strongly correlated to leaf N (r = -0.98 in Zedelgem and -0.96 in Gedinne). Values for shading were a fair bit lower in Gedinne

(39%) than in Zedelgem (63%), while powdery mildew scores were generally lower in Zedelgem (with the notable exception of July 2014).

Results for the three models per site can be found in Tables 3 and 4. All variables were log transformed. Species richness had virtually no effects, only correlating with R/W ratio and SLA in Zedelgem. Conversely, species identities had strong impact in this site, on biomass variables as well as TLA. The presence of oak, and to a lesser extent birch, had a negative impact on biomass characteristics, whereas the other three species and in particular beech showed positive effects. Negative effects of oak presence were slightly stronger on aboveground than belowground biomass (41 and 37% reductions in coarse BM respectively), but the difference was not significant given the small, insignificant effect on the R/W ratio. The presence of pine much like beech positively influenced aboveground biomass, in particular fine BM and TLA, but also had similar effects as birch on R/W ratio and SLA. In contrast, identity effects in the site of Gedinne were much weaker, finding only effects for R/W ratio, SLA and leaf N characteristics.

Table 2 Mean values and standard deviations for the growth characteristics measured, the different PM scores and the degree of shading. Note that the units used here may differ from those used in the statistical models. Descriptions of the symbols can be found in Table 1.

	Zede	lgem	Gedi	nne
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Rf (g)	9.47	4.83	6.88	3.20
Rc (g)	31.57	23.23	25.76	14.36
Wf (g)	8.43	5.22	4.58	2.28
Wc (g)	30.40	21.29	12.41	9.83
TBM (g)	79.87	51.49	49.63	27.04
R/W	1.14	0.35	2.14	0.75
SLA (mm²/mg)	17.88	2.94	14.44	2.77
TLA (dm²)	24.16	15.23	13.47	8.76
leaf N (%)	2.48	0.28	2.06	0.37
leaf C/N	20.15	2.18	25.27	4.84
leaf C (%)	49.39	0.67	50.29	0.96
PM Jul 13 (%)	6.82	8.27	28.03	18.18
PM Aug 13 (%)	11.74	9.52	35.88	16.20
PM Jul 14 (%)	22.61	16.80	12.16	13.08
PM Aug 15 (%)	2.08	6.13	10.87	13.6
Shade (%)	62.84	25.75	39.24	27.47
	1			

Collinearity for the PM scores in the third model was large (VIF>2) in both sites and hence variables with the highest VIF were omitted. The impact of the most severe PM infections of July 2014 in Zedelgem is dominant on all biomass traits and TLA (Fig. 2).

Shade also had a notable negative effect, increasing average SLA and leaf N as well, but not affecting TLA or fine aboveground BM. The average infection with PM in July 2014 is associated with 29% less total biomass at the end of 2015 compared to an uninfected sapling. The average degree of shading results in 36% less biomass compared to no shade. In Gedinne, the negative impact of PM on biomass was visible in both 2013 and 2014 (Fig. 2), but not 2015. PM in 2015 did have an effect on the leaf traits of SLA and leaf N. Negative effects of shading on BM were less pronounced in this site, with total BM reductions of 13%, 13% and 17% for shading and PM in July 2013 and July 2014 respectively (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Scores for total sapling BM in function of PM affected leaf area and degree of shading in both sites. The lines shown are model predictions based on the full model results in table 2, assuming all other parameters to be equal to 0.

virtually always significant and was included in the table to allow interpreting the order of magnitude of the different parameter effect sizes. It was transformations were performed on all response variables to compensate for residual heterogeneity. PM scores that are not listed were omitted more or less identical in value for the species richness and identity models, as were the estimates of the reduced rainfall treatment (RR). Log stimates are shown in bold, with °, *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001 respectively. The intercept C was Table 3: Results of the three models in Zedelgem. Symbol descriptions can be found in Table 1. Significant or semi-significant parameter from analysis due to high VIF's.

	S	pecies Ri	ichness			Spe	scies Iden	tity			A	ll and sh	ading	
	ပ	SR	RR1	RR2	Oak	Beech	Pine	Lime	Birch	с	Jul13	Aug13	Jul14	Shading
Rf (mg)	8.91***	-0.03	0.24**	0.14	-0.37**	0.22	0.13	0.09	-0.20	9.52***	-0.15	-0.36	-1.08***	-0.47*
Rc (mg)	10.15***	-0.06	0.25*	0.14	-0.46**	0.31*	0.01	0.26°	-0.36*	11.24***	0.03	-0.26	-1.69***	-1.14***
Wf (mg)	8.57***	0.03	0.15	0.20°	-0.59**	0.24	0.36*	0.19	-0.01	9.12***	1.39°	0.01	-1.46***	-0.14
Wc (mg)	9.98***	0.01	0.27*	0.16	-0.52**	0.29°	0.20	0.25	-0.14	10.86***	0.39	-0.23	-1.55***	-0.58*
TBM (mg)	11.02***	-0.02	0.24*	0.15	-0.48**	0.28°	0.13	0.22	-0.22	11.88***	0.34	-0.28	-1.47***	-0.70**
RW	0.19°	-0.06*	0.00	-0.02	0.09	0.02	-0.19**	-0.01	-0.21**	0.31**	-0.36	-0.27	0.13	-0.44***
SLA (mm²/mg)	2.77***	0.04*	-0.03	0.00	-0.04	-0.02	0.15***	-0.05	0.14***	2.66***	-0.09	-0.13	-0.07	0.40***
TLA (cm²)	4.93***	0.08	0.20°	0.15	-0.62***	0.34*	0.40*	0.21	0.08	5.75***	0.81	-0.16	-1.85***	-0.15
leaf N (%)	0.89***	0.01	0.00	-0.02	0.04	-0.01	0.01	-0.03	0.05*	0.83***	0.23°	-0.18°	0.07	0.12**
leaf C/N	3.02***	-0.01	0.00	0.02	-0.04	0.01	-0.02	0.03	-0.05*	3.08***	-0.23°	0.19°	-0.07	-0.14**
Leaf C (%)	3.90***	00.0	0.00	0.00	0.00	00.0	-0.01*	0.00	0.00	3.91***	0.00	0.00	0.00	-0.01°

Table 4: Results of the three models in Gedinne. Symbol descriptions can be found in Table 1. Significant or semi-significant parameter estimates are shown in bold, with °, *, ** and *** indicating a significance of <0.1, <0.05, <0.01 and <0.001 respectively. The intercept C was virtually always were performed on all response variables to compensate for residual heterogeneity. PM scores that are not listed were omitted from analysis due identical in value for the species richness and identity models, as were the estimates of the reduced rainfall treatment (RR). Log transformations significant and was included in the table to allow interpreting the order of magnitude of the different parameter effect sizes. It was more or less to high VIF's.

-

	ŝ	oecies ri	chness			Sp	ecies iden	tity			PR	l and shad	ling	
	c	SR	RR1	RR2	Oak	Beech	Douglas	Maple	Larch	c	Jul13	Jul14	Aug15	Shading
Rf (mg)	8.67***	0.01	-0.07	0.06	-0.12	0.23*	0.09	-0.08	-0.06	9.18***	-0.66**	-0.97**	-0.22	-0.36*
Rc (mg)	9.86***	0.03	-0.22°	-0.03	-0.01	0.18	0.11	-0.01	-0.13	10.48***	-0.70*	-1.37***	-0.52	-0.56*
Wf (mg)	8.15***	-0.02	-0.17°	0.00	-0.05	-0.04	0.08	-0.16	0.06	8.29***	-0.76**	-0.38	0.00	-0.04
Wc (mg)	9.02***	-0.05	-0.20	0.07	-0.06	-0.07	0.11	-0.24	0.03	9.28***	-0.71*	-1.13*	-0.08	-0.07
TBM (mg)	10.54***	0.00	-0.20°	0.00	-0.05	0.10	0.10	-0.09	-0.06	11.01***	-0.70**	-1.17**	-0.33	-0.36°
RW	0.74***	0.06°	0.00	-0.05	0.02	0.25***	0.00	0.19**	-0.15*	1.13***	0.02	-0.42°	-0.40°	-0.46***
SLA (mm²/mg)	2.69***	-0.02	0.04	-0.02	-0.03	-0.10*	-0.02	-0.07°	0.10*	2.54***	0.02	-0.05	0.33**	0.29***
TLA (cm²)	4.53***	0.02	-0.15	-0.06	0.06	0.01	0.13	-0.23	0.11	4.93***	-0.83**	-1.34**	0.09	0.10
leaf N (%)	0.72***	-0.01	0.00	0.02	0.04	-0.06	0.02	-0.11*	0.08°	0.64***	0.06	-0.03	0.29*	0.14°
leaf C/N	3.19***	0.01	0.00	0.00	-0.04	0.07	-0.02	0.11*	-0.08°	3.29***	-0.08	0.03	-0.28*	-0.16*
Leaf C (%)	3.91***	0.00	0.00	0.00	00.0	0.00	0.00	0.00	-0.01	3.92***	-0.02°	00.00	0.00	-0.02*

4. Discussion

Neighbourhood species richness had no effect on any of our measurements, as was previously found in the same sites for relative growth data (Dillen et al., 2016) as well as growth of the older FORBIO trees (Setiawan et al., 2016). The identity of the neighbourhood species had quite pronounced effects in the site of Zedelgem, but not in Gedinne. Negative effects of the presence of oak on all aspects of dry biomass and total leaf area in Zedelgem might be explained by the equally strong effects of powdery mildew. The oak-specific pathogenic fungus was found to cause substantial infections at least once in each site during the course of the experiment, most notably in July 2014 in Zedelgem after late spring frost.

In Zedelgem, the positive identity effect of beech and to a slightly lesser extent of smallleaved lime on all aspects of biomass might be partially explained by the low degree of shading cast by these species at this age (Dillen et al., 2016), while shading had a pronounced negative effect on biomass in this site. However, shading had a disproportionate impact on root biomass, which is not seen in the species identity effects of lime and beech, while the most shade-casting species, silver birch, did have stronger negative effects on belowground biomass. The influence of shading on leaf traits, increasing SLA and reducing leaf C/N (Jensen et al., 2012; Niinemets, 1998; van Hees, 1997), could be found for birch, but was also not mirrored for the identity effects of beech and lime. This suggests another mechanism of facilitation besides shading may be at work here, although complementarity for resources at the root level is unlikely as all oak saplings were planted in pots.

The other shade-casting species in Zedelgem, Scots pine, had similar effects as birch on SLA and R/W ratio, but not leaf C/N or BM. While this may partially be due to a diminished association of presence with shading in this site compared to birch – 20 and 31% increase, respectively (Dillen et al., 2016) – the positive effects on fine aboveground BM and TLA are remarkable. Despite the large difference in degree of shading, pine was on average of similar height as the other three species present (ca. 2 m in 2014), whereas birch was almost twice as tall and very close to crown closure (Setiawan et al., 2016, Appendix A). Hence, the shade cast by birches from much higher was inescapable for the rarely taller than 1 m oak saplings, whereas pines cast their shade from much lower and grew more horizontally, keeping the incentive for stem growth and crown development stronger. This does not explain the discrepancy between a greater SLA yet no lower leaf C/N; however, this may be due to the greater sensitivity to changing light conditions of SLA than leaf N in *Q. robur* (Niinemets, 1998).

Species identity effects were much less prominent in the site of Gedinne. The characteristics related to shading (R/W ratio, SLA and leaf C/N) were associated with the most shade-casting species hybrid larch in this site, as well as inversely with

sycamore maple and beech, which suffered from high mortality and slow juvenile growth rate, respectively (Setiawan et al., 2016; Van de Peer et al., 2016). Yet there were no strong associations with BM characteristics or TLA, not even of oak despite the negative effects of PM both in 2013 and 2014 on all aspects of BM and leaf area. A likely explanation is lower susceptibility of *Q. petraea* to PM than *Q. robur* (Dillen et al., 2016; Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012). This is supported by the lower impact of PM on BM in July 2013 in Gedinne than in July 2014 in Zedelgem, despite the average affected area in Gedinne being over 50% greater. We cannot disentangle this hypothesis from the different abiotic conditions between both sites, however, as illustrated by the much less negative impact of shading on BM and total dry BM per sapling being over 60% greater in Zedelgem than in Gedinne. The higher R/W ratio might reflect incentive for stronger root development, such as water or nutrient shortages, or less incentive for shoot development due to the lower degree of shading and its lower impact on biomass.

The occurrence of PM in Gedinne in 2015 reveals a strong impact of the disease on leaf characteristics, increasing SLA and reducing leaf C/N. Previous research found opposite response of leaf C/N, with leaf C increasing and leaf N decreasing with increasingly severe infection, and no response of SLA (Hajji et al., 2009; Tack et al., 2012). However, their results also show that leaf N was elevated in infected leaves when compared to uninfected ones. This difference dwarves the trend among infected leaves, which was strongest for severe infections of more than 25% of leaf area affected, compared to the 11% in our data. Another study did not look at differences in leaf area, but found higher leaf dry BM in infected leaves, which does not support our results for SLA either (Pap et al., 2014).

5. Conclusion

In this study, we looked at the influence of neighbourhood tree species composition, defined as either species richness or absence/presence of certain species, on various growth characteristics of oak saplings. We also linked these characteristics to scores of leaf area infected by powdery mildew and the degree of shading. We found no effects of species richness in neither site, yet strong effects of species presence in the abiotically more favorable site of Zedelgem. These effects could be linked to the strong negative impact on biomass of powdery mildew and shading, which were both associated differently with the five species. Effects of shading differed between above- and belowground biomass and varied depending on which shade-casting species was present. Higher biomass values in the presence of slower growing and therefore – while young – less shade-casting species like European beech and small-leaved lime could not be fully linked to this absence of shading. The abiotically less favorable site of Gedinne showed little effects of species composition on oak saplings and less negative impact of shading or powdery mildew. This can be explained by poorer susceptibility of

Q. petraea to oak PM than *Q. robur* or by a smaller impact of the disease under harsher abiotic conditions.

Our results suggest that, while increased tree species richness showed little impact on dry biomass production or other growth characteristics per se, admixing certain species in the local neighbourhood can have a considerable negative or positive impact. Mixing of species on individual basis can be recommended in particular if high impact specialist pathogens such as oak powdery mildew are to be expected. *Q. petraea* may also be a preferable species to *Q. robur* in high risk circumstances. Even though we found little effect of species richness *sensu stricto*, our study did not look into impacts on other ecosystem functions or on longer time scales. The substantial impact of disease in our experiment strengthens the argument for mixing species as risk mitigation against future calamities, in particular in the light of globalization and its associated greater risk of invasive pests and pathogens.

6. Acknowledgments

MD was supported in this research by an FWO and an Ubbo Emmius grant. We would like to thank Luc Willems, Kris Ceunen and Filip Ceunen for their help with setting up the experiment and performing the fieldwork, as well as Evy Ampoorter for help with the statistical analysis. We would also like to thank Masudur Rahman and Francesco Calabrese for their help processing the leaf and biomass samples.

Appendix

Results of the crown size estimate validation can be found in Figure A.1. Adjusted R² was 0.78 for Zedelgem and 0.69 for Gedinne, with residual variance increasing with greater crown size. Results for the allometric relationships can be found on Figure A.2. Adjusted R² values for Zedelgem were 0.82, 0.83 and 0.72 for TBM, W and R biomass respectively. For Gedinne, they were 0.74, 0.80 and 0.62. Variance was notably higher for Gedinne belowground biomass.



Fig. A.2 Linear regression between Total Leaf Area as determined after harvest in September 2015 and estimated crown size as estimated by the sum of shoot weights used during monitoring for PM. Adjusted R^2 was 0.78 for Zedelgem and 0.69 for Gedinne.



Fig. A.3 Allometric relationships between diameter and dry biomass, respectively total (TBM), aboveground (W) and belowground (R), in 2016. Adjusted R² values for Zedelgem were 0.82, 0.83 and 0.72 respectively. For Gedinne, they were 0.74, 0.80 and 0.62 respectively.

Chapter 7: Synthesis and conclusion

Global loss of biodiversity has raised concerns about the potential impact of reduced diversity on the functioning of ecosystems (Ceballos et al., 2015). After roughly two decades of research, evidence has been found in multiple systems, including forests, that a greater species diversity is associated with greater ecosystem functioning (Cardinale et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2016; Tilman et al., 2014). Concurrent with biodiversity loss, other processes such as climate change and biotic homogenization are expected to alter environmental conditions of multiple ecosystems, possibly increasing the amount and frequency of stress organisms within them will experience (Rockström et al., 2009; Turcsan et al., 2016; van der Plas et al., 2016b). Theory suggests positive interactions between organisms to be more frequent and possibly more important under more stressful conditions (Bertness and Callaway, 1994; He et al., 2013; Soliveres et al., 2014), which may result in positive effects of greater diversity on the functioning of ecosystems to be even more prominent under future, more stressful conditions. A few studies have found evidence of such an interplay between diversity, stress and ecosystem functioning (Steudel et al., 2012), also in forests (Jucker et al., 2015; Paguette and Messier, 2011; Toïgo et al., 2015). But much remains unclear about how universal these relationships really are and the mechanisms driving them.

In this thesis, I shed light on how local neighbourhood composition may influence growth and productivity in young forest systems and how these composition effects may be influenced by an environmental stress gradient. Second, I looked at potential mechanisms driving these composition effects, including multitrophic interactions with natural enemies of prominent tree pests. To address my research questions, I monitored productivity of trees in young forest stands in function of their local neighbourhood tree species composition, contrasting effects of species richness with those of different species identities. To explore interactions between diversity relationships and stress, I subjected saplings to a stress gradient of reduced rainfall. Finally, to shed light on the mechanisms behind composition effects, I looked at symptoms of leaf damage and the trophic interaction between a leaf pathogen and its natural enemy in function of composition, as well as multiple tree and stand characteristics related to biomass and leaf traits. In this final chapter, I will summarize the most important results I found of each chapter and link the findings from different chapters with each other. I will also offer recommendations for future research as well as for forest management.

1. Main Findings

In **Chapter 2**, I assessed effects of clonal diversity in a willow Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) stand. While biomass productivity was generally found to be higher in more genetically diverse plots, this diversity effect was not significant. Variability in biomass

production between plots was very high due to an unidentified confounding variable, which could not clearly be linked to measured soil characteristics or to leaf surface temperatures obtained using an UAV. Nevertheless, complementarity effects were generally stronger than selection effects for those plots where overyielding was found. Differences in stand characteristics such as stem count per stool and evenness of biomass were found between monocultures and mixed plots containing less-productive clones. These effects were most likely related to differences in productivity and vitality between clones, causing more gaps of dead or poor stools and therefore more instances of increased productivity of stools adjacent to these gaps. This resulted in less symmetric stands and could possibly influence the quality of the harvested biomass. Hence, mere differences in productivity may still have repercussions for the functioning of these systems – in particular relatively intensively managed forest systems such as SRC.

In Chapter 3, I measured relative growth rates of oak saplings in two young forest plantations consisting of various monocultures and mixtures of five different tree species. The saplings were also subjected to a gradient of reduced rainfall and they were scored for severity of powdery mildew (PM) infection and other leaf pests or pathogens, as well as how much shading they received from neighbouring trees. The reduced rainfall gradient had little to no effect on growth or PM infection, likely because its impact on soil moisture conditions was not strong enough. Species richness had no impact on growth in neither of the two sites, but PM rates were elevated in 2013 and 2015 in monocultures in the site of Gedinne, where growth was slower and PM had less impact on it. Species identity had strong effects in the other site of Zedelgem, most notably a Janzen-Connell effect of the presence of oak associated with PM infections. Presence of beech and lime had positive effects on growth, likely related to comparably reduced levels of shading they cast at this young age. The degree of shading had strong negative effects on growth in Zedelgem, as did PM infections. In contrast, shading had positive effects on growth in Gedinne. The different responses to neighbourhood composition between sites were ascribed to the difference in oak species (Q. robur versus Q. petraea), but could also be related to differences in abiotic conditions between sites. These results emphasize the importance of identity effects, in particular Janzen-Connell effects if high impact pathogens such as powdery mildew are expected. While the effect of stress on composition effects could not properly be evaluated, indications of more facilitation were found in the less favorable site of Gedinne, including PM mitigation in mixed stands.

In **Chapter 4**, I looked into how the activity of adult mycophagous ladybirds (*Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata*), which are considered natural enemies of PM, is influenced by local neighbourhood tree species composition and by a stress gradient. I combined a field monitoring campaign in the experiment of **Chapter 3** with a lab choice feeding

experiment to gain insight into the direct impact of water stress on PM and ladybird mycophagy. An interaction between the reduced rainfall gradient and tree species richness was found during the drier second half of our monitoring period: When controlling for initial PM levels, the effect of species richness on the rate of mycophagy became (more) positive as the treatment intercepted more rainfall. This interaction was found to be due to a somehow increased vulnerability of PM to mycophagy, rather than increased ladybird numbers. In the lab experiment, PM levels were not influenced by different watering rates, while mycophagy was considerably higher on leaves of saplings which received less water. Both results support positive (intertrophic) species interactions becoming more important along a stress gradient, although the mechanisms behind this particular interaction are not yet clear. Mycophagous ladybirds had significant impact on PM levels and might be an interesting species group for biological control.

Chapter 5 is a brief chapter detailing breeding of the mycophagous ladybirds required for the lab experiment of **Chapter 4**. Breeding was ultimately successful, but some important considerations were noted. Their life cycle was described and quantified, both the durations of each life stage and associated PM mycophagy rates. Larvae of the final instar were found to have greater rates of mycophagy than the adults. We found no evidence of the species going into diapause or preferences for certain species of PM, but other food sources than PM were left untouched.

Finally, in **Chapter 6** I described results from the analysis of different sapling biomass and leaf traits in function of local neighbourhood composition, PM levels and shading, after harvesting the saplings at the end of the experiment of **Chapter 3**. Effects on total biomass were similar to those on relative growth, with neighbourhood species richness having little impact whereas neighbourhood identity had a strong impact in Zedelgem, particularly oak, beech and lime. Positive effects of beech and lime could not be fully related to reduced shading rates, suggesting facilitation or complementarity by another mechanism. The negative effect of shading in the site of Zedelgem was much more apparent on biomass traits, although effects contrasted between identity effects of birch and pine. This was probably a consequence of their different juvenile growth strategies, with pine showing less height growth than birch. A much greater fraction of belowground biomass in Gedinne provided further evidence for the influence of abiotic limitation in this site. The influence of PM on leaf traits only partially concurred with findings from previous studies.

2. Composition effects in forests

In the experiments that were a part of this thesis, I found no significant effects of local neighbourhood tree species richness on productivity and some effects on the severity of PM infections or PM grazing by ladybirds. There was an increased severity of PM in

monocultures in Gedinne in 2013 and 2015 and there were increased levels of mycophagy with greater species richness in Zedelgem in 2014 at the more extreme end of the reduced rainfall gradient. However, these effects did not translate into altered growth rates or realized biomass at the end of the experiment in the autumn of 2015. PM had overall less impact on growth in the site of Gedinne, despite a greater percent of leaf area affected by the fungus. The effect of richness on PM might be related to the extreme microclimatic conditions in monocultures, associated with either very low or very high incidence of shade and exposure to the elements, whereas in mixtures different functional traits result in conditions somewhere in between (Hantsch et al., 2014). Yet, this would seem to suggest some link between these functional traits and PM infection, which we did not see anywhere else in our study and is also reported to be weak at best in literature (Marcais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012; Pap et al., 2013). The lack of a similar pattern for 2014 growth rates and species composition as found for mycophagy suggests the effect of this sort of biological control on the impact of PM on growth to be rather weak. Yet I did not assess mycophagy earlier in the 2014 growing season, when PM infections were worse and the presence of ladybird larvae could have had a greater impact.

The lack of species richness effects on growth in the FORBIO sites might be explained by the lack of dilution along the richness gradient. Oak density was not maximal in monocultures, which included oak monocultures but also monocultures of other species, and the fraction of plots that included oak was actually higher with greater species richness. The strong negative effect of oak presence on growth in one of the two sites suggests the Janzen-Connell effect to play a major role (Scherer-Lorenzen et al., 2005b). As the most important noted pathogen in both sites, PM is the most likely cause, although I cannot rule out other, less apparent pests and pathogens of oak. This negative identity effect implies there may be considerable benefit in mixing species, mitigating the impact of pests and pathogens by host dilution (Hantsch et al., 2013). Hence, rather than suggesting there is no effect of mixing different tree species, the lack of species richness effects on productivity is more indicative of little impact of mechanisms such as natural enemies activity, associational susceptibility or species richness-linked alterations of the local microclimate. Natural enemies in this system were very specialized, limiting the expected impact of species richness by mechanisms such as diet mixing (Jactel et al., 2005).

Productivity was greater in mixtures of different clones in the SRC site, but this effect was not significant. The presence of one or more confounding drivers that could not be identified precludes making definite conclusions concerning the impact of clonal mixing in SRC. Monitoring for longer time periods, including one or more harvests of aboveground biomass, is needed to provide a comprehensive picture. Still, I did not see negative effects of mixing and when overyielding occurred, complementarity was a

greater contributor than the selection effect (per the approach of Loreau and Hector (2001)). I did find positive selection effects after four years of growth, which seems to support another proposed benefit of mixing: compensatory growth by a more fit clone. Mixing clones individually rather than by rows may increase the potency of this dynamic even more and could also be more effective in hampering the spread of pests such as leaf rust or beetles (Peacock et al., 2001). However, this will increase competition between different clones, increasing the odds that more dominant clones will start to edge out less competitive ones, such as Gudrun in this study. This may be problematic, if these less competitive clones are important due to their resistance during expected extreme events, such as drought, storm or severe pest outbreaks, including breakdown of resistance by the currently most productive clone (Lindegaard et al., 2011).

A similar picture can be seen in the FORBIO site of Zedelgem. Individual mixing would maximize the positive impact of certain species interactions, such as we could note for beech and lime, as well as the associational resistance effect against a specialist pathogen such as PM. But these positive interactions are likely related to reduced competition at this life stage, given the strong negative impact of shading, and this can be expected to change in particular in the case of oak-beech mixtures. As individual mixing maximizes interspecific interactions, competition would also be stronger with consequentially faster and more frequent competitive displacement of some species by others. Hence, while we might expect stronger facilitative interactions for individual mixing in these youthful stages, stronger competitive interactions in the longer term could lead to reduced species richness and therefore potentially reduced resilience against adverse abiotic conditions and pest outbreaks. The strong negative effects of shading and the tree species associated with it (mostly birch and pine) constitute another trade-off to argue against individual mixing, as shading was noted to have an even more adverse impact than PM. Still, shading may also have some positive, facilitative effects under different conditions (Valladares et al., 2016), such as associated with larch in the site of Gedinne.

Effects of species composition were less prominent in the FORBIO site of Gedinne. The Janzen-Connell effect of oak here was only significant for growth in 2014 and had no significant impact on any biomass trait. There was also no strong relationship between PM infection rates and presence of oak. Other identity effects were not consistent other than larch being associated with greater relative height increment, probably due to the much greater amount of shade it cast than the other four species. Shading had initially a positive impact on relative growth rates and no negative effect on aboveground biomass at the end of the experiment. PM also had less negative effects on sapling growth than in Zedelgem, despite overall greater mildew infection severity. This might be the consequence of a difference in oak species, as *Q. petraea* is known to be less vulnerable to the disease (Marçais and Desprez-Loustau, 2012). Another explanation is

that other, abiotic factors were more limiting to growth in this site, supported by the higher allocation to root biomass and the less prominent negative impact of shading. There was overall much less shading in this site due to the presence of only one fast-growing species (larch), one very slow-growing (beech) and one suffering from fairly high mortality (maple). Both FORBIO sites also differed in other ways from each other, such as previous land use (agricultural for Zedelgem, *Picea abies* forest for Gedinne) and topography, making any conclusion concerning changing composition effects along gradients of stress even more confounded.

3. Role of the Stress Gradient Hypothesis

Except for mycophagy, I did not find interactions between species richness and stress. In the Short Rotation Coppice plantation, the inability to identify the source of stress made the determination of diversity effects convoluted, never mind its interaction with an unquantified stress gradient. A suggestion was raised later by managers that remnant herbicides in the soil might have played a role, as the site was formerly used for intensive agriculture, but this was never tested. In the FORBIO sites, the limited effect of the reduced rainfall treatment on soil moisture content, even less so during drier conditions, suggests that this treatment did not have sufficient impact to cause water limitations. This despite the fact that rainfall interception rates were more or less as strong as expected. Possibly, capillary rise of water through the holes in the bottom of the pots dampened the effect of reduced rainfall. Roots sometimes grew outside the pots, but this was the case only for the largest saplings (mostly in Zedelgem). These were associated with lower soil moisture content inside the pots, most likely due to their larger canopy and root system allowing greater transpiration. Shade cast by the gutters could have reduced soil evaporation and reduced light availability for the soil within the pots, potentially having an impact on soil microbiology and limiting development of herbaceous vegetation there - although the latter is not a likely factor as the pots were regularly weeded. Soil microbiology was assessed as part of another, ongoing research project, which may shed some light on whether this mechanism played a major role. Either way, this implementation of a stress gradient did not have the desired impact on soil and tree, despite rainfall interception rates conforming to expectations. This emphasizes the importance of validating the effectivity of a stress treatment in this kind of research. Future studies considering a similar approach to simulating water stress might wish to ensure intercepted water is deposited further from the target saplings and that water inflow through the holes in the pots is limited or prevented, for instance by depositing a layer of coarser substrate below the pots.

I did note an interaction between the reduced rainfall gradient and tree species richness on ladybird mycophagy of PM, which was surprising considering the otherwise lack of effects of either gradient. The lab experiment suggest mycophagy of PM to be quite sensitive to water conditions of the host tree, regardless of actual plant water stress as the soil moisture contents of the saplings used in this experiment did not indicate severe water stress. The absence of a link with ladybird numbers in the field suggests the mechanism to be mostly related to an increased susceptibility of PM to mycophagy when trees have a better water status. The link with species richness is less clear, as none of the other tree species were infected by PM fungi. A few herbaceous species in the site were susceptible to PM, such as Sonchus, Trifolium and Rubus sp., and could therefore have been alternative sources of food, but the extent of their PM infections and link to tree species richness is not known. The fraction of plots containing Quercus robur did increase along the species richness gradient, but this did not seem to influence ladybird numbers. Rates of mycophagy were also not elevated with increased density of Quercus. Other mechanisms by which increased species richness may enhance the activity of natural enemies, such as better shelter structures and availability of alternative food sources (Jactel et al., 2005), do not seem to be supported by my results either. I found shelter to be mostly associated with Quercus as well and during the breeding of the ladybirds, no alternative food sources were accepted, which was also observed by other authors (Sutherland and Parrella, 2009).

4. Insights concerning mechanisms

In line with the Natural Enemies Hypothesis, I found an increase in mycophagy of oak PM in more species-rich plots, but this positive association occurred only in saplings which were subjected to rainfall interception - a treatment that did not seem to influence sapling characteristics otherwise. Species richness did not influence these characteristics otherwise either, suggesting that composition-mediated trophic control might not be as important for sapling growth and survival in this system. Still, we only assessed mycophagy close to the end of the growing season, whereas its impact might be expected to be greater in the period of June-July, when PM impact on growth seems to be higher and ladybird larvae are still around. The grazing rates we observed in the choice feeding experiment suggest substantial mycelia removal is possible, but the exact impact on the fungus and therefore its impact on the tree remains unknown. This association would best be studied in a multiannual experiment quantifying PM infections, PM mycophagy and tree growth or vitality in a controlled environment such as a greenhouse or climate chamber. Field observations will be very strongly confounded, even if just by rain, and pose considerable logistic difficulties as multiple monitoring sessions per growing season will be required. Mycophagy of oak PM may yet play a significant role in reducing the impact of the disease in young oaks, in particular in young plantations which are still sufficiently open to allow the growth of large forbs susceptible to PM diseases.

Effects of host dilution could not be clearly quantified with this experimental setup, but we noted strong effects of host presence in the site where the impact of PM was worst. This suggests that by maximizing planting distances between susceptible species by

planting non-susceptible species between them, PM infections could be mitigated in voung stands. Indications of mitigating shelter effects by larger coniferous species such as pine or larch were noted, but not as strong as the Janzen-Connell effect. There were also conflicting results for a species not associated with shelter, beech, still consistently but not significantly reducing PM, as well as the most sheltering species of all in Zedelgem, birch, not having any effect on PM infections, Also, in Gedinne the negative impact of oak presence on growth was less severe and host presence was not significantly related to PM severity. The oak species present in this site, Q. petraea, is known to be less susceptible to PM, but this translated in our experiment to a reduced impact on growth rates and biomass, not reduced infection severities. Hence, the reduced sensitivity to host presence is more likely to be related to a different infection pattern in this site, with the impact of other drivers such as local microclimate more important than proximity to host trees. Further supporting this is the increased severity of PM in monocultures in this site, which is more strongly tied to differences in local microclimate than to differences in host presence. Saplings in this site were much more exposed to wind and therefore PM spores, as FORBIO trees were overall substantially smaller than those in Zedelgem, with larch as the sole exception. The understorey was also not as well-developed, with the exception of common bracken (Pteridium aquilinum) which was mowed every year. Differences in sporal inoculum from outside the experimental sites is not an explanation, as both were surrounded by mature forest, with more likely a greater density of oak in Zedelgem than in Gedinne.

Levels of shading were associated differently with the presence of different tree species, as expected based on their juvenile growth rates and to a lesser extent mortality. While shading had strong negative effects in Zedelgem and initially mildly positive effects in Gedinne on relative growth rates, this did not translate to presence effects of species which cast most shade, i.e. birch, pine and larch. This may suggest that individual species mixing is not as much of a problem as the negative effects of shading on growth seem to suggest, but, as stated before, competitive interactions are expected to only grow more severe as the stand ages. Mortality of the oak saplings in the FORBIO experiments was low and mostly related to more stochastic types of damage by macroherbivores such as rabbit or hare. However, I would expect mortality to have become higher the years after the experiment was finished, when increased competition would result in self-thinning of the smaller trees. Such a longer run was not possible with my setup, as the larger saplings were already starting to outgrow the pots after three years by the end of 2015. My protocol will also have prevented some mortality, as it restricted root interactions with the FORBIO trees and, more importantly, competition with the herbaceous understorey vegetation, which was frequently weeded. Hence, the negative impacts on growth and biomass I noted in my experiments might very well result in mortality under typical plantation field conditions. On the other hand, the absence of this driver may have also resulted in the impact of shading seeming more severe than under normal conditions, as positive effects of shading by restricting understorey growth are left unrepresented.

5. General outlook

Multiple recent analyses have noted positive effects on productivity of mixing tree species in forests. Results from this thesis are partially in line with those findings, but emphasize the role of species identities, in particular the Janzen-Connell effect. These findings provide support for individual mixing of different tree species or clones in young stands, maximizing positive interspecific interactions and compensatory growth rates. However, also some of the drawbacks are revealed, such as the risk of competitive displacement reducing eventually realized richness. Aside from a strong Janzen-Connell effect supporting the Resource Concentration Hypothesis, notable biological control of powdery mildew by mycophagous ladybirds was observed, with considerable sensitivity to plant water conditions. However, the significance of this mycophagy for the potentially very negative effects of powdery mildew on plants remains unknown. Insight into the impact of ladybird mycophagy on growth and survival of oak saplings could also shed further light on mechanisms behind tree species composition effects related to oak powdery mildew.

Differences in abiotic conditions seemed to have an impact on interspecific interactions, but difficulty in establishing and identifying stress gradients rendered it impossible to make conclusions concerning the implications of the Stress Gradient Hypothesis for mixing of species. Further research into this topic is needed, in particular for the case of specific abiotic gradients, such as reduced rainfall or warmer temperatures, rather than comparing sites or years differing in multiple ways. Care should be taken to implement well-controlled gradients of stress and their negative impact on the target trees should be regularly evaluated.

References

- Abrahamson, L.P., Volk, T.A., Smart, L.B., White, E.H., 2012. Short-Rotation Willow for Bioenergy, Bioproducts, Agroforestry and Phytoremediation in the Northeastern United States: Summary Report.
- Adams, J.M., Woodward, F.I., 1989. Patterns in tree species richness as a test of the glacial extinction hypothesis. Nature 339, 699–701.
- Adler, P.B., Seabloom, E.W., Borer, E.T., Hillebrand, H., Hautier, Y., Hector, A., Harpole, W.S., O'Halloran, L.R., Grace, J.B., Anderson, T.M., Bakker, J.D., Biederman, L.A., Brown, C.S., Buckley, Y.M., Calabrese, L.B., Chu, C.-J., Cleland, E.E., Collins, S.L., Cottingham, K.L., Crawley, M.J., Damschen, E.I., Davies, K.F., DeCrappeo, N.M., Fay, P.A., Firn, J., Frater, P., Gasarch, E.I., Gruner, D.S., Hagenah, N., Hille Ris Lambers, J., Humphries, H., Jin, V.L., Kay, A.D., Kirkman, K.P., Klein, J.A., Knops, J.M.H., La Pierre, K.J., Lambrinos, J.G., Li, W., MacDougall, A.S., McCulley, R.L., Melbourne, B.A., Mitchell, C.E., Moore, J.L., Morgan, J.W., Mortensen, B., Orrock, J.L., Prober, S.M., Pyke, D.A., Risch, A.C., Schuetz, M., Smith, M.D., Stevens, C.J., Sullivan, L.L., Wang, G., Wragg, P.D., Wright, J.P., Yang, L.H., 2011. Productivity is a poor predictor of plant species richness. Science (80-.). 333, 1750–1753. doi:10.1126/science.1214786
- Aimar, D., Calafat, M., Andrade, a M., 2011. Drought Tolerance and Stress Hormones : From Model Organisms to Forage Crops. Plants Environ. 272. doi:10.5772/1958
- Arevalo, C., Volk, T., Bevilacqua, E., Abrahamson, L., 2007. Development and validation of aboveground biomass estimations for four Salix clones in central New York. Biomass and Bioenergy 31, 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2006.06.012
- Baeten, L., Verheyen, K., Wirth, C., Bruelheide, H., Bussotti, F., Finér, L., Jaroszewicz, B., Selvi, F., Valladares, F., Allan, E., Ampoorter, E., Auge, H., Avacariei, D., Barbaro, L., Barnoaiea, I., Bastias, C.C., Bauhus, J., Beinhoff, C., Benavides, R., Benneter, A., Berger, S., Berthold, F., Boberg, J., Bonal, D., Brüggemann, W., Carnol, M., Castagneyrol, B., Charbonnier, Y., Checko, E., Coomes, D., Coppi, A., Dalmaris, E., Danila, G., Dawud, S.M., de Vries, W., De Wandeler, H., Deconchat, M., Domisch, T., Duduman, G., Fischer, M., Fotelli, M., Gessler, A., Gimeno, T.E., Granier, A., Grossiord, C., Guyot, V., Hantsch, L., Hättenschwiler, S., Hector, A., Hermy, M., Holland, V., Jactel, H., Joly, F.X., Jucker, T., Kolb, S., Koricheva, J., Lexer, M.J., Liebergesell, M., Milligan, H., Müller, S., Muys, B., Nguyen, D., Nichiforel, L., Pollastrini, M., Proulx, R., Rabasa, S., Radoglou, K., Ratcliffe, S., Raulund-Rasmussen, K., Seiferling, I., Stenlid, J., Vesterdal, L., von Wilpert, K., Zavala, M.A., Zielinski, D., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., 2013. A novel comparative research platform designed to determine the functional significance of tree species diversity in European forests. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 15, 281–291. doi:10.1016/j.ppees.2013.07.002
- Bagchi, R., Swinfield, T., Gallery, R.E., Lewis, O.T., Gripenberg, S., Narayan, L., Freckleton, R.P., 2010. Testing the Janzen-Connell mechanism: Pathogens cause overcompensating density dependence in a tropical tree. Ecol. Lett. 13, 1262–1269. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01520.x
- Barnosky, A.D., Matzke, N., Tomiya, S., Wogan, G.O.U., Swartz, B., Quental, T.B., Marshall, C., McGuire, J.L., Lindsey, E.L., Maguire, K.C., Mersey, B., Ferrer, E. a, 2011. Has the Earth's

sixth mass extinction already arrived? Nature 471, 51–57. doi:10.1038/nature09678

Barton, K., 2016. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.15.6.

- Barton, K.E., Hanley, M.E., 2013. Seedling-herbivore interactions: Insights into plant defence and regeneration patterns. Ann. Bot. 112, 643–650. doi:10.1093/aob/mct139
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. doi:10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Baudry, O., Charmetant, C., Collet, C., Ponette, Q., 2014. Estimating light climate in forest with the convex densiometer: Operator effect, geometry and relation to diffuse light. Eur. J. For. Res. 133, 101–110. doi:10.1007/s10342-013-0746-6
- Baum, C., Leinweber, P., Weih, M., Lamersdorf, N., Dimitriou, I., 2009. Effects of short rotation coppice with willows and poplar on soil ecology. Agric. For. Res. 3, 183–196.
- Bert, D., Lasnier, J.-B., Capdevielle, X., Dugravot, A., Desprez-Loustau, M.-L., 2016. Powdery Mildew Decreases the Radial Growth of Oak Trees with Cumulative and Delayed Effects over Years. PLoS One 11, 19. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0155344
- Bertness, M.D., Callaway, R., 1994. Positive interactions in communities. Trends Ecol. Evol. 9, 191–3. doi:10.1016/0169-5347(94)90088-4
- Bock, C.H., Graham, J.H., Gottwald, T.R., Cook, A.Z., Parker, P.E., 2010. Wind Speed Effects on the Quantity of Xanthomonas citri subsp. citri Dispersed Downwind from Canopies of Grapefruit Trees Infected with Citrus Canker. Plant Dis. 94, 725–736. doi:10.1094/PDIS-94-6-0725
- Bommarco, R., Kleijn, D., Potts, S.G., 2013. Ecological intensification: Harnessing ecosystem services for food security. Trends Ecol. Evol. 28, 230–238. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2012.10.012
- Broeckx, L.S., Verlinden, M.S., Ceulemans, R., 2012. Establishment and two-year growth of a bio-energy plantation with fast-growing Populus trees in Flanders (Belgium): Effects of genotype and former land use. Biomass and Bioenergy 42, 151–163. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.03.005
- Brooker, R., Kikvidze, Z., Pugnaire, F.I., Callaway, R.M., Choler, P., Lortie, C.J., Michalet, R., 2005. The importance of importance. Oikos 109, 63–70. doi:10.1111/j.0030-1299.2005.13557.x
- Bruckner, T., Bashmakov, I.A., Mulugetta, Y., Chum, H., de la Vega Navarro, A., Edmonds, J., Faaij, A., Fungtammasan, B., Garg, A., Hertwich, E., Honnery, D., Infield, D., Kainuma, M., Khennas, S., Kim, S., Nimir, H.B., Riahi, K., Strachan, N., Wiser, R., Zhang, X., 2014.
 Energy Systems, in: Edenhofer, O., Pichs-Madruga, R., Sokona, Y., Farahani, E., Kadner, S., Seyboth, K., Adler, A., Baum, I., Brunner, S., Eickemeier, P., Kriemann, B., Savolainen, J., Schlömer, S., Stechow, C. von, Zwickel, T., Minx, J.C. (Eds.), Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA., p. 139.
- Bruno, J.F., Stachowicz, J.J., Bertness, M.D., 2003. Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends Ecol. Evol. 18, 119–125. doi:10.1016/S0169-5347(02)00045-9

- Bulleri, F., Cristaudo, C., Alestra, T., Benedetti-Cecchi, L., 2011. Crossing gradients of consumer pressure and physical stress on shallow rocky reefs: a test of the stress-gradient hypothesis. J. Ecol. 99, 335–344. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2010.01750.x
- Butterfield, B.J., Bradford, J.B., Armas, C., Prieto, I., Pugnaire, F.I., 2015. Does the stressgradient hypothesis hold water? Disentangling spatial and temporal variation in plant effects on soil moisture in dryland systems. Funct. Ecol. 30, 10–19. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12592
- Buyse, M., 2015. Biologische controle van eikenmeeldauw door lieveheersbeestjes en interacties met droogtestress. MSc Thesis. Ghent University.
- Callaway, R., Brooker, R., Choler, P., 2002. Positive interactions among alpine plants increase with stress. Nature 417, 844–848. doi:10.1038/nature00805.1.
- Callaway, R.M., 2007. Positive Interactions and Interdependence in Plant Communities. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht. doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-6224-7
- Campioli, M., Vincke, C., Jonard, M., Kint, V., Demarée, G., Ponette, Q., 2012. Current status and predicted impact of climate change on forest production and biogeochemistry in the temperate oceanic European zone: Review and prospects for Belgium as a case study. J. For. Res. 17, 1–18. doi:10.1007/s10310-011-0255-8
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D. a, Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D.S., Naeem, S., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature 486, 59–67. doi:10.1038/nature11148
- Cardinale, B.J., Wright, J.P., Cadotte, M.W., Carroll, I.T., Hector, A., Srivastava, D.S., Loreau, M., Weis, J.J., 2007. Impacts of plant diversity on biomass production increase through time because of species complementarity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 18123–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0709069104
- Carnol, M., Baeten, L., Branquart, E., Grégoire, J.C., Heughebaert, A., Muys, B., Ponette, Q., Verheyen, K., 2014. Ecosystem services of mixed species forest stands and monocultures: Comparing practitioners and scientists perceptions with formal scientific knowledge. Forestry 87, 639–653. doi:10.1093/forestry/cpu024
- Caslin, B., Finnan, J., McCracken, A., 2012. Willow Varietal Identification Guide. Teagasc & AFBI.
- Caslin, B., Finnan, J., McCracken, A., 2010. Short Rotation Coppice Willow Best Practice Guidelines.
- Caspersen, J.P., Pacala, S.W., 2001. Successional diversity and forest ecosystem function. Ecol. Res. 16, 895–903. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1703.2001.00455.x
- Castagneyrol, B., Giffard, B., Péré, C., Jactel, H., 2013. Plant apparency, an overlooked driver of associational resistance to insect herbivory. J. Ecol. 101, 418–429. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12055
- Castagneyrol, B., Jactel, H., Cardinale, B.J., 2012. Unraveling plant-animal diversity relationships: A meta-regression analysis. Ecology 93, 2115–2124. doi:10.1890/11-1300.1

- Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P.R., Barnosky, A.D., García, A., Pringle, R.M., Palmer, T.M., 2015. Accelerated modern human – induced species losses: entering the sixth mass extinction. Sci. Adv. 1, 1–5. doi:10.1126/sciadv.1400253
- Cheatham, M.R., Rouse, M.N., Esker, P.D., Ignacio, S., Pradel, W., Raymundo, R., Sparks, A.H., Forbes, G., Gordon, T.R., Garrett, K.A., 2009. Beyond Yield: Plant Disease in the Context of Ecosystem Services. Phytopathology 99, 1228–1236.
- Civitello, D.J., Cohen, J., Fatima, H., Halstead, N.T., Liriano, J., Mcmahon, T.A., Ortega, C.N., Sauer, E.L., Sehgal, T., Young, S., Rohr, J.R., 2015a. Biodiversity inhibits parasites: Broad evidence for the dilution effect. Pnas 112, 8667–8671. doi:10.1073/pnas.1506279112
- Civitello, D.J., Cohen, J., Fatima, H., Halstead, N.T., McMahon, T.A., Ortega, C.N., Sauer, E.L., Young, S., Rohr, J.R., 2015b. Reply to Salkeld et al.: Diversity-disease patterns are robust to study design, selection criteria, and publication bias. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 201518473. doi:10.1073/pnas.1518473112
- Copolovici, L., Bodescu, A., Pag, A., Kännaste, A., Tomescu, D., Niinemets, Ü., 2015. Volatile Organic Compound emissions and photosynthetic parameters of Quercus rubra under temperature stresses. Sci. Pap. Ser. E. L. Reclamation, Earth Obs. Surv. Environ. Eng. IV, 2010–2013.
- Copolovici, L., Väärtnõu, F., Estrada, M.P., Niinemets, Ü., 2014. Oak powdery mildew (Erysiphe alphitoides)-induced volatile emissions scale with the degree of infection in Quercus robur. Tree Physiol. 34, 1399–1410. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpu091
- Culik, M.P., Ventura, J.A., de Almeida, L.M., Corrêa, G.H., 2011. Feeding by the coccinellid Psyllobora rufosignata (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) on the Asian grapevine leaf rust fungus Phakopsora euvitis (Basidiomycota: Uredinales). Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 21, 235–238. doi:10.1080/09583157.2010.538668
- Dai, A., Trenberth, K.E., Qian, T., 2004. A Global Dataset of Palmer Drought Severity Index for 1870–2002: Relationship with Soil Moisture and Effects of Surface Warming. J. Hydrometeorol. 5, 1117–1130. doi:10.1175/JHM-386.1
- Davari, M.R., Ram, M., Tewari, J.C., Kaushish, S., 2010. Impact of agricultural practice on ecosystem services. Int. J. Agron. Plant Prod. 1, 11–23.
- Davidson, W.M., 1921. Observations on Psyllobora taedata LeConte, a Coccinellid Attacking Mildews (Col.). Proc. Entomol. Sect. XXXII, 83–89.
- Davies, W.P., 2003. An historical perspective from the Green Revolution to the gene revolution. Nutr. Rev. 61, S124–S134. doi:10.1301/nr.2003.jun.S124-S134
- Davis, M.A., Grime, J.P., Thompson, K., Davis, A., Philip, J., 2000. Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invasibility. J. Ecol. 88, 528–534. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2745.2000.00473.x
- de Almeida, L.M., Milléo, J., 1998. The Immature Stages of Psyllobora gratiosa Mader, 1958 (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) with Some Biological Aspects. J. New York Entomol. Soc. 106, 170–176.

De Laender, F., Rohr, J.R., Ashauer, R., Baird, D.J., Berger, U., Eisenhauer, N., Grimm, V.,

Hommen, U., Maltby, L., Meliàn, C.J., Pomati, F., Roessink, I., Radchuk, V., Van den Brink, P.J., 2016. Reintroducing Environmental Change Drivers in Biodiversity-Ecosystem Functioning Research. Trends Ecol. Evol. 31, 905–915. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2016.09.007

- Diaz, S., Lavorel, S., de Bello, F., Quetier, F., Grigulis, K., Robson, T.M., 2007. Incorporating plant functional diversity effects in ecosystem service assessments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 20684–20689. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704716104
- Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C., 2016. Identity rather than richness drives neighbourhood species composition effects on sapling growth in a young forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 380, 274–284. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2016.09.004
- Dimitriou, I., Baum, C., Baum, S., Busch, G., Schulz, U., Köhn, J., Lamersdorf, N., Leinweber, P., Aronsson, P., Weih, M., Berndes, G., Bolte, A., 2011. Quantifying environmental effects of Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) on biodiversity, soil and water.
- Divon, H.H., Fluhr, R., 2007. Nutrition acquisition strategies during fungal infection of plants. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 266, 65–74. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.2006.00504.x
- Domisch, T., Finér, L., Dawud, S.M., Vesterdal, L., Raulund-Rasmussen, K., 2015. Does species richness affect fine root biomass and production in young forest plantations? Oecologia 177, 581–594. doi:10.1007/s00442-014-3107-3
- Edwards, M.C., Ayres, P.G., 1982. Seasonal changes in resistance of Quercus petraea (sessile oak) leaves to Microsphaera alphitoides. Trans. Br. Mycol. Soc. 78, 569–571. doi:10.1016/S0007-1536(82)80174-5
- Eisenhauer, N., Barnes, A.D., Cesarz, S., Craven, D., Ferlian, O., Gottschall, F., Hines, J., Sendek, A., Siebert, J., Thakur, M.P., Türke, M., Palmer, M., 2016. Biodiversity-ecosystem function experiments reveal the mechanisms underlying the consequences of biodiversity change in real world ecosystems. J. Veg. Sci. 27, 1061–1070. doi:10.1111/jvs.12435
- Ellis, E.C., 2015. Ecology in an anthropogenic biosphere. Ecol. Monogr. 85, 287–331. doi:10.1890/14-2274.1
- Ellis, E.C., Klein Goldewijk, K., Siebert, S., Lightman, D., Ramankutty, N., 2010. Anthropogenic transformation of the biomes, 1700 to 2000. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 19, no-no. doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00540.x
- Eränen, J., Kozlov, M., 2008. Increasing intraspecific facilitation in exposed environments: consistent results from mountain birch populations in two subarctic stress gradients. Oikos 1569–1577. doi:10.1111/j.2008.0030-1299.16772.x
- Fargione, J., Tilman, D., Dybzinski, R., HilleRisLambers, J., Clark, C., Harpole, W.S., Knops, J.M.H., Reich, P.B., Loreau, M., 2007. From selection to complementarity: shifts in the causes of biodiversity-productivity relationships in a long-term biodiversity experiment. Proc. R. Soc. B-Biological Sci. 274, 871–876. doi:10.1098/rspb.2006.0351
- Feau, N., Lauron-Moreau, A., Piou, D., Marçais, B., Dutech, C., Desprez-Loustau, M.L., 2012. Niche partitioning of the genetic lineages of the oak powdery mildew complex. Fungal Ecol. 5, 154–162. doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2011.12.003
- Felton, A., Nilsson, U., Sonesson, J., Felton, A.M., Roberge, J.M., Ranius, T., Ahlström, M.,

Bergh, J., Björkman, C., Boberg, J., Drössler, L., Fahlvik, N., Gong, P., Holmström, E., Keskitalo, E.C.H., Klapwijk, M.J., Laudon, H., Lundmark, T., Niklasson, M., Nordin, A., Pettersson, M., Stenlid, J., Sténs, A., Wallertz, K., 2016. Replacing monocultures with mixed-species stands: Ecosystem service implications of two production forest alternatives in Sweden. Ambio 45, 124–139. doi:10.1007/s13280-015-0749-2

- Firn, J., Erskine, P.D., Lamb, D., 2007. Woody species diversity influences productivity and soil nutrient availability in tropical plantations. Oecologia 154, 521–33. doi:10.1007/s00442-007-0850-8
- Flombaum, P., Sala, O.E., 2008. Higher effect of plant species diversity on productivity in natural than artificial ecosystems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 6087–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704801105
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockström, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, D., Zaks, D.P.M., O'Connell, C., 2011. Solutions for a cultivated planet. Nature 478, 337–42. doi:10.1038/nature10452

FOREST EUROPE, 2015. State of Europe's Forests 2015.

- Forey, E., Langlois, E., Lapa, G., Korboulewsky, N., Robson, T.M., Aubert, M., 2016. Tree species richness induces strong intraspecific variability of beech (Fagus sylvatica) leaf traits and alleviates edaphic stress. Eur. J. For. Res. 135, 707–717. doi:10.1007/s10342-016-0966-7
- Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., 2016. A review of processes behind diversity—productivity relationships in forests. Curr. For. Reports 2, 45–61. doi:10.1007/s40725-016-0031-2
- Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., Cowie, A.L., Vanclay, J.K., 2006. Mixed-species plantations of Eucalyptus with nitrogen-fixing trees: A review. For. Ecol. Manage. 233, 211–230. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2006.05.012
- Forrester, D.I., Pretzsch, H., 2015. Tamm Review: On the strength of evidence when comparing ecosystem functions of mixtures with monocultures. For. Ecol. Manage. 356, 41–53. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2015.08.016
- Fox, T.R., Jokela, E.J., Allen, H.L., 2004. Pine Plantation Silviculture, in: Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS– 75. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Southern Research Station. pp. 63–82.
- Fraser, L.H., Pither, J., Jentsch, A., Sternberg, M., Zobel, M., Askarizadeh, D., Bartha, S., Beierkuhnlein, C., Bennett, J.A., 2015. Worldwide evidence of a unimodal relationship between productivity and plant species richness. Science (80-.). 349, 302–306. doi:10.1126/science.aab3916
- Gadoury, D.M., Seem, R.C., Ficke, A., Wilcox, W.F., 2003. Ontogenic resistance to powdery mildew in grape berries. Phytopathology 93, 547–555. doi:10.1094/PHYTO.2003.93.5.547
- Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., Ruiz-Jaen, M.C., Fröberg, M., Stendahl, J., Philipson, C.D., Mikusiński, G., Andersson, E., Westerlund, B., Andrén, H., Moberg, F., Moen, J., Bengtsson, J., 2013. Higher levels of multiple ecosystem

services are found in forests with more tree species. Nat. Commun. 4, 1340. doi:10.1038/ncomms2328

- Gemmel, P., Nilsson, U., Welander, T., 1996. Development of oak and beech seedlings planted under varying shelterwood densities and with different site preparation methods in southern Sweden. New For. 12, 141–161.
- Giorgi, J.A., Vandenberg, N.J., McHugh, J. V., Forrester, J.A., Ślipiński, S.A., Miller, K.B., Shapiro, L.R., Whiting, M.F., 2009. The evolution of food preferences in Coccinellidae. Biol. Control 51, 215–231. doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2009.05.019
- Glawe, D.A., 2008. The Powdery Mildews: A Review of the World's Most Familiar (Yet Poorly Known) Plant Pathogens. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 46, 27–51. doi:10.1146/annurev.phyto.46.081407.104740
- Grime, J.P., 1998. Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: inmediate, filter and founder effects. J. Ecol. 86, 902–910.
- Grime, J.P., 1977. Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. Am. Nat. 111, 1169–1194.
- Grime, J.P., 1973. Competitive exclusion in herbaceous vegetation. Nature 242-344.
- Grossiord, C., Granier, A., Gessler, A., Jucker, T., Bonal, D., 2014. Does Drought Influence the Relationship Between Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning in Boreal Forests? Ecosystems 17, 394–404. doi:10.1007/s10021-013-9729-1
- Guyot, V., Castagneyrol, B., Vialatte, A., Deconchat, M., Selvi, F., Bussotti, F., Jactel, H., 2015. Tree diversity limits the impact of an invasive forest pest 1–16. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0136469
- Haase, J., Castagneyrol, B., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Ghazoul, J., Kattge, J., Koricheva, J., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Morath, S., Jactel, H., 2015. Contrasting effects of tree diversity on young tree growth and resistance to insect herbivores across three biodiversity experiments. Oikos 1–12. doi:10.1111/oik.02090
- Hajji, M., Dreyer, E., Marçais, B., 2009. Impact of Erysiphe alphitoides on transpiration and photosynthesis in Quercus robur leaves. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 125, 63–72. doi:10.1007/s10658-009-9458-7
- Hamelin, F.M., Bisson, A., Fabre, F., Mailleret, L., 2016. Temporal niche differentiation of parasites sharing the same plant host : oak powdery mildew as a case study 7, 13.
- Hantsch, L., Bien, S., Radatz, S., Braun, U., Auge, H., Bruelheide, H., 2014. Tree diversity and the role of non-host neighbour tree species in reducing fungal pathogen infestation. J. Ecol. 102, 1673–1687. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12317
- Hantsch, L., Braun, U., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Bruelheide, H., 2013. Species richness and species identity effects on occurrence of foliar fungal pathogens in a tree diversity experiment. Ecosphere 4, art81. doi:doi: 10.1890/es13-00103.1
- He, Q., Bertness, M.D., Altieri, A.H., 2013. Global shifts towards positive species interactions with increasing environmental stress. Ecol. Lett. 16, 695–706. doi:10.1111/ele.12080

- Hector, A., Bazeley-White, E., Loreau, M., Otway, S., Schmid, B., 2002. Overyielding in grassland communities: testing the sampling effect hypothesis with replicated biodiversity experiments. Ecol. Lett. 5, 502–511. doi:10.1046/j.1461-0248.2002.00337.x
- Hector, A., Joshi, J., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Schmid, B., Spehn, E.M., Wacker, L., Weilenmann, M., Bazeley-White, E., Beierkuhnlein, C., Caldeira, M.C., Dimitrakopoulos, P.G., Finn, J. a., Huss-Danell, K., Jumpponen, A., Leadley, P.W., Loreau, M., Mulder, C.P.H., Neßhöver, C., Palmborg, C., Read, D.J., Siamantziouras, A.S.D., Terry, A.C., Troumbis, A.Y., 2007. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: reconciling the results of experimental and observational studies. Funct. Ecol. 21, 998–1002. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01308.x
- Hector, A., Schmid, B., Beierkuhnlein, C., Caldeira, M.C., Diemer, M., Dimitrakopoulos, P.G., Finn, J.A., Freitas, H., Giller, P.S., Good, J., Harris, R., Högberg, P., Huss-Danell, K., Joshi, J., Jumpponen, A., Körner, C., Leadley, P.W., Loreau, M., Minns, A., Mulder, C.P.H., O'Donovan, G., Otway, S.J., Pereira, J.S., Prinz, a., Read, D.J., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Schulze, E.-D., Siamantziouras, A.S.D., Spehn, E.M., Terry, a. C., Troumbis, a. Y., Woodward, F.I., Yachi, S., Lawton, J.H., 1999. Plant Diversity and Productivity Experiments in European Grasslands. Science (80-.). 286, 1123–1127. doi:10.1126/science.286.5442.1123
- Heinsoo, K., Merilo, E., Petrovits, M., Koppel, A., 2009. Fine root biomass and production in a Salix viminalis and Salix dasyclados plantation. Est. J. Ecol. 58, 27. doi:10.3176/eco.2009.1.03
- Hillebrand, H., 2004. On the Generality of the Latitudinal Diversity Gradient. Am. Nat 163, 192– 211. doi:10.1086/381004
- Hillebrand, H., Matthiessen, B., 2009. Biodiversity in a complex world: consolidation and progress in functional biodiversity research. Ecol. Lett. 12, 1405–19. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01388.x
- Hooper, D.U., Adair, E.C., Cardinale, B.J., Byrnes, J.E.K., Hungate, B. a., Matulich, K.L., Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J.E., Gamfeldt, L., O'Connor, M.I., O'Connor, M.I., 2012. A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. Nature 486, 105–108. doi:10.1038/nature11118
- Hooper, D.U., Chapin, F.S., Ewel, J.J., Hector, A., Inchausti, P., Lavorel, S., Lawton, J.H., Lodge, D.M., Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Schmid, B., Setälä, H., Symstad, A.J., Vandermeer, J., Wardle, D.A., 2005. Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: A consensus of current knowledge. Ecol. Monogr. 75(1), 3–35. doi:10.1890/04-0922
- Hubbert, M.K., 1949. Energy from Fossil Fuels. Science 109, 103–9. doi:10.1126/science.109.2823.103
- Huston, M.A., 1997. Hidden treatments in ecological experiments: re-evaluating the ecosystem function of biodiversity. Oecologia 110, 449–460. doi:10.1007/s004420050180
- Isbell, F.I., Polley, H.W., Wilsey, B.J., 2009. Biodiversity, productivity and the temporal stability of productivity: patterns and processes. Ecol. Lett. 12, 443–51. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01299.x
- Jactel, H., Brockerhoff, E., Duelli, P., 2005. A test of the biodiversity-stability theory: Metaanalysis of tree species diversity effects on insect pest infestations, and re-examination of

responsible factors., in: Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.-D. (Eds.), Forest Diversity and Function: Temperate and Boreal Systems. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, p. 411.

- Jactel, H., Brockerhoff, E.G., 2007. Tree diversity reduces herbivory by forest insects. Ecol. Lett. 10, 835–848. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01073.x
- Jakobsson, K., Bentley, R., Söderbergh, B., Aleklett, K., 2012. The end of cheap oil: Bottom-up economic and geologic modeling of aggregate oil production curves. Energy Policy 41, 860–870. doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2011.11.073
- Jensen, A.M., Gardiner, E.S., Vaughn, K.C., 2012. High-light acclimation in Quercus robur L. seedlings upon over-topping a shaded environment. Environ. Exp. Bot. 78, 25–35. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2011.12.020
- Jucker, T., Avăcăriței, D., Bărnoaiea, I., Duduman, G., Bouriaud, O., Coomes, D.A., 2015. Climate modulates the effects of tree diversity on forest productivity. J. Ecol. 104, 388–398. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12522
- Kareiva, P., Watts, S., McDonald, R., Boucher, T., 2007. Domesticated nature: shaping landscapes and ecosystems for human welfare. Science (80-.). 316, 1866–1869. doi:10.1126/science.1140170
- Kennedy, T. a, Naeem, S., Howe, K.M., Knops, J.M.H., Tilman, D., Reich, P., 2002. Biodiversity as a barrier to ecological invasion. Nature 417, 636–638. doi:10.1038/nature00776
- Kigathi, R.N., Unsicker, S.B., Reichelt, M., Kesselmeier, J., Gershenzon, J., Weisser, W.W., 2009. Emission of volatile organic compounds after herbivory from Trifolium pratense (L.) under laboratory and field conditions. J. Chem. Ecol. 35, 1335–1348. doi:10.1007/s10886-009-9716-3
- Knoke, T., Stimm, B., Ammer, C., Moog, M., 2005. Mixed forests reconsidered: A forest economics contribution on an ecological concept. For. Ecol. Manage. 213, 102–116. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2005.03.043
- Koyama, A., Tsuyuzaki, S., 2013. Facilitation by tussock-forming species on seedling establishment collapses in an extreme drought year in a post-mined Sphagnum peatland.
 J. Veg. Sci. 24, 473–483. doi:10.1111/j.1654-1103.2012.01474.x
- Kumar, R., Mittal, V., Patankar, N. V, Ramamurthy, V. V, 2010. Bionomics of mycophagous coccinellid,. Munis Entomol. Zool. 5, 652–657.
- Kuster, T.M., Arend, M., Bleuler, P., Günthardt-Goerg, M.S., Schulin, R., 2011. Water regime and growth of young oak stands subjected to air-warming and drought on two different forest soils in a model ecosystem experiment. Plant Biol. 15, 138–147. doi:10.1111/j.1438-8677.2011.00552.x
- Kuznetsova, A., Bruun Brockhoff, P., Haubo Bojesen Christensen, R., 2015. ImerTest: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 2.0-29.
- Laanisto, L., Hutchings, M.J., 2015. Comment on "Worldwide evidence of a unimodal relationship between productivity and plant species richness." Science (80-.). 350, 1177–b. doi:10.1126/science.aab3916

- Lajtha, K., Driscoll, C., Jarrell, W., Elliot, E., 1999. Soil phosphorus, in: Standard Soil Methods for Long-Term Ecological Research. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 166–182.
- Letourneau, D.K., 1987. The Enemies Hypothesis : Tritrophic Interactions and Vegetational Diversity in Tropical Agroecosystems. Ecology 68, 1616–1622.
- Leuschner, C., Jungkunst, H., Fleck, S., 2009. Functional role of forest diversity: Pros and cons of synthetic stands and across-site comparisons in established forests. Basic Appl. Ecol. 10, 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.baae.2008.06.001
- Liang, J., Crowther, T.W., Picard, N., Wiser, S., Zhou, M., Alberti, G., Schulze, E.-D., McGuire, D., Bozzato, F., Pretzsch, H., De-Miguel, S., Paquette, A., Hérault, B., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Barrett, C.B., Glick, H.B., Hengeveld, G.M., Nabuurs, G.-J., Pfautsch, S., Viana, H., Vibrans, A.C., Ammer, C., Schall, P., Verbyla, D., Tchebakova, N., Fischer, M., Watson, J. V., Chen, H.Y.H., Lei, X., Schelhaas, M.-J., Lu, H., Gianelle, D., Parfenova, E.I., Salas, C., Lee, E., Lee, B., Kim, H.S., Bruelheide, H., Coomes, D.A., Piotto, D., Sunderland, T., Schmid, B., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Sonké, B., Tavani, R., Zhu, J., Brandl, S., Vayreda, J., Kitahara, F., Searle, E.B., Neldner, V.J., Ngugi, M.R., Baraloto, C., Frizzera, L., Bałazy, R., Oleksyn, J., Zawiła-Niedźwiecki, T., Bouriaud, O., Bussotti, F., Finér, L., Jaroszewicz, B., Jucker, T., Valladares, F., Jagodzinski, A.M., Peri, P.L., Gonmadje, C., Marthy, W., O'Brien, T., Martin, E.H., Marshall, A., Rovero, F., Bitariho, R., Niklaus, P.A., Alvarez-Loayza, P., Chamuya, N., Valencia, R., Mortier, F., Wortel, V., Engone-Obiang, N.L., Ferreira, L. V., Odeke, D.E., Vasquez, R.M., Reich, P.B., 2016. Positive biodiversity–productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science (80-.). 354. doi:10.1126/science.aaf8957
- Liang, J., Zhou, M., Tobin, P.C., McGuire, A.D., Reich, P.B., 2015. Biodiversity influences plant productivity through niche–efficiency. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 5738–5743. doi:10.1073/pnas.1409853112
- Lindegaard, K.N., Cater, M.M., McCracken, A., Shield, I.F., Macalpine, W., Hinton Jones, M., Valentine, J., Larsson, S., 2011. Comparative trials of elite Swedish and UK biomass willow varieties 2001 – 2010. Asp. Appl. Biol. 112, 10.
- Lindner, M., Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Kolström, M., Green, T., Reguera, R., Maroschek, M., Seidl, R., Lexer, M.J., Netherer, S., Schopf, A., Kremer, A., Delzon, S., Barbati, A., Marchetti, M., Corona, P., 2008. Impacts of Climate Change on European Forests and Options for Adaptation. Rep. to Eur. Comm. Dir. Agric. Rural Dev. 1–104.
- Little Jr, E.L., 1983. North American Trees With Relationships in Eastern Asia. Ann. Missouri Bot. Gard. 70, 605–615.
- López, R.P., Squeo, F.A., Armas, C., Kelt, D.A., Gutiérrez, J.R., 2016. Enhanced facilitation at the extreme end of the aridity gradient in the Atacama Desert: A community-level approach. Ecology 97, 1593–1604. doi:10.1890/15-1152.1
- Loreau, M., Hector, A., 2001. Partitioning selection and complementarity in biodiversity experiments. Nature 412, 72–6. doi:10.1038/35083573
- Louthan, A.M., Doak, D.F., Goheen, J.R., Palmer, T.M., Pringle, R.M., 2013. Climatic stress mediates the impacts of herbivory on plant population structure and components of individual fitness. J. Ecol. 101, 1074–1083. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12090

- Lu, X., Siemann, E., He, M., Wei, H., Shao, X., Ding, J., 2015. Climate warming increases biological control agent impact on a non-target species. Ecol. Lett. 18, 48–56. doi:10.1111/ele.12391
- Maes, W.H., Minchin, P.E.H., Snelgar, W.P., Steppe, K., 2014. Early detection of Psa infection in kiwifruit by means of infrared thermography at leaf and orchard scale. Funct. Plant Biol.
- Maes, W.H., Steppe, K., 2012. Estimating evapotranspiration and drought stress with groundbased thermal remote sensing in agriculture: a review. J. Exp. Bot. 63, 4671–712. doi:10.1093/jxb/ers165
- Maestre, F.T., Bowker, M. a, Escolar, C., Puche, M.D., Soliveres, S., Maltez-Mouro, S., García-Palacios, P., Castillo-Monroy, A.P., Martínez, I., Escudero, A., 2010. Do biotic interactions modulate ecosystem functioning along stress gradients? Insights from semi-arid plant and biological soil crust communities. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 365, 2057–2070. doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0016
- Maestre, F.T., Callaway, R.M., Valladares, F., Lortie, C.J., 2009. Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. J. Ecol. 97, 199–205. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2008.01476.x
- Maestre, F.T., Valladares, F., Reynolds, J.F., 2005. Is the change of plant-plant interactions with abiotic stress predictable? A meta-analysis of field results in arid environments. J. Ecol. 93, 748–757. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2005.01017.x
- Mantau, U., Saal, U., Prins, K., Steierer, F., Lindner, M., Verkerk, H., Eggers, J., Leek, N., Oldenburger, J., Asikainen, A., Anttila, P., 2010. EUwood - Real potential for changes in growth and use of EU forests. Final report. Hamburg, Germany.
- Marçais, B., Desprez-Loustau, M.-L., 2012. European oak powdery mildew: impact on trees, effects of environmental factors, and potential effects of climate change. Ann. For. Sci. 71, 633–642. doi:10.1007/s13595-012-0252-x
- Marçais, B., Kavkova, M., Desprez-Loustau, M.-L., 2009. Phenotypic variation in the phenology of ascospore production between European populations of oak powdery mildew. Ann. For. Sci. 66, 814–814. doi:10.1051/forest/2009077
- Marquard, E., Weigelt, A., Temperton, V.M., Roscher, C., Schumacher, J., Buchmann, N., Fischer, M., Weisser, W.W., Schmid, B., 2009. Plant species richness and functional composition drive overyielding in a six-year grassland experiment. Ecology 90, 3290–3302. doi:10.1890/09-0069.1
- Matson, P.A., 1997. Agricultural Intensification and Ecosystem Properties. Science (80-.). 277, 504–509. doi:10.1126/science.277.5325.504
- McCracken, A.R., Dawson, W.M., 1998. Short rotation coppice willow in Northern Ireland since 1973 : development of the use of mixtures in the control of foliar rust. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 28, 241–250.
- McCracken, A.R., Walsh, L., Moore, P.J., Lynch, M., Cowan, P., Dawson, M., Watson, S., 2011. Yield of willow (Salix spp.) grown in short rotation coppice mixtures in a long-term trial. Ann. Appl. Biol. 159, 229–243. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2011.00488.x

- McGrath, M.T., 2001. Fungicide Resistance in Cucurbit Powdery Mildew: Experiences and Challenges. Plant Dis. 85, 236–245. doi:10.1094/PDIS.2001.85.3.236
- Meehl, G. a, Tebaldi, C., 2004. More Intense, More Frequent, and Longer Lasting Heat Waves in the 21st Century. Science (80-.). 305, 994–997. doi:10.1126/science.1098704
- Meinen, C., Hertel, D., Leuschner, C., 2009a. Biomass and morphology of fine roots in temperate broad-leaved forests differing in tree species diversity: Is there evidence of below-ground overyielding? Oecologia 161, 99–111. doi:10.1007/s00442-009-1352-7
- Meinen, C., Hertel, D., Leuschner, C., 2009b. Root Growth and Recovery in Temperate Broad-Leaved Forest Stands Differing in Tree Species Diversity. Ecosystems 12, 1103–1116. doi:10.1007/s10021-009-9271-3
- Melidossian, H.S., Seem, R.C., English-Loeb, G., Wilcox, W.F., Gadoury, D.M., 2005. Suppression of grapevine powdery mildew by a mycophagous mite. Plant Dis. 89, 1331– 1338. doi:10.1094/PD-89-1331
- Michalet, R., Schöb, C., Lortie, C.J., Brooker, R.W., Callaway, R.M., 2014. Partitioning net interactions among plants along altitudinal gradients to study community responses to climate change. Funct. Ecol. 28, 75–86. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12136
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: Biodiversity Synthesis. Washington, DC.
- Morin, X., Fahse, L., de Mazancourt, C., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Bugmann, H., 2014. Temporal stability in forest productivity increases with tree diversity due to asynchrony in species dynamics. Ecol. Lett. 17, 1526–1535. doi:10.1111/ele.12357
- Morin, X., Fahse, L., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Bugmann, H., 2011. Tree species richness promotes productivity in temperate forests through strong complementarity between species. Ecol. Lett. 14, 1211–9. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01691.x
- Mougou, A., Dutech, C., Desprez-Loustau, M.L., 2008. New insights into the identity and origin of the causal agent of oak powdery mildew in Europe. For. Pathol. 38, 275–287. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0329.2008.00544.x
- Nadrowski, K., Wirth, C., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., 2010. Is forest diversity driving ecosystem function and service? Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 2, 75–79. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2010.02.003
- Nakagawa, S., Schielzeth, H., 2013. A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 133–142. doi:10.1111/j.2041-210x.2012.00261.x
- Netherer, S., Schopf, A., 2010. Potential effects of climate change on insect herbivores in European forests-General aspects and the pine processionary moth as specific example. For. Ecol. Manage. 259, 831–838. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2009.07.034
- Nguyen, D., Castagneyrol, B., Bruelheide, H., Bussotti, F., Guyot, V., Jactel, H., Jaroszewicz, B., Valladares, F., Stenlid, J., Boberg, J., 2016. Fungal disease incidence along tree diversity gradients depends on latitude in European forests. Ecol. Evol. 6, 2426–2438. doi:10.1002/ece3.2056

- Niinemets, Ü., 2010. Responses of forest trees to single and multiple environmental stresses from seedlings to mature plants: Past stress history, stress interactions, tolerance and acclimation. For. Ecol. Manage. 260, 1623–1639. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2010.07.054
- Niinemets, Ü., 1998. Growth of Young Trees of Acer platanoides and Quercus robur Along a Gap- Understory Continuum : Interrelationships between Allometry , Biomass Partitioning , Nitrogen , and Shade Tolerance. Int. J. Plant Sci. 159, 318–330.
- Niinemets, U., Kännaste, A., Copolovici, L., 2013. Quantitative patterns between plant volatile emissions induced by biotic stresses and the degree of damage. Front. Plant Sci. 4, 262. doi:10.3389/fpls.2013.00262
- Oksanen, L., Oksanen, T., 2000. The Logic and Realism of the Hypothesis of Exploitation Ecosystems. Am. Nat. 155, 703–723. doi:10.1086/303354
- Ostfeld, R.S., Keesing, F., 2012. Effects of Host Diversity on Infectious Disease. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 43, 157–182. doi:10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102710-145022
- Pap, P., Ranković, B., Maširević, S., 2013. Effect of temperature, relative humidity and light on conidial germination of oak powdery mildew (Microsphaera alphitoides Griff. et Maubl.) under controlled conditions. Arch. Biol. Sci. 65, 1069–1078. doi:10.2298/ABS1303069P
- Pap, P., Ranković, B., Maširević, S., 2012. Significance and need of powdery mildew control (Microsphaera alphitoides Griff. et Maubl.) in the process of regeneration of the pedunculate oak (Quercus robur L.) stands in the Ravni Srem area. Period. Biol. 114, 91– 102.
- Pap, P., Stojniã, S., Nikoliã, N., Orloviã, S., Markovic, M., Vasic, V., Stevanov, M., 2014. Impact of erysiphe alphitoides (Griffon & Maubl.) U. Braun & S. Takam. on leaf physiological parameters in pedunculate oak (Quercus robur L.) saplings. Balt. For. 20, 2–9.
- Paquette, A., Messier, C., 2011. The effect of biodiversity on tree productivity: From temperate to boreal forests. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 170–180. doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00592.x
- Paquette, A., Messier, C., 2010. The role of plantations in managing the world's forests in the Anthropocene. Front. Ecol. Environ. 8, 27–34. doi:10.1890/080116
- Peacock, L., Herrick, S., Brain, P., 1999. Spatio-temporal dynamics of willow beetle (Phratora vulgatissima) in short-rotation coppice willows grown as monocultures or a genetically diverse mixture. Agric. For. Entomol. 1, 287–296. doi:10.1046/j.1461-9563.1999.00039.x
- Peacock, L., Hunter, T., Turner, H., Brain, P., 2001. Does host genotype diversity affect the distribution of insect and disease damage in willow cropping systems ? J. Appl. Ecol. 5, 1070–1081.
- Piotto, D., 2008. A meta-analysis comparing tree growth in monocultures and mixed plantations. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 781–786. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2007.09.065
- Potvin, C., Gotelli, N.J., 2008. Biodiversity enhances individual performance but does not affect survivorship in tropical trees. Ecol. Lett. 11, 217–23. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01148.x
- Pretzsch, H., 2005. Diversity and Productivity in Forests: Evidence from Long-Term Experimental Plots, in: Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.-D. (Eds.), Forest

Diversity and Function: Temperate and Boreal Systems. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 41–64.

- Pretzsch, H., del Río, M., Ammer, C., Avdagic, A., Barbeito, I., Bielak, K., Brazaitis, G., Coll, L., Dirnberger, G., Drössler, L., Fabrika, M., Forrester, D.I., Godvod, K., Heym, M., Hurt, V., Kurylyak, V., Löf, M., Lombardi, F., Matović, B., Mohren, F., Motta, R., den Ouden, J., Pach, M., Ponette, Q., Schütze, G., Schweig, J., Skrzyszewski, J., Sramek, V., Sterba, H., Stojanović, D., Svoboda, M., Vanhellemont, M., Verheyen, K., Wellhausen, K., Zlatanov, T., Bravo-Oviedo, A., 2015. Growth and yield of mixed versus pure stands of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) analysed along a productivity gradient through Europe. Eur. J. For. Res. 134, 927–947. doi:10.1007/s10342-015-0900-4
- Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., 2009. Transgressive overyielding in mixed compared with pure stands of Norway spruce and European beech in Central Europe: Evidence on stand level and explanation on individual tree level. Eur. J. For. Res. 128, 183–204. doi:10.1007/s10342-008-0215-9
- Pretzsch, H., Schütze, G., Uhl, E., 2012. Resistance of European tree species to drought stress in mixed versus pure forests: Evidence of stress release by inter-specific facilitation. Plant Biol. 15, 483–495. doi:10.1111/j.1438-8677.2012.00670.x
- Rackham, O., 2003. Ancient Woodland: its history, vegetation and uses in England. Castlepoint Press, Dalbeattie.
- R Core Team, 2015. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- R Core Team, 2014. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R A Lang. Environ. Stat. Comput.
- Rasband, W.S., 2016. ImageJ, U.S.
- Ratcliffe, S., Holzwarth, F., Nadrowski, K., Levick, S., Wirth, C., 2015. Tree neighbourhood matters tree species composition drives diversity-productivity patterns in a near-natural beech forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 335, 225–234. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2014.09.032
- Rocha, S., Delgadillo, I., Ferrer Correia, a. J., 1996. GC–MS Study of Volatiles of Normal and Microbiologically Attacked Cork from Quercus suber L. J. Agric. Food Chem. 44, 865–871. doi:10.1021/jf9500400
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, A., Chapin, F.S., Lambin, E., Lenton, T.M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H.J., Nykvist, B., de Wit, C.A., Hughes, T., van der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P.K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., Falkenmark, M., Karlberg, L., Corell, R.W., Fabry, V.J., Hansen, J., Walker, B., Liverman, D., Richardson, K., Crutzen, P., Foley, J., 2009. Planetary boundaries: Exploring the safe operating space for humanity. Ecol. Soc. 14. doi:10.1038/461472a
- Roger, F., Godhe, A., Gamfeldt, L., 2012. Genetic diversity and ecosystem functioning in the face of multiple stressors. PLoS One 7, e45007. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0045007
- Running, S.W., 2012. A Measurable Planetary Boundary for the Biosphere. Science (80-.). 337, 1458–1459. doi:10.1126/science.1227620
- Salkeld, D.J., Padgett, K.A., Jones, J.H., 2013. A meta-analysis suggesting that the relationship
between biodiversity and risk of zoonotic pathogen transmission is idiosyncratic. Ecol. Lett. 16, 679–686. doi:10.1111/ele.12101

- Samways, M.J., Osborn, R., Saunders, T.L., 1997. Mandible Form Relative to the Main Food Type in Ladybirds (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae). Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 7, 275–286. doi:10.1080/09583159730974
- Sanchez, P.A., Denning, G.L., Nziguheba, G., 2009. The African Green Revolution moves forward. Food Secur. 1, 37–44. doi:10.1007/s12571-009-0011-5
- Satti, A.A., 2015. First record and bionomics of the mycophagous ladybird Psyllobora bisoctonotata (Mulsant) (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) in Sudan. J. Saudi Soc. Agric. Sci. 14, 48–53. doi:10.1016/j.jssas.2013.06.003
- Sax, D.F., Gaines, S.D., 2003. Species diversity: From global decreases to local increases. Trends Ecol. Evol. 18, 561–566. doi:10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00224-6
- Scharnweber, T., Manthey, M., Criegee, C., Bauwe, A., Schröder, C., Wilmking, M., 2011. Drought matters - Declining precipitation influences growth of Fagus sylvatica L. and Quercus robur L. in north-eastern Germany. For. Ecol. Manage. 262, 947–961. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2011.05.026
- Scherber, C., Eisenhauer, N., Weisser, W.W., Schmid, B., Voigt, W., Fischer, M., Schulze, E.-D., Roscher, C., Weigelt, A., Allan, E., Beßler, H., Bonkowski, M., Buchmann, N., Buscot, F., Clement, L.W., Ebeling, A., Engels, C., Halle, S., Kertscher, I., Klein, A.-M., Koller, R., König, S., Kowalski, E., Kummer, V., Kuu, A., Lange, M., Lauterbach, D., Middelhoff, C., Migunova, V.D., Milcu, A., Müller, R., Partsch, S., Petermann, J.S., Renker, C., Rottstock, T., Sabais, A., Scheu, S., Schumacher, J., Temperton, V.M., Tscharntke, T., 2010. Bottom-up effects of plant diversity on multitrophic interactions in a biodiversity experiment. Nature 468, 553–556. doi:10.1038/nature09492
- Scherer-Lorenzen, M., 2014. The functional role of biodiversity in the context of global change, Forests and Global Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.-D., 2005a. The Functional Significance of Forest Diversity: a Synthesis, in: Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.-D. (Eds.), Forest Diversity and Function: Temperate and Boreal Systems. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 377–389.
- Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Potvin, C., Koricheva, J., Schmid, B., Hector, A., Bornik, Z., Reynolds, G., Schulze, E.-D., 2005b. The Design of Experimental Tree Plantations for Functional Biodiversity Research, in: Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Körner, C., Schulze, E.-D. (Eds.), Forest Diversity and Function: Temperate and Boreal Systems. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 347–376.
- Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Schulze, E., Don, A., Schumacher, J., Weller, E., 2007. Exploring the functional significance of forest diversity: A new long-term experiment with temperate tree species (BIOTREE). Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 9, 53–70. doi:10.1016/j.ppees.2007.08.002
- Schmidtke, A., Rottstock, T., Gaedke, U., Fischer, M., 2010. Plant community diversity and composition affect individual plant performance. Oecologia 164, 665–77. doi:10.1007/s00442-010-1688-z

- Schuldt, A., Bruelheide, H., Härdtle, W., Assmann, T., Li, Y., Ma, K., von Oheimb, G., Zhang, J., 2015. Early positive effects of tree species richness on herbivory in a large-scale forest biodiversity experiment influence tree growth. J. Ecol. 103, 563–571. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12396
- Setiawan, N.N., Vanhellemont, M., Baeten, L., Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., 2014. The effects of local neighbourhood diversity on pest and disease damage of trees in a young experimental forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 334, 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2014.08.032
- Setiawan, N.N., Vanhellemont, M., Baeten, L., Van de Peer, T., Ampoorter, E., Ponette, Q., Verheyen, K., 2016. Local neighbourhood effects on sapling growth in a young experimental forest. For. Ecol. Manage. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2016.10.012
- Sheil, D., Casson, a, Meijaard, E., Van Noordwijk, M., Gaskell, J., Sunderland-Groves, J., Wertz, K., Kanninen, M., 2009. The impacts and opportunities of oil palm in Southeast Asia, Africa. doi:10.17528/cifor/002792
- Smit, C., Den Ouden, J., Müller-Schärer, H., 2006. Unpalatable plants facilitate tree sapling survival in wooded pastures. J. Appl. Ecol. 43, 305–312. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01147.x
- Smit, C., Rietkerk, M., Wassen, M.J., 2009. Inclusion of biotic stress (consumer pressure) alters predictions from the stress gradient hypothesis. J. Ecol. 97, 1215–1219. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2009.01555.x
- Sobek, S., Scherber, C., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., 2009. Sapling herbivory, invertebrate herbivores and predators across a natural tree diversity gradient in Germany's largest connected deciduous forest. Oecologia 160, 279–288. doi:10.1007/s00442-009-1304-2
- Soliveres, S., Maestre, F.T., 2014. Plant-plant interactions, environmental gradients and plant diversity: A global synthesis of community-level studies. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 16, 154–163. doi:10.1016/j.ppees.2014.04.001
- Soliveres, S., Smit, C., Maestre, F.T., 2014. Moving forward on facilitation research: Response to changing environments and effects on the diversity, functioning and evolution of plant communities. Biol. Rev. 90, 297–313. doi:10.1111/brv.12110
- Spathelf, P., Van Der Maaten, E., Van Der Maaten-Theunissen, M., Campioli, M., Dobrowolska, D., 2014. Climate change impacts in European forests: The expert views of local observers. Ann. For. Sci. 71, 131–137. doi:10.1007/s13595-013-0280-1
- Spieß, N., Oufir, M., Matušíková, I., Stierschneider, M., Kopecky, D., Homolka, A., Burg, K., Fluch, S., Hausman, J.F., Wilhelm, E., 2012. Ecophysiological and transcriptomic responses of oak (Quercus robur) to long-term drought exposure and rewatering. Environ. Exp. Bot. 77, 117–126. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2011.11.010
- Spinelli, R., 2007. Short rotation coppice (SRC) production in Italy. Bornimer Agrartech. Berichte 61, 158–167.
- Srivastava, D.S., Vellend, M., 2005. BIODIVERSITY-ECOSYSTEM FUNCTION RESEARCH: Is It Relevant to Conservation? Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 36, 267–294. doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.36.102003.152636

- Stachowicz, J.J., Byrnes, J.E., 2006. Species diversity, invasion success, and ecosystem functioning: Disentangling the influence of resource competition, facilitation, and extrinsic factors. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 311, 251–262. doi:10.3354/meps311251
- Steudel, B., Hector, A., Friedl, T., Löfke, C., Lorenz, M., Wesche, M., Kessler, M., 2012. Biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning change along environmental stress gradients. Ecol. Lett. 15, 1397–1405. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01863.x
- Sutherland, A.M., Gubler, W.D., Parrella, M.P., 2010. Effects of fungicides on a mycophagous coccinellid may represent integration failure in disease management. Biol. Control 54, 292– 299. doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2010.05.020
- Sutherland, A.M., Parrella, M.P., 2009. Mycophagy in Coccinellidae: Review and synthesis. Biol. Control 51, 284–293. doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2009.05.012
- Tabata, J., de Moraes, C.M., Mescher, M.C., 2011. Olfactory cues from plants infected by powdery mildew guide foraging by a mycophagous ladybird beetle. PLoS One 6, 2–7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023799
- Tack, A.J.M., Gripenberg, S., Roslin, T., 2012. Cross-kingdom interactions matter: Fungalmediated interactions structure an insect community on oak. Ecol. Lett. 15, 177–185. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01724.x
- Tahvanainen, L., Rytkönen, V., 1999. Biomass production of Salix viminalis in southern Finland and the effect of soil properties and climate conditions on its production and survival. Biomass and Bioenergy 16, 103–117.
- Tharakan, P.J., Volk, T.A., Abrahamson, L.P., White, E.H., 2003. Energy feedstock characteristics of willow and hybrid poplar clones at harvest age. Biomass and Bioenergy 25, 571–580. doi:10.1016/S0961-9534(03)00054-0
- Thompson, I., Mackey, B., McNulty, S., Mosseler, A., 2009. Forest Resilience, Biodiversity, and Climate Change. A Synthesis of the Biodiversity/Resilience/Stability Relationship in Forest Ecosystems., Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal. Technical Series no. 43.
- Thompson, K., Askew, A.P., Grime, J.P., Dunnett, N.P., Willis, A.J., 2005. Biodiversity, ecosystem function and plant traits in mature and immature plant communities. Funct. Ecol. 19, 355–358. doi:10.1111/j.0269-8463.2005.00936.x
- Tillman, D.A., 1978. Wood as an energy source. New York Academic Press, New York, USA.
- Tilman, D., Hill, J., Lehman, C., 2006. Carbon-negative biofuels from low-input high-diversity grassland biomass. Science 314, 1598–600. doi:10.1126/science.1133306
- Tilman, D., Isbell, F., Cowles, J.M., 2014. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 45, 471–493. doi:10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-120213-091917
- Tilman, D., Reich, P.B., Isbell, F., 2012. Biodiversity impacts ecosystem productivity as much as resources, disturbance, or herbivory. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 10394–10397. doi:10.1073/pnas.1208240109
- Tilman, Reich, P.B., Knops, J., Wedin, D., Mielke, T., Lehman, C., 2001. Diversity and productivity in a long-term grassland experiment. Science 294, 843–5.

doi:10.1126/science.1060391

- Tobner, C.M., Paquette, A., Gravel, D., Reich, P.B., Williams, L.J., Messier, C., 2016. Functional identity is the main driver of diversity effects in young tree communities. Ecol. Lett. 19, 638–647. doi:10.1111/ele.12600
- Toïgo, M., Vallet, P., Perot, T., Bontemps, J.D., Piedallu, C., Courbaud, B., 2015. Overyielding in mixed forests decreases with site productivity. J. Ecol. 103, 502–512. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12353
- Truong, D.H., Delaplace, P., Brostaux, Y., Heuskin, S., Francis, F., Lognay, G., 2014. Myzus persicae Feeding on Water Stressed-Arabidopsis Affects the Emission Profile of Plant Volatile Organic Compounds. J. Environ. Ecol. 5, 276. doi:10.5296/jee.v5i2.6848
- Turcsan, A., Steppe, K., Sarkozi, E., Erdelyi, E., Missoorten, M., Mees, G., Vander Mijnsbrugge, K., 2016. Early summer drought stress during the first growing year stimulates extra shoot growth in oak seedlings (Quercus petraea). Front. Plant Sci. 7, 1–9. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.00193
- Valladares, F., Laanisto, L., Niinemets, Ü., Zavala, M.A., 2016. Shedding light on shade: ecological perspectives of understorey plant life. Plant Ecol. Divers. 9, 1–15. doi:10.1080/17550874.2016.1210262
- Van de Peer, T., Verheyen, K., Baeten, L., Ponette, Q., Muys, B., 2016. Biodiversity as insurance for sapling survival in experimental plantations. Under Rev. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12721
- van der Plas, F., Manning, P., Allan, E., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Verheyen, K., Wirth, C., Zavala, M.A., Hector, A., Ampoorter, E., Baeten, L., Barbaro, L., Bauhus, J., Benavides, R., Benneter, A., Berthold, F., Bonal, D., Bouriaud, O., Bruelheide, H., Bussotti, F., Carnol, M., Castagneyrol, B., Charbonnier, Y., Coomes, D., Coppi, A., Bastias, C.C., Muhie Dawud, S., De Wandeler, H., Domisch, T., Finér, L., Gessler, A., Granier, A., Grossiord, C., Guyot, V., Hättenschwiler, S., Jactel, H., Jaroszewicz, B., Joly, F.-X., Jucker, T., Koricheva, J., Milligan, H., Müller, S., Muys, B., Nguyen, D., Pollastrini, M., Raulund-Rasmussen, K., Selvi, F., Stenlid, J., Valladares, F., Vesterdal, L., Zielínski, D., Fischer, M., 2016a. Jack-of-all-trades effects drive biodiversity–ecosystem multifunctionality relationships in European forests. Nat. Commun. 7, 11109. doi:10.1038/ncomms11109
- van der Plas, F., Manning, P., Soliveres, S., Allan, E., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Verheyen, K., Wirth, C., Zavala, M.A., Ampoorter, E., Baeten, L., Barbaro, L., Bauhus, J., Benavides, R., Benneter, A., Bonal, D., Bouriaud, O., Bruelheide, H., Bussotti, F., Carnol, M., Castagneyrol, B., Charbonnier, Y., Coomes, D.A., Coppi, A., Bastias, C.C., Dawud, S.M., De Wandeler, H., Domisch, T., Finér, L., Gessler, A., Granier, A., Grossiord, C., Guyot, V., Hättenschwiler, S., Jactel, H., Jaroszewicz, B., Joly, F., Jucker, T., Koricheva, J., Milligan, H., Mueller, S., Muys, B., Nguyen, D., Pollastrini, M., Ratcliffe, S., Raulund-Rasmussen, K., Selvi, F., Stenlid, J., Valladares, F., Vesterdal, L., Zielínski, D., Fischer, M., 2016b. Biotic homogenization can decrease landscape-scale forest multifunctionality. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, 3557–3562. doi:10.1073/pnas.1517903113
- van Hees, A.F.M., 1997. Growth and morphology of pedunculate oak (Quercus robur L) and beech (Fagus sylvatica L) seedlings in relation to shading and drought. Ann. des Sci. For. 54, 9–18. doi:10.1051/forest:19970102

- van Ruijven, J., Berendse, F., 2009. Long-term persistence of a positive plant diversityproductivity relationship in the absence of legumes. Oikos 118, 101–106. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.17119.x
- Vande Walle, I., Van Camp, N., Van de Casteele, L., Verheyen, K., Lemeur, R., 2007. Shortrotation forestry of birch, maple, poplar and willow in Flanders (Belgium) I—Biomass production after 4 years of tree growth. Biomass and Bioenergy 31, 267–275. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.01.019
- Vehviläinen, H., Koricheva, J., Ruohomäki, K., 2007. Tree species diversity influences herbivore abundance and damage: Meta-analysis of long-term forest experiments. Oecologia 152, 287–298. doi:10.1007/s00442-007-0673-7
- Vellend, M., Baeten, L., Myers-Smith, I.H., Elmendorf, S.C., Beauséjour, R., Brown, C.D., De Frenne, P., Verheyen, K., Wipf, S., 2013. Global meta-analysis reveals no net change in local-scale plant biodiversity over time. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 19456–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1312779110
- Vellend, M., Dornelas, M., Baeten, L., Beausejour, R., Brown, C., De Frenne, P., Elmendorf, S., Gotelli, N., Moyes, F., Myers-Smith, I., Magurran, A., McGill, B., Shimadzu, H., Sievers, C., 2016. Estimates of local biodiversity change over time stand up to scrutiny. bioRxiv 0, 62133. doi:10.1101/062133
- Verheyen, K., Buggenhout, M., Vangansbeke, P., De Dobbelaere, A., Verdonckt, P., Bonte, D., 2014. Potential of Short Rotation Coppice plantations to reinforce functional biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. Biomass and Bioenergy 67, 435–442. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.05.021
- Verheyen, K., Ceunen, K., Ampoorter, E., Baeten, L., Bosman, B., Branquart, E., Carnol, M., De Wandeler, H., Grégoire, J.-C., Lhoir, P., Muys, B., Setiawan, N.N., Vanhellemont, M., Ponette, Q., 2013. Assessment of the functional role of tree diversity: the multi-site FORBIO experiment. Plant Ecol. Evol. 146, 1–10. doi:10.5091/plecevo.2013.803
- Verheyen, K., Vanhellemont, M., Auge, H., Baeten, L., Baraloto, C., Barsoum, N., Bilodeau-Gauthier, S., Bruelheide, H., Castagneyrol, B., Godbold, D., Haase, J., Hector, A., Jactel, H., Koricheva, J., Loreau, M., Mereu, S., Messier, C., Muys, B., Nolet, P., Paquette, A., Parker, J., Perring, M., Ponette, Q., Potvin, C., Reich, P., Smith, A., Weih, M., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., 2015. Contributions of a global network of tree diversity experiments to sustainable forest plantations. Ambio 29–41. doi:10.1007/s13280-015-0685-1
- Vilà, M., Carrillo-Gavilán, A., Vayreda, J., Bugmann, H., Fridman, J., Grodzki, W., Haase, J., Kunstler, G., Schelhaas, M.J., Trasobares, A., 2013. Disentangling Biodiversity and Climatic Determinants of Wood Production. PLoS One 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0053530
- Vilà, M., Vayreda, J., Comas, L., Ibáñez, J.J., Mata, T., Obón, B., 2007. Species richness and wood production: A positive association in Mediterranean forests. Ecol. Lett. 10, 241–250. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01016.x
- Vitousek, P.M., Mooney, H. a, Lubchenco, J., Melillo, J.M., 1997. Human Domination of Earth's Ecosystems. Science (80-.). 277, 494–499. doi:10.1126/science.277.5325.494
- Volk, T.A., Verwijst, T., Tharakan, P.J., Abrahamson, L.P., White, E.H., 2004. Growing fuel : a

sustainability assessment of willow biomass crops. Front Ecol Env. 2, 411-418.

- Wardle, D.A., 2016. Do experiments exploring plant diversity-ecosystem functioning relationships inform how biodiversity loss impacts natural ecosystems? J. Veg. Sci. 27, 646–653. doi:10.1111/jvs.12399
- Wardle, D.A., Huston, M.A., Grime, J.P., Berendse, F., Lauenroth, W.K., Setälä, H., Wilson, S.D., 2000. Biodiversity and Ecosystem Function : an Issue in Ecology. Bull. Ecol. Soc. Am. 81, 235–239.
- Weber, D.C., Lundgren, J.G., 2009. Assessing the trophic ecology of the Coccinellidae: Their roles as predators and as prey. Biol. Control 51, 199–214. doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2009.05.013
- Weigelt, A., Marquard, E., Temperton, V.M., Roscher, C., Scherber, C., Mwangi, P.N., Felten, S., Buchmann, N., Schmid, B., Schulze, E.-D., Weisser, W.W., 2010. The Jena Experiment: six years of data from a grassland biodiversity experiment. Ecology 91, 930– 931. doi:10.1890/09-0863.1
- Welden, C., Slauson, W., 1986. The intensity of competition versus its importance: an overlooked distinction and some implications. Q. Rev. Biol. 61, 23–44.
- White, T.C.R., 1984. The abundance of invertebrate herbivores in relation to the availability of nitrogen in stressed food plants. Oecologia 63, 90–105. doi:10.1007/BF00379790
- Wickham, H., 2009. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis.
- Wickham, H., Francois, R., 2015. dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation. R package version 0.4.3.
- Wickham, J., Rice, B., Finnan, J., Mcconnon, R., 2010. A review of past and current research on short rotation coppice in Ireland and abroad. COFORD, Dublin.
- Willems, P., Deckers, P., De Maeyer, P., De Sutter, R., Vanneuville, W., Brouwers, J., Peeters, B., 2009. MIRA 2009 en NARA 2009: Wetenschappelijk rapport Klimaatverandering en waterhuishouding.
- Wood, C.L., Lafferty, K.D., 2013. Biodiversity and disease: A synthesis of ecological perspectives on Lyme disease transmission. Trends Ecol. Evol. 28, 239–247. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2012.10.011
- Wrigley, E.A., 2010. Energy and the English Industrial Revolution. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Yachi, S., Loreau, M., 2007. Does complementary resource use enhance ecosystem functioning? A model of light competition in plant communities. Ecol. Lett. 10, 54–62. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00994.x
- Younes, G.H., Ahmad, M., Ali, N., 2015. Morphological , Biological and Ecological Studies of the Mycophagous Ladybird Psyllobora vigintiduopunctata L . (Coleoptera : Coccinellidae) on Powdery Mildew Fungi in the Coastal Region of Syria. Jordan J. Agric. Sci. 11, 483–493.
- Zapater, M., Hossann, C., Bréda, N., Bréchet, C., Bonal, D., Granier, A., 2011. Evidence of hydraulic lift in a young beech and oak mixed forest using 18O soil water labelling. Trees -

Struct. Funct. 25, 885-894. doi:10.1007/s00468-011-0563-9

- Zhang, Y., Chen, H.Y.H., Reich, P.B., 2012. Forest productivity increases with evenness, species richness and trait variation: A global meta-analysis. J. Ecol. 100, 742–749. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01944.x
- Zhu, Y., Chen, H., Fan, J., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Chen, J., Fan, J., Yang, S., Hu, L., Leung, H., Mew, T.W., Teng, P.S., Wang, Z., Mundt, C.C., 2000. Genetic diversity and disease control in rice. Nature 406, 718–722. doi:10.1038/35021046

Curriculum Vitae

<u>Personalia</u>

Name	Mathias Dillen
Address	Veldstraat 92
	2520 Ranst
	Belgium
Phone number	0032479028005
E-mail address	mdillen@gmail.com
Birth date	16/06/1989
Nationality	Belgian



Studies

2013-2017: Joint PhD in Bioscience Engineering, Forest and Nature Management, Ghent University & University of Groningen

2010-2012: MSc in Bioscience Engineering, Forest and Nature Management, Ghent University

2007-2010: BSc in Bioscience Engineering, Land and Forest Management, Ghent University

2001-2007: Secondary education: Latin-Greek studies with 6h of maths/week, St. Gummarus College (Lier)

Work experience

2013-2017: Joint PhD at Forest & Nature Lab, Ghent University and GELIFES, University of Groningen

July 2012: Intern at Forest & Nature Lab, Ghent University

July 2008: Intern at sewage treatment plants of Boechout, Schilde, Wommelgem and Schoten, Aquafin

July 2007: Intern at main offices of Aquafin, Aartselaar

Publications

Setiawan, N.N., Vanhellemont, M., Baeten, L., Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., 2014. The effects of local neighbourhood diversity on pest and disease damage of trees in a young experimental forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 334, 1–9.

Dillen, M., Vanhellemont, M., Verdonckt, P., Maes, W.H., Steppe, K., Verheyen, K., 2016. Productivity, stand dynamics and the selection effect in a mixed willow clone short rotation coppice plantation. Biomass and Bioenergy 87, 46–54.

Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C., 2016. Identity rather than richness drives neighbourhood species composition effects on sapling growth in a young forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 380, 274–284.

Dillen, M., Smit, C., Buyse, M., Höfte, M., De Clercq, P., Verheyen, K., 2017. Stronger diversity effects with increased environmental stress: A study of multitrophic interactions between oak, powdery mildew and ladybirds. PLOS ONE 12(4).

Dillen, M., Smit, C., Verheyen, K., 2017. How does neighbourhood tree species composition affect growth characteristics of oak saplings? For. Ecol. Manage. 401, 177-186.

<u>Theses</u>

Dillen, M. 2017. Local neighbourhood tree species composition effects in young forest stands: Impact of stress, species identity and multitrophic interactions. PhD Thesis in preparation. Ghent University, Belgium and University of Groningen, the Netherlands

Dillen, M. 2012. Can mixtures of tree species increase the productivity of Short Rotation Coppice plantations? (In Dutch). MSc Thesis. Ghent University, Belgium

Dillen, M., Galle, K., Thys, J., Vanden Abeele, J. 2010. Agroforestry in Flanders (In Dutch). BSc Thesis. Ghent University, Belgium

Presentations

Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C. 2016. Identity rather than richness drives local neighbourhood species composition effects on oak sapling growth in a young forest. GFÖ 2016, Marburg

Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C. 2016. The interplay of drought stress and neighbourhood tree composition effects. FORBIO meeting, Louvain-La-Neuve

Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C. 2015. The interplay of drought stress and neighbourhood tree composition effects. Starters in het bosonderzoek 2015, Brussels

Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C. 2013. The interplay of biodiversity and environmental stress for ecosystem functioning. FORBIO meeting, Zedelgem

Poster presentations

Dillen M., Smit C., Buyse M., Höfte, M., De Clercq P., Verheyen K. 2017. Do biodiversity effects become more important with stress? A study of multitrophic interactions between oak, powdery mildew and mycophagous ladybirds. NAEM 2017, Lunteren

Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C. 2015. Testing for interactive effects between drought stress and neighbourhood diversity on tree performance. NAEM 2015, Lunteren and Starters in het bosonderzoek 2015, Brussels

Dillen, M., Verheyen, K., Smit, C. 2014. Drought stress, tree diversity and ecosystem functioning? Leaf damage symptoms of oak saplings in a phytometer experiment. NAEM 2014, Lunteren

Supervision of MSc students

Buyse, M., 2014-15. Biological control of oak powdery mildew by ladybirds in interaction with drought stress (In Dutch). Ghent University.